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Refers collectively to our IPO and the concurrent private offering of approximately 38.1 million
Class A Shares to DIC Sahir Limited, a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of Dubai Holding
LLC

Our public offering of 33.3 million Class A Shares in November 2011

Executive managing directors who remain active in our business

Our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015, dated
February 11, 2016 and filed with the SEC

Our Class A Shares, representing Class A limited liability company interests of Och-Ziff
Capital Management Group LLC, which are publicly traded and listed on the NYSE

Class B Shares of Och-Ziff Capital Management Group LLC, which are not publicly traded, are
currently held solely by our executive managing directors and have no economic rights but
entitle the holders thereof to one vote per share together with the holders of our Class A Shares
Collateralized loan obligations

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

The current limited partners of the Och-Ziff Operating Group entities other than our
intermediate holding companies, including our founder, Daniel S. Och, and, except where the
context requires otherwise, include certain limited partners who are no longer active in the
business of the Company

U.S. generally accepted accounting principles

Refers collectively to Och-Ziff Corp and Och-Ziff Holding, both of which are wholly owned
subsidiaries of Och-Ziff Capital Management Group LLC

Our asset management platform that invests in performing credits, including leveraged loans,
high-yield bonds, private credit/bespoke financing and investment grade credit via CLOs and
other customized solutions

Our initial public offering of 36.0 million Class A Shares that occurred in November 2007
New York Stock Exchange

Refers, unless the context requires otherwise, to Och-Ziff Capital Management Group LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company, and its consolidated subsidiaries, including the Och-Ziff

Operating Group

Och-Ziff Holding Corporation, a Delaware corporation
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Och-Ziff funds,

The multi-strategy, opportunistic credit, real estate and equity funds, Institutional Credit
funds

Strategies products and other alternative investment vehicles for which we provide asset
management services




Och-Ziff Holding

Och-Ziff Operating
Group

OZ Advisors 1
OZ Advisors 11
0OZ Management
Registrant
Reorganization
SEC

Securities Act

Special Investments

Ziffs

Edgar Filing: Och-Ziff Capital Management Group LLC - Form 10-Q

Och-Ziff Holding LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

Refers collectively to OZ Management, OZ Advisors I and OZ Advisors II, and their
consolidated subsidiaries

OZ Advisors LP, a Delaware limited partnership

OZ Advisors II LP, a Delaware limited partnership

OZ Management LP, a Delaware limited partnership

Och-Ziff Capital Management Group LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
The reorganization of our business that took place prior to the 2007 Offerings
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission

Securities Act of 1933, as amended

Investments that we, as investment manager, believe lack a readily ascertainable market value,
are illiquid or should be held until the resolution of a special event or circumstance

Refers collectively to Ziff Investors Partnership, L.P. II and certain of its affiliates and control
persons
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Available Information

Och-Ziff Capital Management Group LLC files annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other
information required by the Exchange Act with the SEC. We make available free of charge on our website
(www.ozcap.com) our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K,
proxy statements and any amendments to those filings as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is
electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC. Also posted on our website in the “Public Investors — Corporate
Governance” section are charters for our Audit Committee; Compensation Committee; and Nominating, Corporate
Governance and Conflicts Committee, as well as our Corporate Governance Guidelines and Code of Business

Conduct and Ethics governing our directors, officers and employees. Information on, or accessible through, our
website is not a part of, and is not incorporated into, this report or any other SEC filing. Copies of our SEC filings or
corporate governance materials are available without charge upon written request to Och-Ziff Capital Management
Group LLC, 9 West 57th Street, New York, New York 10019, Attention: Office of the Secretary.

Any materials we file with the SEC are also publicly available through the SEC’s website (www.sec.gov) or may be
read and copied at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, DC 20549. Information on the
operation of the Public Reference Room may be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.

No statements herein, available on our website or in any of the materials we file with the SEC under the Exchange Act
constitute, or should be viewed as constituting, an offer of any Och-Ziff fund.

Forward-Looking Statements

Some of the statements under “Part [ — Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations,” which we refer to as the “MD&A,” “Part I — Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About
Market Risk,” “Part II — Item 1A. Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this quarterly report may contain forward-looking
statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act that reflect
our current views with respect to, among other things, future events and financial performance. We generally identify
forward-looking statements by terminology such as “outlook,” “believe,” “expect,” “potential,” “continue,” “may,” “will,” “sh
“could,” “seek,” “approximately,” “predict,” “intend,” “plan,” “estimate,” “anticipate,” “opportunity,” “comfortable,” “assume
“maintain,” “sustain,” “achieve,” “see,” “think,” “position” or the negative version of those words or other comparable words.
Any forward-looking statements contained herein are based upon historical information and on our current plans,
estimates and expectations. The inclusion of this or other forward-looking information should not be regarded as a
representation by us or any other person that the future plans, estimates or expectations contemplated by us will be
achieved.

We caution that forward-looking statements are subject to numerous assumptions, estimates, risks and uncertainties,
including but not limited to the following: global economic, business, market and geopolitical conditions; U.S. and
foreign regulatory developments relating to, among other things, financial institutions and markets, government
oversight, fiscal and tax policy; the outcome of third-party litigation involving us; the consequences of the Foreign
Corrupt Practices Act (the "FCPA") settlements with the SEC and the U.S. Department of Justice (the "DOJ");
conditions impacting the alternative asset management industry; our ability to retain existing fund investor capital; our
ability to successfully compete for fund investors, assets, professional talent and investment opportunities; our ability
to retain our active executive managing directors, managing directors and other investment professionals; our
successful formulation and execution of our business and growth strategies; our ability to appropriately manage
conflicts of interest and tax and other regulatory factors relevant to our business; and assumptions relating to our
operations, investment performance, financial results, financial condition, business prospects, growth strategy and
liquidity.

If one or more of these or other risks or uncertainties materialize, or if our assumptions or estimates prove to be
incorrect, our actual results may vary materially from those indicated in these statements. These factors are not and
should not be construed as exhaustive and should be read in conjunction with the other cautionary statements and risks
that are included in our filings with the SEC, including but not limited to our Annual Report.

There may be additional risks, uncertainties and factors that we do not currently view as material or that are not
known. The forward-looking statements contained in this report are made only as of the date of this report. We do not
undertake to update any forward-looking statement because of new information, future developments or otherwise.
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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

OCH-ZIFF CAPITAL MANAGEMENT GROUP LLC
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS — UNAUDITED

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Income and fees receivable

Due from related parties

Deferred income tax assets

Other assets, net (includes assets measured at fair value of $29,994 and $18,501 as of
September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively)
Assets of consolidated Och-Ziff funds:

Investments, at fair value

Other assets of Och-Ziff funds

Total Assets

Liabilities and Shareholders' (Deficit) Equity
Liabilities

Due to related parties

Debt obligations

Compensation payable

Other liabilities

Liabilities of consolidated Och-Ziff funds:
Notes and loans payable of consolidated CLOs, at fair value
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase
Other liabilities of Och-Ziff funds

Total Liabilities

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 15)
Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests (Note 4)

Shareholders' (Deficit) Equity

Class A Shares, no par value, 1,000,000,000 shares authorized, 181,544,024 and
181,026,455 shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2016 and December 31,
2015, respectively

Class B Shares, no par value, 750,000,000 shares authorized, 297,317,019 and
297,317,400 shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2016 and December 31,
2015, respectively

Paid-in capital

Appropriated retained deficit

Accumulated deficit

Shareholders' deficit attributable to Class A Shareholders

Shareholders' equity attributable to noncontrolling interests

September 30December 31,
2016 2015

(dollars in thousands)

$430,470  $254,070
24,801 93,846
19,880 8,096
669,691 719,954

203,952 192,975

36,830 9,071,933
2,633 344,769
$1,388,257 $10,685,643

$490,249  $593,390
561,757 443,069
22,716 176,602
564,214 83,813

— 7,077,679
— 190,751
653 47,487
1,639,589 8,612,791

20,973 832,284

3,118,479 3,040,655
— (59,663 )
(3,569,970 ) (3,396,822 )
(451,491 ) (415,830 )
179,186 1,656,398
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Total Shareholders' (Deficit) Equity (272,305 ) 1,240,568
Total Liabilities, Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests and Shareholders' (Deficit) Equity $1,388,257 $10,685,643
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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OCH-ZIFF CAPITAL MANAGEMENT GROUP LLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) — UNAUDITED

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015

(dollars in thousands)

Revenues

Management fees $128,513 $162,778  $428,822  $496,207
Incentive income 18,754 35,615 57,477 121,262
Other revenues 380 579 1,544 1,548
Income of consolidated Och-Ziff funds 458 126,931 1,262 361,136
Total Revenues 148,105 325,903 489,105 980,153
Expenses

Compensation and benefits 57,758 70,602 169,762 211,895
Reorganization expenses — 4,018 — 12,052
Interest expense 6,129 5,383 17,452 16,033
General, administrative and other 44306 65,484 584,331 127,332
Expenses of consolidated Och-Ziff funds 17 82,576 316 220,847
Total Expenses 108,210 228,063 771,861 588,159

Other Income (Loss)
Net gains (losses) on investments in Och-Ziff funds and joint

803 (146 ) 1,302 43
ventures
Net gains (losses) of consolidated Och-Ziff funds 821 (20,627 ) 2,182 21,859
Total Other Income (Loss) 1,624 (20,773 ) 3,484 21,902
Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes 41,519 77,067 (279,272 ) 413,896
Income taxes 9,986 12,422 39,436 119,607
Consolidated and Comprehensive Net Income (Loss) $31,533 $64,645 $(318,708) $294,289
Allocation of Consolidated and Comprehensive Net Income (Loss)
Class A Shareholders $14,285 $17,417 $(133,642) $48,048
Noncontrolling interests 16,570 78,971 (186,867 ) 270,346
Redeemable noncontrolling interests 678 (31,743 ) 1,801 24,105 )

$31,533 $64,645 $(318,708) $294,289

Earnings (Loss) Per Class A Share

Basic $0.08 $0.10 $0.73 ) $0.27
Diluted $0.05 $0.06 $0.75 ) $0.26
Weighted-Average Class A Shares Outstanding

Basic 182,521,2215/'7,805,122 182,508,296177,711,669
Diluted 479,838,24484,171,524 479,825,416181,517,750
Dividends Paid per Class A Share $— $0.14 $— $0.83

11
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See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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OCH-ZIFF CAPITAL MANAGEMENT GROUP LLC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY — UNAUDITED
Och-Ziff Capital Management Group LLC Shareholders

Number of
Class A
Shares

As of

December 31, 181,026,455
2015

Deconsolidation

of Och-Ziff

funds on

adoption of

ASU 2015-02

(See Note 3)

Capital

contributions

Capital

distributions

Dividend

equivalents on

Class A —
restricted share
units
Equity-based
compensation
Impact of
changes in
Och-Ziff
Operating —
Group

ownership (See
Note 4)

Waiver of
payments under
tax receivable —
agreement

(Note 15)
Comprehensive —
net loss,

excluding

amounts

allocated to
redeemable

517,569

Number of
Class B
Shares

297,317,400

(381

Paid-in
Capital

Shareholder Shar'eholders

Appropriate, Deficit quity Total

pp. &lccumulated ) Attributable Shareholders'
Retained . . Attributable ..
.. Deficit to (Deficit)

Deficit to Class A Noncontrolli ”

ShareholdersI nfgquity
nterests

(dollars in thousands)

$3,040,655 $(59,663) $(3,396,822) $(415,830) $1,656,398 $1,240,568

(381

) 19,469

(182

58,918

59,663 (39,887 ) 19,776 (1,321,488 ) (1,301,712 )

_ _ — 2,547 2,547

— — — (225 ) (225 )
— 381 — — —

— — 19,469 33,445 52,914

— — (182 ) 182 —

— — 58,918 (4,806 ) 54,112

— (133,642 ) (133,642 ) (186,867 ) (320,509 )

13
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noncontrolling

interests

As of

September 30, 181,544,024 297,317,019 $3,118,479 $— $(3,569,970) $(451,491) $179,186  $(272,305 )
2016

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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OCH-ZIFF CAPITAL MANAGEMENT GROUP LLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS — UNAUDITED

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Consolidated net (loss) income

Adjustments to reconcile consolidated net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Reorganization expenses
Amortization of equity-based compensation

Depreciation, amortization and loss on asset held for sale

Deferred income taxes

Operating cash flows due to changes in:
Income and fees receivable

Due from related parties

Other assets, net

Due to related parties

Compensation payable

Other liabilities

Consolidated Och-Ziff funds related items:
Net gains of consolidated Och-Ziff funds
Purchases of investments

Proceeds from sale of investments

Other assets of consolidated Och-Ziff funds
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase
Other liabilities of consolidated Och-Ziff funds
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchases of fixed assets

Purchases of United States government obligations
Maturities of United States government obligations

Investment in Och-Ziff funds

Return of investment in Och-Ziff funds
Other, net

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2016

2015

(dollars in thousands)

$(318,708) $294,289

56,311
14,947
31,038

77,760
(9,888
8,460
(12,133
(153,875
398,686

(2,182
(185,940
175,131
9,078
558
89,243

(7,559
(29,915
18,500
(12,734
1,493
17
(30,232

12,052
86,590
8,135
105,263

388,350

) 2,771 )
37,211

) (48,059 )

) (211,617 )
9,514 )

) (21,859 )
) (3,273,867
3,241,032
(119,007 )
(71,716 )
(2,313 )
412,199

) (36,118 )

) —

) 2,777 )
296

) —

) (38,599 )

15
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OCH-ZIFF CAPITAL MANAGEMENT GROUP LLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS — (continued)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Contributions from noncontrolling and redeemable noncontrolling interests
Distributions to noncontrolling and redeemable noncontrolling interests
Dividends on Class A Shares

Proceeds from debt obligations

Repayment of debt obligations

Withholding taxes paid on vested RSUs

Other, net

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Financing Activities

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Period

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Period

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information
Cash paid during the period:

Interest

Income taxes

Non-cash transactions:

Increase in paid in capital as a result of waiver of payments under tax receivable agreement

(Note 15)
Assets related to the initial consolidation of CLOs
Liabilities related to the initial consolidation of CLOs

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2016

2015

(dollars in thousands)

2,551
(225
120,000
(2,738
(2,340
141
117,389
176,400
254,070
$430,470

$10,374
$10,563

$54,112

$—
$—

580,080

) (743,887 )

(146,346 )
3,606

) (2,192 )
) (5,341 )

1,222
(312,858 )
60,742
250,603
$311,345

$10,019
$17,003

$—

$1,551,028
$1,572,801

See Note 3 for non-cash impact of the deconsolidation of Och-Ziff funds upon the adoption of ASU 2015-02.

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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OCH-ZIFF CAPITAL MANAGEMENT GROUP LLC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — UNAUDITED
SEPTEMBER 30, 2016

1. OVERVIEW

Och-Ziff Capital Management Group LLC (the ‘“Registrant”), a Delaware limited liability company, together with its
consolidated subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”), is a global alternative asset management firm with offices in
New York, London, Hong Kong, Mumbai, Beijing, Dubai, Shanghai and Houston. The Company provides asset
management services to its investment funds (the “Och-Ziff funds” or the “funds”), which pursue a broad range of global
investment opportunities. The Company currently manages multi-strategy funds, dedicated credit funds, including
opportunistic credit funds and Institutional Credit Strategies products, real estate funds and other alternative
investment vehicles. Through Institutional Credit Strategies, the Company’s asset management platform that invests in
performing credits, the Company manages collateralized loan obligations (“CLOs”) and other customized solutions for
its clients.

The Company’s primary sources of revenues are management fees, which are based on the amount of the Company’s
assets under management, and incentive income, which is based on the investment performance of its funds.
Accordingly, for any given period, the Company’s revenues will be driven by the combination of assets under
management and the investment performance of the Och-Ziff funds.

The Company currently has two operating segments: the Och-Ziff Funds segment and the Company’s real estate
business. The Och-Ziff Funds segment is currently the Company’s only reportable operating segment under U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and provides asset management services to the Company’s
multi-strategy funds, dedicated credit funds and other alternative investment vehicles. The Company’s real estate
business, which provides asset management services to its real estate funds, is included within Other Operations, as it
does not meet the threshold of a reportable operating segment under GAAP.

The Company generates substantially all of its revenues in the United States. The liability of the Company’s Class A
Shareholders is limited to the extent of their capital contributions.

The Company conducts its operations through OZ Management LP (“OZ Management”), OZ Advisors LP (“OZ
Adpvisors I’) and OZ Advisors II LP (“OZ Advisors II"’) and their consolidated subsidiaries (collectively, the “Och-Ziff
Operating Group”). References to the Company’s “executive managing directors” refer to the current limited partners of
0Z Management, OZ Advisors and OZ Advisors II other than the Company’s intermediate holding companies,
including the Company’s founder, Daniel S. Och, and, except where the context requires otherwise, include certain
limited partners who are no longer active in the business of the Company. References to the Company’s “active
executive managing directors” refer to executive managing directors who remain active in the Company’s business.
References to the “Ziffs” refer collectively to Ziff Investors Partnership, L.P. II and certain of its affiliates and control
persons. References to the Company’s “intermediate holding companies” refer, collectively, to Och-Ziff Holding
Corporation (“Och-Ziff Corp”) and Och-Ziff Holding LLC, both of which are wholly owned subsidiaries of the
Registrant.

During the first quarter of 2016, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”’) 2015-02, Amendments to
the Consolidation Analysis. As a result of this update, the Company no longer consolidates the majority of the
previously consolidated Och-Ziff funds. See Notes 2 and 3 for additional information.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

These unaudited, interim, consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP as set forth in the
Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (“FASB”’) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”), and should be read in
conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements included in the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2015 (the “Annual Report”). In the opinion of management, all adjustments considered
necessary for a fair presentation of the Company’s unaudited, interim, consolidated financial statements have been

17
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included and are of a normal and recurring nature. The results of operations presented for the interim periods are not
necessarily indicative of the results that may
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OCH-ZIFF CAPITAL MANAGEMENT GROUP LLC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — UNAUDITED
SEPTEMBER 30, 2016

be expected for any other interim period or for the entire year, primarily because of the majority of incentive income
and discretionary cash bonuses being recorded in the fourth quarter each year. All significant intercompany
transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

The Company adopted ASU 2015-02 as of January 1, 2016 using the modified retrospective method of transition,
which resulted in a cumulative effect adjustment to opening equity. The Company did not restate prior-period results.
The impact to the Company’s opening retained earnings was driven by the cumulative effect of a change in incentive
income recognition for the funds no longer consolidated, net of deferred income tax effects. As described in Note 2 of
the Company’s Annual Report, incentive income from funds not consolidated is recognized at the end of the applicable
commitment period when the amounts are contractually payable and when no longer subject to clawback. Prior to
deconsolidation, incentive income from these previously consolidated funds was recognized by allocating a portion of
the net income of these funds to the Company rather than to the fund investors (noncontrolling interests) based on the
contractual terms of the relevant fund agreements. This resulted in incentive income being recognized that was subject
to clawback in the event of future losses in the respective funds.

The deconsolidation of the majority of its previously consolidated funds resulted in a substantial decrease in assets of
consolidated Och-Ziff funds, liabilities of consolidated Och-Ziff funds, redeemable noncontrolling interests,
appropriated retained deficit and shareholders’ equity attributable to non-controlling interests in the Company’s
consolidated balance sheet. Additionally, the deconsolidation has caused a significant decrease in the amount of
income of consolidated Och-Ziff funds, expenses of consolidated Och-Ziff funds, and net gains of consolidated
Och-Ziff funds in the Company’s consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss).

As a result of the adoption of ASU 2015-02, the Company modified its consolidation policies, resulting in the
deconsolidation of the majority of the previously consolidated Och-Ziff funds. The Company’s updated consolidation
policies are presented below.

Consolidation Policies

The Company’s funds are typically organized using a “master-feeder” structure. Fund investors, including the Company’s
executive managing directors, employees and other related parties to the extent they invest in a given fund, generally
invest directly into the feeder funds. These feeder funds are typically limited partnerships or limited companies that
hold direct or indirect interests in a master fund. The master fund, together with its subsidiaries, is the primary
investment vehicle for its feeder funds. The Company generally collects its management fees and incentive income
from the feeder funds or subsidiaries of the feeder funds (“intermediate funds”), and does not collect any management
fees or incentive income directly from the master funds. However, the Company also organizes certain funds (e.g., its
real estate funds and certain opportunistic credit funds) without the use of a master-feeder structure. These are
typically organized as limited partnerships, in which the Company is the general partner and collects management fees
and incentive income directly from these entities; however, in the case of the real estate funds, the Company collects
management fees directly from the funds’ investors. The Company generally directs the activities of its funds through
its role as general partner or as the investment or CLO collateral manager with decision-making rights.

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Registrant and entities in which it, directly or
indirectly, is determined to have a controlling financial interest under the following set of guidelines:

Variable Interest Entities (“'VIEs”)—The Company determines whether, if by design, an entity has any of the following
characteristics: (i) equity investors who lack the characteristics of a controlling financial interest; (ii) the entity does
not have sufficient equity at risk to finance its expected activities without additional subordinated financial support
from other parties; or (iii) substantially all of the activities of the entity are performed on behalf of a party with
disproportionately few voting rights. An entity with any one of these characteristics is a VIE. Partnerships, and
similarly structured entities, will be considered as VIEs where a simple majority of third party investors with equity at
risk are not able to exercise substantive kick-out or participating rights over the general partner.
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Voting Interest Entities (“VOEs”)—Where an entity does not have the characteristics of a VIE, it will be a VOE.

10

20



Edgar Filing: Och-Ziff Capital Management Group LLC - Form 10-Q

OCH-ZIFF CAPITAL MANAGEMENT GROUP LLC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — UNAUDITED
SEPTEMBER 30, 2016

The determination of whether a fund is a VIE or a VOE is based on the facts and circumstances for each individual
fund in accordance with the guidelines described below. Classification of such entities is reassessed where there is a
substantive change in the governing documents or contractual arrangements of the entity, to the capital structure of the
entity or in the activities of the entity. The Company continuously reassesses whether it should consolidate a VIE or
VOE.

Prior to the Adoption of ASU 2015-02

Prior to the adoption of ASU 2015-02, the Company used two models for determining whether it was the primary
beneficiary of a VIE depending on the nature and characteristics of the entity.

In the case of fund vehicles classified as VIEs that qualified for the deferral under ASU 2010-10, Amendments to
Statement 167 for Certain Investment Funds, the primary beneficiary was the party that absorbed a majority of a VIEs’
expected losses or received a majority of the expected residual returns as a result of holding variable interests. The
Company was identified as the primary beneficiary of a fund where the Company’s related party group absorbed a
majority of the variability of the fund, and where the Company was determined to be most closely associated to the
fund within that related party group.

In the case of the Company’s CLOs and a certain joint venture that were classified as VIEs and did not qualify for the
deferral under ASU 2010-10, the primary beneficiary was the party that had both (i) the power to direct the activities
of the entity that most significantly impact the entity’s economic performance; and (ii) the obligation to absorb losses
or the right to receive benefits from the entity that could potentially be significant to the entity. The Company was
identified as the primary beneficiary of the CLOs because it directed the investment activities of the CLOs and had the
right to receive benefits from the CLOs that could potentially be significant as a result of its fee arrangements.

Finally, certain partnerships that were not determined to be VIEs in which the Company held a substantive equity
investment and was determined to be the controlling general partner were classified as voting interest entities (“VOEs”)
and consolidated by the Company because the limited partners did not have substantive rights to participate in the
ongoing governance and operating activities of the partnership.

Upon the Adoption of ASU 2015-02

Where the Company holds a variable interest in an entity, it is required to determine whether it should consolidate the
entity. Under ASU 2015-02, fee arrangements are no longer considered variable interests when they are
commensurate with the level of effort required to provide services and include only terms, conditions, or amounts that
are customarily present in arrangements for similar services negotiated at arm’s length, and where the Company does
not hold other interests in the entity that would absorb more than an insignificant amount of the variability of the
entity.

Where the Company does not have a variable interest in the entity, it will not consolidate the entity. Where the
Company has a variable interest, it is required to determine whether the entity will be considered as a VIE or VOE, the
classification of which will determine the analysis that the Company is required to perform when determining whether
it should consolidate the entity.

Funds that are VIEs

Funds that the Company has determined to be VIEs are generally VIEs because fund investors are deemed to lack the
characteristics of a controlling financial interest or the entity does not have sufficient equity.

The party identified as the primary beneficiary of a VIE is required to consolidate the entity. The Company is the
primary beneficiary of a VIE where it has a controlling financial interest in the entity, which is defined as (i) the
power to direct the activities of the entity that most significantly impact the entity’s economic performance; and (ii) the
obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits from the entity that could potentially be significant to the
entity. Where the Company does not have a controlling financial interest, but is part of a related party group under
common control that collectively has power and
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benefits, an assessment as to which party within the related party group is more closely associated with the VIE and
would therefore consolidate a VIE. This assessment would also be performed where power is shared within the related
party group.

The types of funds that are VIEs and not consolidated are generally (i) master funds and intermediate fund vehicles for
the Company’s multi-strategy funds, as well as credit, real estate and similar fund vehicles, as third party investors in
these entities have not been granted substantive removal rights and (ii) CLOs, as they lack sufficient equity at risk to
finance their expected activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties. The Company
does not consolidate VIEs where it does not have a controlling financial interest.

The types of funds that are VIEs consolidated by the Company are certain new funds that the Company has seeded
and generally expects to deconsolidate when the fund has a certain level of additional third party capital.

Funds that are VOEs

Funds that are corporations, or similarly structured entities that are not VIEs, are consolidated by the Company where
the Company has an equity investment of greater than 50% and has control over significant operating, financial and
investing decisions of the entity. The Company will consolidate partnerships, or similarly structured entities that are
not VIEs, where a single investor or simple majority of third party investors with equity cannot exercise substantive
kick-out or participating rights over the entity.

The types of funds that are VOEs and not consolidated by the Company are generally feeder funds of the Company’s
multi-strategy funds, as third party fund investors in these entities have been granted substantive removal rights.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-02, Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis. ASU 2015-02
significantly changes the consolidation analysis required under GAAP. The impact of adoption and the Company’s
revised consolidation policies incorporating the changes made by ASU 2015-02 are presented above.

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-03, Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance costs. ASU 2015-03
simplifies the presentation of debt issuance costs by requiring that debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt
liability be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability. The
requirements of ASU 2015-03 were effective for the Company beginning in first quarter of 2016. The Company
reclassified $5.8 million of debt issuance costs in its December 31, 2015 balance sheet from other assets to debt
obligations upon the adoption of ASU 2015-03.

In May 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-07, Disclosures for Investments in Certain Entities That Calculate Net
Asset Value per Share (or Its Equivalent). ASU 2015-07 removes the requirement to categorize within the fair value
hierarchy all investments for which fair value is measured using the net asset value per share practical expedient. The
requirements of ASU 2015-07 were effective for the Company beginning in the first quarter of 2016, and are applied
retrospectively. The impact of ASU 2015-07 was limited to disclosure of the level in the fair value hierarchy of
investments held by the Company that are measured using net asset value per share during the periods presented.
None of the other changes to GAAP that went into effect in the nine months ended September 30, 2016 has had a
material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Future Adoption of Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. ASU 2014-09 supersedes the
revenue recognition requirements in ASC 605—Revenue Recognition and most industry-specific revenue recognition
guidance throughout the ASC. The core principle of the guidance is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict
the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for those
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goods or services. The requirements of ASU 2014-09 are effective for the Company beginning in the first quarter of
2018. Entities are permitted to apply the guidance in ASU 2014-09 using one of the following methods: (i) full
retrospective application to each prior period presented, or (ii) modified retrospective application with a cumulative
effect adjustment to opening retained earnings in the annual reporting period that includes that date of initial
application. The Company is currently evaluating the impact, if any, that this update will have on its consolidated
financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases. ASU 2016-02 significantly changes accounting for lease
arrangements, in particular from the perspective of the lessee. The Company is not currently a lessor in any significant
lease arrangements, but is a lessee in several lease arrangements that would be impacted by the ASU. Upon adoption
of the ASU, where the Company is lessee, the Company will likely be required to recognize certain lease
arrangements on its balance sheet for the first time, but will continue to recognize associated expenses on its statement
of comprehensive income in a manner similar to existing accounting principles. Entities are required to use a modified
retrospective approach for leases that exist or are entered into after the beginning of the earliest comparative period in
the financial statements. The requirements of ASU 2016-02 are effective for the Company beginning in the first
quarter of 2019.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting. ASU
2016-09 will change how companies account for certain aspects of share-based payments to employees. Specifically,
the ASU will require companies to recognize the income tax effects of awards in the statement of comprehensive
income when the awards vest or are settled, increases the amount companies can withhold to cover income taxes on
awards and still qualify for the exception to liability classification for shares used to satisfy the employer’s statutory
income tax withholding obligation, and will require companies to elect whether to account for forfeitures of
share-based payments by either recognizing forfeitures of awards as they occur or by estimating the number of awards
expected to be forfeited and adjusting the estimate when it is likely to change, as is currently required. Entities are
required to apply amendments related to the timing of when excess tax benefits are recognized, minimum statutory
withholding requirements, and forfeitures using a modified retrospective transition method, while amendments related
to the recognition of excess tax benefits and tax deficiencies in the statement of comprehensive income should be
applied prospectively. The requirements of ASU 2016-09 are effective for the Company beginning in the first quarter
of 2017 with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that this update will have on
its consolidated financial statements.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain Cash
Receipts and Cash Payments. ASU 2016-15 will make eight targeted changes to how cash receipts and cash payments
are presented and classified in the statement of cash flows and should be applied retrospectively. ASU 2016-15 is
effective for the Company in the first quarter of 2018 with earlier adoption permitted. The Company is currently in the
process of evaluating the impact of adoption on its consolidated financial statements.

None of the other changes to GAAP that are not yet effective are expected to have a material effect on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.
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3. DECONSOLIDATION OF CERTAIN OCH-ZIFF FUNDS
As a result of the adoption of ASU 2015-02 on January 1, 2016, the Company is no longer required to consolidate the
majority of the Och-Ziff funds previously consolidated. The table below presents the non-cash adjustments to the
Company’s balance sheet as a result of the deconsolidation upon the adoption of ASU 2015-02.

(dollars in

thousands)
Assets
Income and fees receivable $8,715
Due from related parties 1,896
Deferred income tax assets 18,532
Other assets, net 3,331
Assets of consolidated Och-Ziff funds:
Investments, at fair value (9,036,433 )
Other assets of Och-Ziff funds (344,719 )
Total Assets $(9,348,678)
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Liabilities
Other liabilities $81,972
Liabilities of consolidated Och-Ziff funds:
Notes and loans payable of consolidated CLOs, at fair value (7,077,679 )
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase (190,751 )
Other liabilities of Och-Ziff funds (47,392 )
Total Liabilities (7,233,850 )
Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests (813,116 )
Shareholders' Equity
Appropriated retained deficit 59,663
Accumulated deficit (39,887 )
Shareholders' deficit attributable to Class A Shareholders 19,776
Shareholders' equity attributable to noncontrolling interests (1,321,488 )
Total Shareholders' Equity (1,301,712 )

Total Liabilities, Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests and Shareholders' Equity $(9,348,678)

4. NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS

Noncontrolling interests represent ownership interests in the Company’s subsidiaries held by parties other than the
Company, and primarily relate to the Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units held by the Company’s executive managing
directors, as well as fund investors’ interests in the consolidated Och-Ziff funds. Net income (loss) allocated to the
Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units is driven by the earnings (losses) of the Och-Ziff Operating Group. Net income
allocated to fund investors’ interests in consolidated Och-Ziff funds is driven by the earnings of those funds, including
the net difference in the fair value of CLO assets and liabilities that are subsequently reclassified to appropriated
retained earnings on the consolidated balance sheets.
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As discussed in Notes 2 and 3, the Company deconsolidated the majority of the previously consolidated Och-Ziff
funds, including all of the CLOs. As a result, noncontrolling interests and redeemable noncontrolling interests related
to fund investors presented in the tables below decreased substantially from the prior year.
The following table presents the components of the net income (loss) allocated to noncontrolling interests:

Three Months

Ended September Nine Months Ended
30 September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015

(dollars in thousands)
Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units $16,313 $43,505 $(187,338) $175,239
Consolidated Och-Ziff funds — 35,266 262 94,723
Other 257 200 209 384
$16,570 $78,971 $(186,867) $270,346
The following table presents the components of the shareholders’ equity attributable to noncontrolling interests:
SeptemberDécember 31,
2016 2015

(dollars in thousands)
Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units $174,838 $429,312
Consolidated Och-Ziff funds — 1,224,996
Other 4,348 2,090
$179,186 $ 1,656,398
The following table presents the activity in redeemable noncontrolling interests as presented in the consolidated
balance sheets:
Nine
Months
Ended
September
30,
2016

(dollars in

thousands)
Beginning balance $832,284
Deconsolidation of Och-Ziff funds on adoption of ASU 2015-02 (See Note 3) (813,116 )
Capital contributions 4
Comprehensive income 1,801
Ending Balance $20,973

Och-Ziff Operating Group Ownership

The Company’s interest in the Och-Ziff Operating Group increased to 37.9% as of September 30, 2016, from 37.8% as
of December 31, 2015. Changes in the Company’s interest in the Och-Ziff Operating Group have historically been, and
in the future may be, driven by the following: (i) the exchange of Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units for an equal
number of Class A Shares, at which time the related Class B Shares are also canceled; (ii) the issuance of Class A
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Shares under the Company’s Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan and 2013 Incentive Plan, primarily
related to the settlement of Class A restricted share units (“RSUs”); (iii) the forfeiture of Och-Ziff Operating Group A
Units and related Class B Shares by a departing executive managing director; and (iv) the repurchase of Class A

Shares and Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units. The Company’s interest in the Och-Ziff Operating Group is expected to
continue to increase over time as additional Class A Shares are issued upon the exchange of Och-Ziff Operating

Group A Units and settlement of RSUs. These increases will be offset upon any conversion by an executive managing
director of Och-Ziff Operating Group D Units, which are not considered equity for
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GAAP purposes, into Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units, at which time an equal number of Class B Shares is also
issued to the executive managing director.

5. FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES

Fair value represents the price that would be received upon the sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants as of the measurement date (i.e., an exit price). Due to the inherent
uncertainty of valuations of investments that are determined to be illiquid or do not have readily ascertainable fair
values, the estimates of fair value may differ from the values ultimately realized, and those differences can be
material.

GAAP prioritizes the level of market price observability used in measuring assets and liabilities at fair value. Market
price observability is impacted by a number of factors, including the type of assets and liabilities and the specific
characteristics of the assets and liabilities. Assets and liabilities with readily available, actively quoted prices or for
which fair value can be measured from actively-quoted prices generally will have a higher degree of market price
observability and lesser degree of judgment used in measuring fair value.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified into one of the following categories:

Level I — Fair value is determined using quoted prices that are available in active markets for identical assets or
diabilities. The types of assets and liabilities that would generally be included in this category are certain listed
equities, U.S. government obligations and certain listed derivatives.

Level II — Fair value is determined using quotations received from dealers making a market for these assets or
liabilities (“broker quotes™), valuations obtained from independent third-party pricing services, the use of models or
other valuation methodologies based on pricing inputs that are either directly or indirectly market observable as of the
measurement date. The types of assets and liabilities that would generally be included in this category are certain
corporate bonds, certain credit default swap contracts, certain bank debt securities, certain commercial real estate
debt, less liquid equity securities, forward contracts and certain over the-counter (“OTC”) derivatives.

Level III — Fair value is determined using pricing inputs that are unobservable in the market and includes
situations where there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability. The fair value of assets and
liabilities in this category may require significant judgment or estimation in determining fair value of the
assets or liabilities. The fair value of these assets and liabilities may be estimated using a combination of
observed transaction prices, independent pricing services, relevant broker quotes, models or other valuation
methodologies based on pricing inputs that are neither directly or indirectly market observable. The types of
assets and liabilities that would generally be included in this category include real estate investments, equity
and debt securities issued by private entities, limited partnerships, certain corporate bonds, certain credit
default swap contracts, certain bank debt securities, certain commercial real estate debt, certain OTC
derivatives, residential and commercial mortgage-backed securities, asset-backed securities, collateralized
debt obligations, investments in affiliated credit funds, as well as the notes and loans payable of consolidated
CLO:s.

In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such
cases, an asset or liability’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant
to the fair value measurement. The assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement
in its entirety requires judgment and considers factors specific to the asset or liability.
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Fair Value Measurements Categorized within the Fair Value Hierarchy
The following table summarizes the Company’s assets and liabilities (excluding the assets and liabilities of the
consolidated funds) measured at fair value on a recurring basis within the fair value hierarchy as of September 30,
2016 and December 31, 2015:

Fair Value

September December  Fair Value

30, 2016 31, 2015 Hierarchy

(dollars in thousands)
United States government obligations included within:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 20,000 $ — Level 1
Other assets $ 29994 $ 18,501 Level I
Consolidated Funds

As a result of the adoption of ASU 2015-02, the Company no longer consolidates the majority of the previously
consolidated Och-Ziff funds as of January 1, 2016. In addition, as a result of the adoption of ASU 2015-07, the
Company no longer categorizes within the fair value hierarchy investments held at net asset value. Prior year amounts
were restated upon the adoption of ASU 2015-07. See Notes 2 and 3 for additional information regarding these ASUs.
The following table summarizes the consolidated funds’ assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis within the
fair value hierarchy as of September 30, 2016:

As of September 30, 2016

}‘e]‘_f,eelvel I iﬁwel Total

(dollars in thousands)
Bank debt $-$20,580 $16,250 $36,830
Total Investments, at Fair Value $-$20,580 $16,250 $36,830
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The following table summarizes the consolidated funds’ assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring
basis within the fair value hierarchy as of December 31, 2015:

As of December 31, 2015

Level I Level I Level I Total

(dollars in thousands)

Bank debt $— $4,809,367 $1,998,423 $6,807,790
Real estate investments — — 719,957 719,957
Residential mortgage-backed securities — — 323,571 323,571
Collateralized debt obligations — — 83,759 83,759
Energy and natural resources limited partnerships 2,100 — 70,604 72,704
Commercial real estate debt — — 18,295 18,295
Corporate bonds — 75,149 — 75,149
United States government obligations 40,672 — — 40,672
Asset-backed securities — — 23,739 23,739
Commercial mortgage-backed securities — — 13,803 13,803
Other investments 316 9 1,938 2,263
Financial Assets, at Fair Value $43,088 $4,884,525 $3,254,089 $8,181,702
Investments held at net asset value 890,231
Total Investments, at Fair Value $9,071,933
Senior secured notes and loans payable of consolidated CLOs $— $— $6,636,338 $6,636,838
Subordinated notes payable of consolidated CLOs — — 440,841 440,841
Notes and loans payable of consolidated CLOs, at fair value — — 7,077,679 7,077,679
Other liabilities, included within other liabilities of Och-Ziff funds 2,527 298 — 2,825
Financial Liabilities, at Fair Value $2,527 $298 $7,077,679 $7,080,504
18
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Reconciliation of Fair Value Measurements Categorized within Level I11

The Company assumes that any transfers between Level I, Level II or Level III occur at the beginning of the reporting
period presented. Amounts related to the initial consolidation of the Company’s CLOs or other funds are included
within investment purchases.

The following table summarizes the changes in the Company’s Level III assets and liabilities for the three months
ended September 30, 2016:

Net Gains

June 30,Transfers Transfers Investment Investment Derivative o ) September 30,
Consolidated

2016 In Out Purchases Sales Settlements . 2016
Och-Ziff
Funds

(dollars in thousands)
Bank debt $8,868 $ —$925 ) $19317 $(11,325) $ —$ 315 $ 16,250
The following table summarizes the changes in the Company’s Level III assets and liabilities (excluding notes and
loans payable of consolidated CLOs) for the three months ended September 30, 2015:

Net Gains
June 30, Transfers Transfers InvestmentInvestment Derivative(Losses.) of September 30,
Consolidated
2015 In Out Purchases Sales Settlement&ch_ziff 2015
Funds
(dollars in thousands)
Bank debt $1,802,755 $585,086 $(302,180) $249,177 $(273,840) $ — $(43,452 ) $2,017,546
Real estate 737478 — — 46,425 (109,908 ) — 23478 697,473
investments
Residential
mortgage-backed 414,331 — — 6,433 (25,643 ) — (10,280 ) 384,841
securities
Collateralized debt 19 155 _ — 54 (10,187 ) — 2,032 111,061
obligations
Energy and natural
resources limited 77,865 — — 435 — — (6,351 ) 71,949
partnerships
Commercial real
estate debt 61,267 — — — (45,686 ) — 2,402 17,983
Corporate bonds 14 — — — — — (13 ) 1
Assel-backed 23259 — — 2320 878 ) — 941 25,642
securities
Commercial
mortgage-backed 679 — — 13,599 (761 ) — 84 13,601
securities
Other investments 2,005 — — — — (298 ) 261 1,968

(including derivatives,
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$3,238,815 $585,086 $(302,180) $318,443 $(466,903) $ (298 ) $(30,898 ) $3,342,065
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The following table summarizes the changes in the Company’s Level III assets and liabilities (excluding notes and
loans payable of consolidated CLOs) for the nine months ended September 30, 2016:

Net
Gains
December 3 Lransfdisansfersinvestmentinvestment  Derivatiof September 30,
2015 In Out Purchases Sales (1) Settlemdnonsolida2dl 6
Och-Ziff
Funds
(dollars in thousands)
Bank debt $1,998423 § —$(466 ) $66,545 $(2,049,067) $ —$ 815  $16,250
Real estate investments 719,957 R — — (719,957 ) — — —
Res@ephal mortgage-backed 323571 L . (323571 ) — . o
securities
Collateralized debt obligations 83,759 R — — (83,759 ) — — —
E}ngrgy and naturgl resources 70,604 L o (70,604 ) — o o
limited partnerships
Commercial real estate debt 18,295 R — — (18,295 ) — — —
Corporate bonds — — — — — — — —
Asset-backed securities 23,739 R — — (23,739 ) — — —
Comrp.er01al mortgage-backed 13.803 L o (13.803 ) — o o
securities
Other investments (including 1.938 L o (1938 ) — o o

derivatives, net)
$3,254,080 § —$(466 ) $66,545 $(3,304,733) $ —$ 815 $16,250

(I)Amounts related to the deconsolidation of the Company’s funds upon the adoption of ASU 2015-02 are included
within investment sales.

The following table summarizes the changes in the Company’s Level III assets and liabilities (excluding notes and

loans payable of consolidated CLOs) for the nine months ended September 30, 2015:

Net Gains
(Losses)
December 3 ransfers Transfers Investment Investment Derivativeof September 30,
2014 In Out Purchases Sales SettlementSonsolidate®015
Och-Ziff
Funds
(dollars in thousands)
Bank debt $2,224,032 $395,995 $(642,790) $1,000,120 $(937,128 ) $ — $(22,683 ) $2,017,546
Real estate 645916 — — 184,535 (207955 ) — 74977 697473
investments
Residential
mortgage-backed 462,927 — — 33,048 (98,020 ) — (13,114 ) 384,841
securities
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Collateralized debt
obligations

Energy and natural
resources limited 65,909 —
partnerships
Commercial real
estate debt
Corporate bonds 656 —
Asset.—l.)acked 21,368 o
securities
Commercial
mortgage-backed 3,287 —
securities

Other investments

(including 2,144 —
derivatives, net)

173,746  —

29,815 —

$3,629,800 $395,995 $(642,790) $1,294,665 $(1,386,785) $ (668 ) $51,848
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— 7,478

— 15,707

— 33,891
— 147
— 6,141

— 13,598

(84,103

(3,467

(48,849
(521
(2,844

(3,665

(233

)_

) (668

)

13,940

(6,200

3,126
(281
977

381

725

111,061

) 71,949

17,983

) 1
25,642

13,601

1,968

$3,342,065
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Transfers out of Level III presented in the tables above resulted from the fair values of certain securities becoming
market observable, with fair value determined using independent pricing services. Transfers into Level III presented in
the table above resulted from the valuation of certain investments with decreased market observability, with fair
values determined using broker quotes or independent pricing services. There were no transfers between Levels I and
II during the periods presented above.
The table below summarizes the net change in unrealized gains and losses on the Company’s Level III assets and
liabilities (excluding notes and loans payable of consolidated CLOs) held as of the reporting date. These gains and
losses are included within net gains of consolidated Och-Ziff funds in the Company’s consolidated statements of
comprehensive income (loss):

Three Months ~ Nine Months

Ended Ended

September 30, September 30,

2016 2015 2016 2015

(dollars in thousands)

Bank debt $242 $(42,491) $322 $(27,838)
Real estate investments — (4,892 ) — 25920
Residential mortgage-backed securities — (14,072 ) — (20,252 )
Collateralized debt obligations — (2,239 H)— (1,199 )
Energy and natural resources limited partnerships — (6,352 ) — (6,200 )
Commercial real estate debt — (99 ) — 623
Corporate bonds — (13 ) — (252 )
Asset-backed securities — 993 — 1,187
Commercial mortgage-backed securities — (34 ) — (337 )

Other investments (including derivatives, net) — (46 ) — 47
$242 $(69,245) $322 $(28,295)
The table below summarizes the changes in the notes and loans payable of consolidated CLOs for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2015. As a result of the adoption of ASU 2015-02, the Company no longer consolidates
any of its CLOs as of January 1, 2016. Accordingly, no tables are presented for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2016.
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, the Company recorded net unrealized gains of $130.1
million and $93.5 million for notes and loans payable of consolidated CLOs still outstanding as of September 30,
2015. Amounts related to the initial consolidation of the Company’s CLOs are included within issuances in the table
below.
Net Gains of
June 30, Issuances Settlements Consolidated September 30,
2015 Och-Ziff 2015
Funds

(dollars in thousands)
Senior secured notes and loans payable of
consolidated CLOS $5,827,658 $924,526 $(459,000) $ (64,878 ) $6,228,306

Subordinated notes payable of consolidated CLOs 500,423 40,999 — (65,172 ) 476,250
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$6,328,081 $965,525 $(459,000) $ (130,050 ) $6,704,556
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Net Losses
(Gains) of
];gfjmber 3]I’ssuances Settlements Consolidated ggll)gember 30,
Och-Ziff
Funds
(dollars in thousands)
Senior secured notes and loans payable of $4,784,134 $1,900,069 $(459,000) $ 3,103 $ 6,228,306
consolidated CLOs
Subordinated notes payable of consolidated CLOs 443,277 127,633 — (94,660 ) 476,250

$5,227,411 $2,027,702 $(459,000) $ (91,557 ) $6,704,556
Valuation Methodologies for Fair Value Measurements Categorized within Levels II and III
Bank Debt; Residential and Commercial Mortgage-Backed Securities; Collateralized Debt Obligations; Commercial
Real Estate Debt; Corporate Bonds; Asset-Backed Securities; Notes and Loans Payable of Consolidated CLOs
The fair value of investments in bank debt, residential and commercial mortgage-backed securities, collateralized debt
obligations, commercial real estate debt, corporate bonds, asset-backed securities, and notes and loans payable of
consolidated CLOs that do not have readily ascertainable fair values is generally determined using broker quotes or
independent pricing services. For month-end valuations, the Company generally receives one to four broker quotes for
each security, depending on the type of security being valued. These broker quotes are generally non-binding or
indicative in nature. The Company verifies that these broker quotes are reflective of fair value as defined in GAAP
generally through procedures such as comparison to independent pricing services, back testing procedures, review of
stale pricing reports and performance of other due diligence procedures as may be deemed necessary. Historically, the
Company has only adjusted a small number of broker quotes when used in determining final valuations for securities
as a result of these procedures.
To the extent broker quotes are not available or deemed unreliable, the methods and procedures to value these
investments may include, but are not limited to: obtaining and using other additional broker quotes deemed reliable;
using independent pricing services; performing comparisons with prices of comparable or similar securities; obtaining
valuation-related information from the issuers; calculating the present value of future cash flows; assessing other
analytical data and information relating to these investments that is an indication of their value; obtaining information
provided by third parties; reviewing the amounts invested in these investments; and evaluating financial information
provided by the management of these investments. Market data is used to the extent that it is observable and
considered reliable.
The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of the Company’s bank debt, residential and
commercial mortgage-backed securities, commercial real estate debt, corporate bonds and asset-backed securities that
are not valued using broker quotes or independent pricing services are discount rates and yields. Significant increases
(decreases) in the discount rates and yields in isolation would be expected to result in a significantly lower (higher)
fair value measurement.
Real Estate Investments
Real estate investments are generally structured as equity, preferred equity, mezzanine debt, and participating debt in
entities domiciled primarily in the United States and include investments in lodging, gaming, multifamily properties,
retail, healthcare, distressed residential, senior housing, golf, parking, office buildings and land. The fair values of
these investments are generally based upon discounting the expected cash flows from the investment or a cash flow
multiple. In reaching the determination of fair value for investments, the Company considers many factors including,
but not limited to: the operating cash flows and financial performance of the real estate investments relative to budgets
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or projections; property types; geographic locations; the physical condition of the asset; prevailing market
capitalization rates; prevailing market discount rates; general economic conditions; economic conditions specific to
the market in which the assets are located; the prevailing interest rate environment; the prevailing state of the debt
markets; comparable public company trading multiples; independent third-party appraisals; available pricing data on
comparable properties in the specific market in which the asset is located; expected exit timing and strategy; and any
specific rights or terms associated with the investment.
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The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of the Company’s real estate investments are
discount rates, cash flow growth rates, capitalization rates, the price per square foot, the absorption percentage per
year and exit multiples. Significant increases (decreases) in the discount rates and capitalization rates in isolation
would be expected to result in a significantly lower (higher) fair value measurement. Significant increases (decreases)
in the cash flow growth rates, the price per square foot, the absorption rate per year and exit multiples in isolation
would be expected to result in a significantly higher (lower) fair value measurement. A change in the assumption used
for price per square foot is generally accompanied by a directionally inverse change in the absorption percentage per
year.
Energy and Natural Resources Limited Partnerships
The fair value of energy and natural resources limited partnerships is generally determined using discounted cash
flows when assets are producing oil or gas, or when it is reasonably certain that an asset will be capable of producing
oil or gas, or using recent financing for certain investments. Acreage with proven undeveloped, probable or possible
reserves are valued using prevailing prices of comparable properties, and may include adjustments for other assets or
liabilities such as seismic data, equipment, and cash held by the investee. Certain natural resource assets may also be
valued using scenario analyses and sum of the parts analyses.
The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of the Company’s energy and natural resources
limited partnerships that are not measured using net asset value are discount rates, EBITDA multiples, price per acre
and production multiples. Significant increases (decreases) in the discount rates in isolation would be expected to
result in a lower (higher) fair value measurement. Significant increases (decreases) in the EBITDA multiples, price per
acre, price per square foot and production multiples in isolation would be expected to result in a significantly higher
(lower) fair value measurement.
Information about Significant Inputs Used in Fair Value Measurements Categorized within Level III
The table below summarizes information about the significant unobservable inputs used in determining the fair value
of the Level III assets held by the consolidated funds as of September 30, 2016.

Fair Value at

. ... September 30, . . Unobservable Range
Type of Investment or Liability 2016 Valuation Technique Tnput (Weighted-Average)
(in thousands)
Bank debt $ 16,250 Independent pricing services n/a

The table below summarizes information about the significant unobservable inputs used in determining the fair value
of the Level III assets and liabilities held by the consolidated funds as of December 31, 2015.

Fair Value at

December 31,

s . . Range

Type of Investment or Liability (21(1)1 15 Valuation Technique Unobservable Input (Weighted-Average)

thousands)
Bank debt $1,049207 [ndependentpricing

services

49,196 Yield analysis Yield 14% to 23% (16%)

Real estate investments $719,957 Discounted cash flow  Discount rate 10% to 30% (19%)
St‘:h flow growth 5 194 10 36% (3%)

Capitalization rate 6% to 12% (8%)
Price per square foot $50 to $187 ($159)
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Absorption rate per 0% to 27% (8%)
year
. . 5.9x to 18.9x
Exit multiple (10.3%)
Res@ephal mortgage-backed $312.839 Broker quotes /a
securities
10,732 Independent pricing /a
services
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Fair Value at
December 31,

N Valuation Range
Type of Investment or Liability (21(1)1 15 Technique Unobservable Input (Weighted-Average)
thousands)
Collateralized debt obligations ~ $ 83,759 Broker quotes n/a
Energy and natural resources Scenario . 10% to 25%
limited partnerships $49,326 analysis Discount rate (19%)
. 5.5x to 7.3x
EBITDA multiple (6.4%)
Price per acre $1,750

Production multiple (price per

thousand cubic feet equivalent 36,750 t0 $9,167

per day) ($7,662)
18,672 Sum of the Discount rate 15 %0
parts
Price per acre $437
2,606 Discounted Discount rate 15 %0
cash flow
Commercial real estate debt $7,010 Yield analysis Yield 13%to
: y 18% (16%)
$11085  Discounted .y o nt rate 15 %
cash flow
Asset-backed securities $22,428 Broker quotes n/a
1,311 Discounted Discount rate 14 %0
cash flow

Commercial mortgaged-backed
securities

Senior secured notes and loans
payable of consolidated CLOs
Subordinated notes payable of
consolidated CLOs

Valuation Process for Fair Value Measurements Categorized within Level III

The Company has established an internal control infrastructure over the valuation of financial instruments that
includes ongoing oversight by its Financial Controls Group and Valuation Committee, as well as periodic audits by
the Company’s Internal Audit Group. These control functions are segregated from the trading and investing functions.
The Valuation Committee is responsible for establishing the valuation policy and monitors compliance with the
valuation policy, ensuring that all of the funds’ investments reflect fair value, as well as providing oversight of the
valuation process. These valuation policies and procedures include, but are not limited to the following: determining
the pricing sources used to value specific investment classes; the selection of independent pricing services; the
periodic review of due diligence materials of independent pricing services; and the fair value hierarchy coding of the
funds’ investments. The Valuation Committee reviews a variety of reports on a monthly basis, which include, but are
not limited to the following: summaries of the sources used to determine the value of the funds’ investments;
summaries of the fair value hierarchy of the funds’ investments; and variance reports that compare the values of

$ 13,803 Broker quotes n/a
$6,636,838 Broker quotes n/a

$ 440,841 Broker quotes n/a
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investments to independent pricing services. The Valuation Committee is comprised of non-investment professionals
and may obtain input from investment professionals for consideration in carrying out its responsibilities.

The Financial Controls Group is responsible for complying with the valuation policies, performing price verification
and preparing the monthly valuation reports reviewed by the Valuation Committee. The Financial Controls Group’s
other responsibilities include, but are not limited to the following: overseeing the collection and evaluation of
counterparty prices, broker-dealer quotations, exchange prices and third party pricing feeds; performing back testing
by comparing prices observed in executed transactions to previous day valuations and/or valuations provided by
independent pricing service providers on a bi-weekly and monthly basis; performing due diligence reviews on
independent pricing services on an annual or as needed basis; and recommending changes in valuation policies to the
Valuation Committee.
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The Internal Audit Group employs a risk-based program of audit coverage that is designed to provide an assessment
of the design and effectiveness of controls over the Company’s operations, regulatory compliance, valuation of
financial instruments and reporting. Additionally, the Internal Audit Group meets periodically with management and
the Audit Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors to evaluate and provide guidance on the existing risk
framework and control environment assessments.

Monthly procedures have been established for Level III investments, which include comparing unobservable inputs to
observable inputs for similar positions, reviewing subsequent market activities, performing comparisons of actual
versus projected performance indicators, and discussing the valuation methodology, including pricing techniques
when applicable, with investment professionals. Independent pricing services may be used to corroborate the
Company’s internal valuations. Investment professionals and members of the Financial Controls Group review a daily
profit and loss report, as well as other periodic reports that analyze the profit and loss and related asset class exposure
of the funds’ investments.

Fair Value of Other Financial Instruments

Management estimates that the carrying value of the Company’s other financial instruments, mainly its Senior Notes,
as well as the Revolving Credit Facility and the Aircraft Loan (each as defined in Note 10), approximated their fair
values as of September 30, 2016. The Senior Notes are categorized as Level II and the Revolving Credit Facility and
the Aircraft Loan are categorized as Level III within the fair value hierarchy.

6. SECURITIES SOLD UNDER AGREEMENTS TO REPURCHASE

In the ordinary course of business, certain consolidated funds have entered into certain repurchase agreements that are
subject to master agreements that provide for payment netting and that, in the case of a default or similar event with
respect to the counterparty to the master agreement, provide for netting across transactions. Generally, upon a
counterparty default, the fund can terminate all transactions under the master agreement and set off amounts it owes
across all transactions under a particular master agreement against collateral it has received under such master
agreement; provided, however, that in the case of certain defaults, the fund may only be able to terminate and set off
solely with respect to the transactions affected by the default. Generally, the funds party to these agreements manage
cash and securities collateral on a counterparty basis as permitted under each master agreement.

The table below presents the repurchase agreements that are set off, if any, as well as securities transferred to
counterparties related to those repurchase agreements (capped so that the net amount presented will not be reduced
below zero). No other material financial instruments were subject to master netting agreements or other similar
agreements. As a result of the adoption of ASU 2015-02, the Company no longer consolidates the majority of the
previously consolidated Och-Ziff funds as of January 1, 2016. The deconsolidation resulted in no amounts being
reportable as of September 30, 2016.

Gross Gross Net Amounts
Amounts of Liabilities
Amounts Offset in the in the Securities  Net
Securities Sold Under Agreements to Repurchase of " Consolidated Consolidated Transferred Amount
Recognize
Liabilities alance Balance
Sheet Sheet

(dollars in thousands)
As of December 31, 2015 $190,751 $ —$ 190,751 $190,751 $ —
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The table below presents the remaining contractual maturity of the repurchase agreements by class of collateral
pledged.

As of December 31, 2015

Overnig Greater
Securities Sold Under Agreements to Repurchase and ]Ejtp to 3090 Than 90 Total

Continugl(l)sDayS Days Days

(dollars in thousands)

Collateralized debt obligations $—  $9,004 $20,418 $— $29.422
Residential mortgage-backed securities — 87,719 6,605 59,242 153,566
United States government obligations 7,763 — — — 7,763
Total $7,763 $96,723 $27,023 $59,242 $190,751

The repurchase agreements entered into by certain of the consolidated funds may result in credit exposure to those
funds in the event the counterparty to the transaction is unable to fulfill its contractual obligations. The funds
minimize the credit risk associated with these activities by monitoring counterparty credit exposure and collateral
values on a daily basis and requiring additional collateral where appropriate.

7. VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

In the ordinary course of business, the Company sponsors the formation of funds that are considered VIEs. See Note 2
for a discussion of entities that are VIEs and the evaluation of those entities for consolidation by the Company.

The table below presents the assets and liabilities of VIEs consolidated by the Company. As a result of the adoption of
ASU 2015-02 on January 1, 2016, the Company is no longer required to consolidate the majority of the Och-Ziff
funds that were previously consolidated, including all CLOs.

September, 30

2016 elSecémber 31, 2015
Other Other
Funds CLOs Funds

(dollars in thousands)

Assets

Assets of consolidated Och-Ziff funds:

Investments, at fair value $36,830 $6,750,296 $1,199,633
Other assets of Och-Ziff funds 2,633 308,917 19,647
Total Assets $39,463 $7,059,213 $1,219,280
Liabilities

Liabilities of consolidated Och-Ziff funds:

Notes and loans payable of consolidated CLOs, at fair value $— $7,077,679 $—
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase — — 3,583
Other liabilities of Och-Ziff funds 653 34,197 9,840
Total Liabilities $653 $7,111,876 $13,423

The assets presented in the table above belong to the investors in those funds, are available for use only by the fund to
which they belong, and are not available for use by the Company. The consolidated funds have no recourse to the
general credit of the Company with respect to any liability.
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The Company’s direct involvement with funds that are VIEs and not consolidated by the Company is generally limited
to providing asset management services and, in certain cases, insignificant equity investments in the VIEs. The
maximum
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exposure to loss represents the potential loss of current investments or income and fees receivables from these entities,
as well as the obligation to repay unearned revenues, primarily incentive income subject to clawback, in the event of
any future fund losses. The Company has commitments to fund certain funds that are VIEs as discussed in Note 15.
The Company does not provide, nor is it required to provide, any type of non-contractual financial or other support to
its VIEs that are not consolidated.
The table below presents the net assets of VIEs in which the Company has variable interests as of September 30, 2016
and December 31, 2015, respectively.

September December

30,2016 31,2015

(dollars in thousands)
Net assets of unconsolidated VIEs in which the Company has a variable interest)  $3,216,329 $32,878,450

Variable interest in assets and liabilities related to unconsolidated VIEs:

Unearned revenues 93,535 314
Income and fees receivable 3,123 66,215
Investments in Och-Ziff funds 18,773 4,924
Maximum Exposure to Loss $115,431 $71,453

The significant decline in the net assets period over period was due to the adoption of ASU 2015-02 on
January 1, 2016. Prior to adoption of ASU 2015-02, management fees and incentive income were considered to be
direct variable interests in the Company’s funds. Subsequent to the adoption of ASU 2015-02, these fees were no
longer considered to be variable interests when they were deemed customary and commensurate with the services
being performed, and therefore only entities in which the Company holds other direct variable interests are
included in the disclosure.
8. OTHER ASSETS, NET
The following table presents the components of other assets, net as reported in the consolidated balance sheets:
September IDecember 31,
2016 2015

ey

(dollars in thousands)

Fixed Assets:

Aircraft held for sale $53,665 $—
Corporate aircraft 23,020 85,840
Leasehold improvements 52,646 51,814
Computer hardware and software 39,039 33,485
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 8,852 8,765
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (65,604 ) (60,899 )
Fixed assets, net 111,618 119,005
United States government obligations, at fair value 29,994 18,501
Goodwill 22,691 22,691
Investments in Och-Ziff funds 20,870 6,019
Prepaid expenses 9,725 21,472
Other 9,054 5,287
Total Other Assets, Net $203,952 $192,975
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In the third quarter of 2016, the Company reclassified one of its corporate aircraft as held for sale, as it expects to
complete the sale of this aircraft in the following 12 months. As a result, the Company recorded a loss of $4.4 million
to reduce the carrying value to the aircraft’s current estimated fair value less expected selling costs. The Company
reported the loss within general, administrative and other expenses in the Company’s consolidated statements of
comprehensive income (loss).
9. OTHER LIABILITIES
The following table presents the components of other liabilities as reported in the consolidated balance sheets:
SeptemberDécember 31,
2016 2015

(dollars in thousands)
FCPA settlements liability (Note 15) $412,101 $§ —

Unearned revenues (D 93,721 314
Accrued expenses 28,534 54,692
Deferred rent credit 14,615 17,436
Other 15,243 11,371
Total Other Liabilities $564,214 $ 83,813

The significant increase in unearned revenues was the result of the deconsolidation of the majority of the
(1)Company’s funds upon the adoption of ASU 2015-02 on January 1, 2016. Prior to the deconsolidation, incentive
income from the consolidated funds was eliminated in consolidation.
10. DEBT OBLIGATIONS
As of September 30, 2016, the Company’s outstanding indebtedness was primarily comprised of senior notes (the
“Senior Notes”), borrowings under a revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) and a secured term loan to
finance the purchase of a new corporate aircraft (the “Aircraft Loan”).
Senior Notes
On November 20, 2014, the Company issued $400.0 million of Senior Notes due November 20, 2019, unless earlier
redeemed or repurchased. The Senior Notes were issued at a price of 99.417% of the aggregate principal amount and
bear interest at a rate per annum of 4.50% payable semiannually in arrears. The Senior Notes are unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations issued by a subsidiary of the Company, Och-Ziff Finance Co. LLC (“Och-Ziff Finance”),
and are fully and unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, on an unsecured and unsubordinated basis by
0OZ Management, OZ Advisors I and OZ Advisors II (collectively, the “Senior Notes Guarantors”).
The Senior Notes may be redeemed from time to time at the Company’s option, in whole or in part, at a redemption
price equal to the greater of 100% of the principal amount to be redeemed and a make-whole redemption price (as
defined in the Senior Notes indenture), in either case, plus any accrued and unpaid interest. If a change of control
repurchase event occurs, the Company will be required to offer to repurchase the Senior Notes at a price equal to
101% of the aggregate principal amount, plus any accrued and unpaid interest.
The Senior Notes do not have any financial maintenance covenants. However, the Senior Notes include certain
covenants, including limitations on Och-Ziff Finance’s and, as applicable, the Senior Notes Guarantors’ ability to,
subject to exceptions, incur indebtedness secured by liens on voting stock or profit participating equity interests of
their respective subsidiaries or merge, consolidate or sell, transfer or lease all or substantially all assets. The Senior
Notes also provide for customary events of default, bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization that may cause the
Senior Notes to become immediately due and payable, plus any accrued and unpaid interest.
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Revolving Credit Facility

On November 20, 2014, the Company entered into a $150.0 million, 5-year unsecured Revolving Credit Facility,
which was subsequently amended on December 29, 2015, the proceeds of which may be used for working capital,
general corporate purposes or other liquidity needs. The facility matures on November 20, 2019. The borrower under
the Revolving Credit Facility is OZ Management and the facility is guaranteed by OZ Advisors I, OZ Advisors I and
Och-Ziff Finance. The Company is able to increase the maximum amount of credit available under the facility to
$225.0 million if certain conditions are satisfied. On April 29, 2016, the Company borrowed $120.0 million pursuant
to the Revolving Credit Facility. As of September 30, 2016, the Company had $120.0 million of outstanding
borrowings under the facility.

The Company is subject to a fee of 0.10% to 0.25% per annum on undrawn commitments during the term of the
Revolving Credit Facility. Outstanding borrowings will bear interest at a rate per annum of LIBOR plus 1.00% to
2.00%, or a base rate plus 0% to 1.00%. The commitment fees and the spreads over LIBOR or the base rate are based
on OZ Management’s credit rating throughout the term of the facility. The interest rate on the drawn portion of the
commitment as of September 30, 2016 was LIBOR plus 1.75%, and the undrawn commitment fee was 0.20%.

The Revolving Credit Facility includes two financial maintenance covenants. The first covenant prohibits total
fee-paying assets under management as of the last day of any fiscal quarter to be less than $22.0 billion for two
successive quarters. The second covenant prohibits the economic income leverage ratio (as defined in the Revolving
Credit Facility) as of the last day of any fiscal quarter from exceeding 4.0 to 1.0. The Revolving Credit Facility allows
a limited right to cure an event of default resulting from noncompliance with the economic income leverage ratio test
with an equity contribution made to the borrower, OZ Management. Such cure right may not be used more than two
times in any four-quarter period or more than three times during the term of the facility.

The Revolving Credit Facility includes provisions that restrict or limit, among other things, the ability of Och-Ziff
Operating Group from:

dncurring additional indebtedness or issuing certain equity interest.

Creating liens.

Paying dividends or making certain other payments when there is a default or event of default under the Revolving
Credit Facility.

Merging, consolidating, selling or otherwise disposing of its assets.

€ngaging in certain transactions with shareholders or affiliates.

€ngaging in a substantially different line of business.

Amending its organizational documents in a manner materially adverse to the lenders.

The Revolving Credit Facility permits the Och-Ziff Operating Group to incur, among other things, up to

$150.0 million of indebtedness, up to an additional $200.0 million of indebtedness for financing of CLO risk retention
investments and additional indebtedness so long as, after giving effect to the incurrence of such indebtedness, it is in
compliance with an economic income leverage ratio of 4.0 to 1.0 and no default or event of default has occurred and is
continuing. The facility also permits the Och-Ziff Operating Group to create liens to, among other things, secure
indebtedness related to financing of CLO risk retention investments, as well as other indebtedness and obligations of
up to $50.0 million.

Aircraft Loan

On February 14, 2014, the Company entered into the Aircraft Loan to finance installment payments towards the
purchase of a new corporate aircraft that was delivered to the Company in February 2015. The Aircraft Loan is
guaranteed by OZ Management, OZ Advisors I and OZ Advisors II. As of September 30, 2016, $47.8 million was
outstanding under the Aircraft Loan.
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Outstanding borrowings bear interest at a rate of 3.22% per annum, and the balance is payable in equal monthly
installments of principal and interest over the term of the facility beginning on the aircraft delivery date, with a
balloon payment of $30.8 million due upon maturity on February 4, 2022. There are no financial covenants associated
with the Aircraft Loan. The Aircraft Loan includes other customary terms and conditions, including customary events
of default and covenants.
Notes and Loans Payable of Consolidated CLOs
Prior to the adoption of ASU 2015-02 on January 1, 2016, the Company consolidated the CLOs it manages. As a
result, the senior and subordinated notes and loans issued by the CLOs were included in the Company’s consolidated
balance sheet as of December 31, 2015. Notes and loans payable of the consolidated CLOs are collateralized by the
assets held by the CLOs and the assets of one CLO may not be used to satisfy the liabilities of another. This collateral
generally consists of corporate loans, corporate bonds and other securities. As of December 31, 2015, the fair value of
the CLO assets was $7.1 billion.
The Company elected to carry these notes and loans payable at fair value in its consolidated balance sheet to mitigate
the accounting mismatch between the carrying values of the assets and liabilities of the consolidated CLOs prior to
deconsolidation. The Company recorded net gains of $130.1 million and $91.6 million for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2015. These net losses are included within net gains (losses) of consolidated Och-Ziff funds in
the statements of comprehensive income. The majority of these changes relate to changes in instrument specific credit
risk, as the majority of these are floating-rate instruments.
The table below presents information related to the CLO notes and loans outstanding as of December 31, 2015. The
subordinated notes have no stated interest rate, and are entitled to any excess cash flows after contractual payments are
made to the senior secured notes and loans. As a result of the adoption of ASU 2015-02 referenced above, there were
no notes or loans payable of consolidated CLOs as of September 30, 2016.

As of December 31, 2015

Borrowings Fair Value Weighted-Average Weighted—Average

Outstanding Interest Rate Maturity in Years

(dollars in thousands)
Senior secured notes and loans payable of
consolidated CLOS $6,810,350 $6,636,838 2.45% 10.5

Subordinated notes payable of consolidated CLOs 688,578 440,841 N/A 10.5
Total Notes and Loans Payable of Consolidated CLOs$7,498,928 $7,077,679
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11. GENERAL, ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER
The following table presents the components of general, administrative and other expenses as reported in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss):
Three Months
Ended September
30,
2016 2015 2016 2015

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

(dollars in thousands)

Professional services $18,179 $23,331 $61,374 $51,589
Recurring placement and related service fees 8,808 12,553 31,362 37,427
Occupancy and equipment 9,412 8,724 27,903 25,643
Information processing and communications 7,997 8,577 26,671 22,694
Insurance 3,999 4,213 12,030 12,586
Business development 2,458 3,644 10916 10,960
Other expenses 7,456 3,909 13,964 14,326
58,309 64,951 184,220 175,225
FCPA settlements liability accrual (Note 15) (2,184 ) — 412,101 —

Changes in tax receivable agreement liability (11,819 ) 533 (11,990 ) (47,893 )

Total General, Administrative and Other $44,306 $65,484 $584,331 $127,332

12. INCOME TAXES

The computation of the effective tax rate and provision at each interim period requires the use of certain estimates and
significant judgment including, but not limited to, the expected operating income for the year, projections of the
proportion of income earned and taxed in foreign jurisdictions, permanent differences, and the likelihood of
recovering deferred tax assets existing as of the balance sheet date. The estimates used to compute the provision for
income taxes may change as new events occur, additional information is obtained or as tax laws and regulations
change. Additionally, the Company records the majority of its incentive income and discretionary cash bonuses in the
fourth quarter each year. Accordingly, the effective tax rate for interim periods is not indicative of the tax rate
expected for a full year.

The Registrant and each of the Och-Ziff Operating Group entities are partnerships for U.S. federal income tax
purposes. Due to the Company’s legal structure, only a portion of the income earned by the Company is subject to
corporate-level tax rates in the United States and in foreign jurisdictions.

The provision for income taxes includes federal, state and local taxes in the United States and foreign taxes at an
approximate effective tax rate of 24.1% and 16.1% for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015,
respectively. The provision for income taxes includes federal, state and local taxes in the United States and foreign
taxes at an approximate effective tax rate of -14.1% and 28.9% for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and
2015, respectively. The reconciling items from the Company’s statutory rate to the effective tax rate were driven
primarily by the following: (i) a portion of the Company’s consolidated net income is not subject to federal, state and
local corporate income taxes in the United States, as these amounts are allocated to the executive managing directors
on their Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units or to fund investors in the Company’s consolidated funds (each of which is
included within noncontrolling interests); (ii) a portion of the income earned by the Company is subject to the New
York City unincorporated business tax; (iii) certain foreign subsidiaries are subject to foreign corporate income taxes;
and (iv) substantially all of the accrual related to the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the “FCPA”) settlements described
in Note 15 was treated as a non-deductible expense when determining income tax expense.
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sustained upon examination by tax authorities. For uncertain tax positions in which the benefit to be realized does not
meet the
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“more likely than not” threshold, the Company establishes a liability, which is included within other liabilities in the
consolidated balance sheets.

As of September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the Company had a liability for unrecognized tax benefits of

$7.0 million. As of and for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, the Company did not accrue interest
or penalties related to uncertain tax positions. As of September 30, 2016, the Company does not believe that there will
be a significant change to the uncertain tax positions during the next 12 months. The Company’s total unrecognized tax
benefits that, if recognized, would affect its effective tax rate was $4.3 million as of September 30, 2016.

13. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER CLASS A SHARE

Basic earnings (loss) per Class A Share is computed by dividing the net income (loss) allocated to Class A
Shareholders by the weighted-average number of Class A Shares outstanding for the period. For the three months
ended September 30, 2016, and 2015, the Company included 1,060,924 RSUs and 599,804 RSUs, respectively, that
have vested but have not been settled in Class A Shares in the weighted-average Class A Shares outstanding used in
the calculation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per Class A Share. For the nine months ended September 30, 2016,
and 2015 the Company included 1,162,390 RSUs and 1,094,730 RSUs, respectively, that have vested but have not
been settled in Class A Shares in the weighted-average Class A Shares outstanding used to calculate basic and diluted
(loss) earnings per Class A Share.

The following tables present the computation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per Class A Share:

Number of
Net ger
Income Earnings Antidilutive
Allocate dWeighted-Average Per g Units
Three Months Ended September 30, 2016 Class A Shares Excluded
to Class . Class A
Outstanding from
A Share )
Diluted
Shareholders .
Calculation

(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Basic $14,285 182,521,225 $ 0.08
Effect of dilutive securities:
Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units 9,782 297,317,019 —
RSUs — — 14,470,201
Diluted $24,067 479,838,244 $ 0.05
Number of
Net ger
Income Earnings Antidilutive
Allocate dWeighted-Average or &% Units
Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 Class A Shares Excluded
to Class . Class A
Outstanding from
A Share )
Diluted
Shareholders .
Calculation

(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Basic $17,417 177,805,122 $0.10
Effect of dilutive securities:

Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units 13,872 301,874,006 —
RSUs — 4,492,396 —
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Number of
Antidilutive
lzito%;)tis d Weighted-Average ]I;ers Units
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 Class A Shares Excluded
to Class A . Class A
Outstanding from
Shareholders Share )
Diluted
Calculation

(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Basic $(133,642) 182,508,296 $(0.73)
Effect of dilutive securities:
Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units (226,476 ) 297,317,120 —
RSUs — — 14,092,299
Diluted $(360,118) 479,825,416 $(0.75)
Number of
Net er L
Income Barnines Antidilutive
Allocate dWeighted—Average Per g Units
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 Class A Shares Excluded
to Class j Class A
Outstanding from
A Share )
Shareholders Diluted
Calculation

(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Basic $48,048 177,711,669 $0.27

Effect of dilutive securities:

Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units — — 301,876,001
RSUs — 3,806,081 —

Diluted $48,048 181,517,750 $ 0.26

14. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Due from Related Parties

Amounts due from related parties relate primarily to amounts due from the Och-Ziff funds for expenses paid on their
behalf. These amounts are reimbursed to the Company on an ongoing basis.

Due to Related Parties

Amounts due to related parties relate primarily to future payments owed to the Company’s executive managing
directors and the Ziffs under the tax receivable agreement, as discussed further in Note 15.

Notes and Loans Payable of Consolidated CLOs

As of December 31, 2015, $100.4 million of the notes and loans payable of consolidated CLOs was held by certain
funds managed by the Company.

Management Fees and Incentive Income Earned from the Och-Ziff Funds

The Company earns substantially all of its management fees and incentive income from the Och-Ziff funds, which are
considered related parties as the Company manages the operations of and makes investment decisions for these funds.
Management Fees and Incentive Income Earned from Related Parties and Waived Fees

Prior to the 2007 Offerings, the Company did not charge management fees or earn incentive income on investments
made by the Company’s executive managing directors, employees and other related parties. Following the 2007

60



Edgar Filing: Och-Ziff Capital Management Group LLC - Form 10-Q

Offerings, the Company began charging management fees and earning incentive income on new investments made in
the funds by executive managing directors and certain other related parties, including the reinvestment by executive
managing directors of the after-tax

33

61



Edgar Filing: Och-Ziff Capital Management Group LLC - Form 10-Q

OCH-ZIFF CAPITAL MANAGEMENT GROUP LLC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — UNAUDITED
SEPTEMBER 30, 2016

proceeds from the 2007 Offerings. However, in January 2015, the Company began to waive management fees and
incentive income on new investments by its executive managing directors and certain other related parties. The
Company continues to waive fees for employee investments in the funds.
The following table presents management fees and incentive income charged on investments held by related parties
and amounts waived by the Company for related parties before the impact of eliminations related to the consolidated
funds:

Three Months Nine Months

Ended Ended September

September 30, 30,

2016 2015 2016 2015

(dollars in thousands)
Fees charged on investments held by related parties:

Management fees $4.472 $5,523 $13,731 $15,543
Incentive income $825 $86 $2,825 $1,795
Fees waived on investments held by related parties:

Management fees $4.443 $4,439 $13,162 $12,829
Incentive income $397 $318 $1,146 $902

Corporate Aircraft

The Company’s corporate aircraft are used primarily for business purposes. From time to time, certain executive
managing directors use the aircraft for personal use. For the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, the
Company charged $74 thousand and $322 thousand, respectively, for personal use of the aircraft by certain executive
managing directors. For the nine months ended September 30, 2016, and 2015, the Company charged $669 thousand
and $890 thousand, respectively, for personal use of the aircraft by certain executive managing directors.

15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Tax Receivable Agreement

The purchase of Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units from the executive managing directors and the Ziffs with the
proceeds from the 2007 Offerings, and subsequent taxable exchanges by them of Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units
for Class A Shares on a one-for-one basis (or, at the Company’s option, a cash equivalent), resulted, and, in the case of
future exchanges, are anticipated to result, in an increase in the tax basis of the tangible and intangible assets of the
Och-Ziff Operating Group that would not otherwise have been available. As a result, the Company expects that its
future tax liability will be reduced. Pursuant to the tax receivable agreement entered into among the Company, the
executive managing directors and the Ziffs, the Company has agreed to pay to the executive managing directors and
the Ziffs 85% of the amount of tax savings, if any, actually realized by the Company.

The Company recorded its initial estimate of future payments under the tax receivable agreement as a decrease to
paid-in capital and an increase in amounts due to related parties in the consolidated financial statements. Subsequent
adjustments to the liability for future payments under the tax receivable agreement related to changes in estimated
future tax rates or state income tax apportionment are recognized through current period earnings within general,
administrative and other expenses in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss).

In connection with the departure of certain former executive managing directors since the 2007 Offerings, the right to
receive payments under the tax receivable agreement by those former executive managing directors was contributed to
the Och-Ziff Operating Group. As a result, the Company expects to pay to the remaining executive managing directors
and the Ziffs approximately 78% (from 85% at the time of the 2007 Offerings) of the amount of cash savings, if any,
in federal, state and local income taxes in the United States that the Company actually realizes as a result of the
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The estimate of the timing and the amount of future payments under the tax receivable agreement involves several
assumptions that do not account for the significant uncertainties associated with these potential payments, including
an assumption that Och-Ziff Corp will have sufficient taxable income in the relevant tax years to utilize the tax
benefits that would give rise to an obligation to make payments. The actual timing and amount of any actual payments
under the tax receivable agreement will vary based upon these and a number of other factors. As of September 30,
2016, the estimated future payment under the tax receivable agreement was $488.8 million, which is recorded in due
to related parties on the consolidated balance sheets.

In September 2016, the Company amended the tax receivable agreement to provide that no amounts will be due or
payable under the agreement with respect to the 2015 and 2016 taxable years. As a result, the Company released
approximately $91.0 million of previously accrued tax receivable agreement liability, which reduced its deferred
income tax assets by $36.9 million. The net impact of $54.1 million was treated as an increase to shareholders’ equity.
The table below presents the maximum amounts that would be payable under the tax receivable agreement assuming
that the Company will have sufficient taxable income each year to fully realize the expected tax savings. In light of the
numerous factors affecting the Company’s obligation to make such payments, the timing and amounts of any such
actual payments may differ materially from those presented in the table.

Potential
Payments
Under
Tax
Receivable
Agreement
(dollars in
thousands)
October 1, 2016 through December 31, 2016 $ —
2017 —
2018 43,503
2019 45,368
2020 47,958
2021 50,136
Thereafter 301,813
Total Payments $ 488,778

Lease Obligations

The Company has non-cancelable operating leases for its headquarters in New York expiring in 2029 and various
other operating leases for its offices in London, Hong Kong, Mumbai, Beijing, Dubai, Shanghai and Houston expiring
on various dates through 2024. The Company also has operating leases for other locations, as well as operating leases
on computer hardware. Certain operating leases allow for rent holiday periods. The Company recognizes expense
related to its operating leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term taking into account these rent holiday periods.
The related lease commitments have not changed materially since December 31, 2015.

Litigation

From time to time, the Company is involved in litigation and claims incidental to the conduct of the Company’s
business. The Company is also subject to extensive scrutiny by regulatory agencies globally that have, or may in the
future have, regulatory authority over the Company and its business activities. This has resulted, or may in the future
result, in regulatory agency investigations, litigation and subpoenas and costs related to each.
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On September 29, 2016, the Company reached settlements with the DOJ and the SEC, resolving their investigations
into the Company’s former private investment business in Africa and a 2007 investment by the Libyan Investment

Authority in certain
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of the Company’s funds. As part of the settlements, the Company entered into a Deferred Prosecution Agreement with
the DOJ, and a Company subsidiary, OZ Africa Management GP, LLC (“OZ Africa”), agreed to plead guilty to one
count of conspiracy to violate the FCPA. The Company also agreed to settle an administrative proceeding with the
SEC involving violations of the FCPA and the Investment Advisers Act. Pursuant to the settlement agreements with
the DOJ and the SEC, the Company agreed to pay $412.1 million in penalties and disgorgement and to implement
enhanced internal accounting controls and policies, to separate the chief compliance officer from other officer
positions, and to engage an independent compliance monitor for three years, subject to early termination or extension.
On May 5, 2014, a purported class of shareholders filed a lawsuit against the Company in the U.S. District Court for
the Southern District of New York (Menaldi v. Och-Ziff Capital Mgmt., et al.). The amended complaint asserts claims
on behalf of all purchasers of Company securities from February 9, 2012 to August 22, 2014, and asserts claims under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Daniel Och, Joel Frank and Michael Cohen are also named defendants. The
amended complaint alleges, among other things, breaches of certain disclosure obligations with respect to matters that
were under investigation by the SEC and the DOJ. On March 16, 2015, the Company and Messrs. Och and Frank
moved to dismiss the amended complaint. On February 17, 2016, the court entered an order granting the motion to
dismiss in part and denying it in part, and dismissed Mr. Cohen from the action. On March 2, 2016, the Company and
Messrs. Och and Frank filed a motion for reconsideration requesting that the court reconsider its ruling insofar as it
denied the motion to dismiss and further requesting that the court dismiss the amended complaint in its entirety. The
motion for reconsideration was denied on May 6, 2016. On March 23, 2016, the Company and Messrs. Och and Frank
filed their answer to the amended complaint. Plaintiffs have until November 17, 2016, to file a second amended
complaint.

On May 30, 2014, a shareholder derivative action was filed against the Company in the Supreme Court of the State of
New York, County of New York (Stokes v. Och, et al.). The amended complaint asserts claims derivatively on behalf
of the Company against all of the Company’s directors and alleges that the directors breached their fiduciary duties and
other disclosure obligations with respect to the matters described above. On July 27, 2015, the Supreme Court of the
State of New York ruled from the bench that it was granting defendants’ motion to dismiss the amended complaint for
failure to plead demand futility. On August 10, 2015, the court in the Stokes matter entered a written order dismissing
the action. The plaintiff’s time to appeal the court’s decision on the motion to dismiss has lapsed.

On September 2, 2015, a shareholder derivative action was filed in the Supreme Court of the State of New York,
County of New York (Kumari v. Och, et al.). The complaint asserts derivative claims on behalf of the Company
against all of the Company’s directors and alleges breaches of fiduciary duty and other misconduct with respect to
matters that were under investigation by the SEC and the DOJ. On October 23, 2015, the Company’s directors moved
to dismiss the complaint. On September 23, 2016, the court entered an order granting the motion to dismiss and
dismissing the case in its entirety. The plaintiff’s time to appeal the court’s decision on the motion to dismiss has
lapsed.

The Company believes these cases are without merit and intends to defend them vigorously. The Company is unable
to reasonably estimate the amount of loss or range of loss possible for these cases.

Investment Commitments

From time to time, certain funds consolidated by the Company may have commitments to fund investments. These
commitments are funded through contributions from investors in those funds, including the Company if it is an
investor in the relevant fund.

The Company has unfunded capital commitments of $19.5 million to certain funds it manages. It expects to fund these
commitments over the next five years. In addition, certain of the Company’s executive managing directors,
collectively, have capital commitments to funds managed by the Company of up to $39.9 million. The Company has
guaranteed these commitments in the event any executive managing director fails to fund any portion when called by
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The Company has committed to fund a portion of the operating budget for a joint venture. The amount of the
commitment will be equal to the actual costs incurred in the projects the joint venture manages, as determined by the
Company and its joint venture partner. The joint venture periodically returns substantially all of the cash that is
contributed by the Company, as expenses incurred by the joint venture are generally reimbursed by the projects it
manages.

Other Contingencies

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into contracts that provide a variety of general indemnifications.
Such contracts include those with certain service providers, brokers and trading counterparties. Any exposure to the
Company under these arrangements could involve future claims that may be made against the Company. Currently, no
such claims exist or are expected to arise and, accordingly, the Company has not accrued any liability in connection
with such indemnifications.

16. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company’s operating segments are the Och-Ziff Funds segment and the Company’s real estate business. The
Och-Ziff Funds, which provides asset management services to the Company’s multi-strategy funds, dedicated credit
funds and other alternative investment vehicles, is currently the Company’s only reportable operating segment under
GAAP. The Company’s real estate business, which provides asset management services to its real estate funds, is
included in the Other Operations, as it does not meet the threshold of a reportable operating segment under GAAP.

In addition to analyzing the Company’s results on a GAAP basis, management also reviews its results on an “Economic
Income” basis. Economic Income excludes the adjustments described below that are required for presentation of the
Company’s results on a GAAP basis, but that management does not consider when evaluating operating performance
in any given period. Management uses Economic Income as the basis on which it evaluates the Company’s financial
performance and makes resource allocation and other operating decisions. Management considers it important that
investors review the same operating information that it uses.

Economic Income is a measure of pre-tax operating performance that excludes the following from the Company’s
results on a GAAP basis:

Income allocations to the Company’s executive managing directors on their direct interests in the Och-Ziff Operating
Group. Management reviews operating performance at the Och-Ziff Operating Group level, where the Company’s
operations are performed, prior to making any income allocations.

Reorganization expenses related to the 2007 Offerings, equity-based compensation expenses, depreciation and
amortization expenses, and loss on asset held for sale, as management does not consider these non-cash expenses to
be reflective of operating performance. However, the fair value of RSUs that are settled in cash to employees or
executive managing directors is included as an expense at the time of settlement.

Changes in the tax receivable agreement liability and net gains on investments in Och-Ziff funds, as management does
not consider these to be reflective of operating performance.

Amounts related to the consolidated Och-Ziff funds, including the related eliminations of management fees and
incentive income, as management reviews the total amount of management fees and incentive income earned in
relation to total assets under management and fund performance. The Company also defers the recognition of
incentive income allocations from the consolidated Och-Ziff funds until all clawback contingencies are resolved,
consistent with the revenue recognition policy for the funds the Company does not consolidate.

In addition, expenses related to compensation and profit-sharing arrangements based on fund investment performance
are recognized at the end of the relevant commitment period, as management reviews the total compensation expense
related to these arrangements in relation to any incentive income earned by the relevant fund.
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Finally, management reviews Economic Income revenues by presenting management fees net of recurring placement

and related service fees, rather than considering these fees an expense, and by excluding the impact of eliminations

related to the consolidated Och-Ziff funds.

Management does not regularly review assets by operating segment in assessing operating segment performance and
the allocation of company resources; therefore, the Company does not present total assets by operating segment. All
interest expense related to outstanding indebtedness is allocated to the Och-Ziff Funds segment.

Och-Ziff Funds Segment Results
Three Months

Ended September Nine Months Ended
30 September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015

(dollars in thousands)
Och-Ziff Funds Segment:

Economic Income Revenues $131,101 $194,825 $433,542 $610,092

Economic Income

$52,725 $106,780 $(229,800) $369,954

Reconciliation of Och-Ziff Funds Segment Revenues to Consolidated Revenues

Total consolidated revenues
Adjustment to management fees(!)
Adjustment to incentive income(®
Other Operations revenues

Income of consolidated Och-Ziff funds

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015

(dollars in thousands)
$148,105 $325,903 $489,105 $980,153

(8,808 ) (75 ) (31,362 ) (2,652 )
— 3,338 — 14,511

(7,738 ) (7,410 ) (22,939 ) (20,784 )
(458 ) (126,931 ) (1,262 ) (361,136 )

Economic Income Revenues - Och-Ziff Funds Segment $131,101 $194,825 $433,542 $610,092

Adjustment to present management fees net of recurring placement and related service fees, as management
(1)considers these fees a reduction in management fees, not an expense. The impact of eliminations related to the

consolidated Och-Ziff funds is also removed.

(2) Adjustment to exclude the impact of eliminations related to the consolidated Och-Ziff funds.
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Reconciliation of Och-Ziff Funds Economic Income to Net Income (Loss) Allocated to Class A Shareholders
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015

(dollars in thousands)

Net income (loss) allocated to Class A Shareholders—GAAP $14,285 $17,417 $(133,642) $48,048
Net income (loss) allocated to the Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units 16,313 43,505 (187,338 ) 175,239
Equity-based compensation, net of RSUs settled in cash 18,298 27,547 56,311 86,590
Income taxes 9,986 12,422 39,436 119,607
Adj}lstment for incentive income allocations from consolidated funds (3384 ) — (40,662 )
subject to clawback

Allocations to Och-Ziff Operating Group D Units 950 3,247 2,850 14,696
Adjustment for expenses relgted to compensation and profit-sharing 2741 3.813 5.430 7.407
arrangements based on fund investment performance

Reorganization expenses — 4,018 — 12,052
Changes in tax receivable agreement liability (11,819 ) 533 (11,990 ) (47,893 )
Depreciation, amortization and loss on asset held for sale 7,965 2,986 14,947 8,135
Other adjustments (1,299 ) (556 ) (2,672 ) (446 )
Other Operations (4,695 ) (4,768 ) (13,132 ) (12,819 )
Economic Income - Och-Ziff Funds Segment $52,725 $106,780 $(229,800) $369,954

17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Preferred Units Offering

On October 5, 2016, the Company completed a $250.0 million issuance and sale of 250,000 Class A Cumulative
Preferred Units (the “Preferred Units”) in each of OZ Management LP, OZ Advisors LP and OZ Advisors II LP (each, a
subsidiary of the Company and an “Operating Group Entity”’), pursuant to a securities purchase agreement, dated
September 29, 2016 (the “Purchase Agreement”), to certain of the Company’s executive managing directors, including
Daniel S. Och (“the EMD Purchasers”). Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the EMD Purchasers agreed to purchase
up to a total of 400,000 Preferred Units for an aggregate amount of up to $400.0 million. Up to an additional $150.0
million of Preferred Units are expected to be sold to the EMD Purchasers in January 2017, subject to the satisfaction
of certain conditions, including the absence of a material adverse change, the absence of a default or an event of
default with respect to the Company’s material agreements and instruments, the receipt by the EMD Purchasers of
redemption proceeds from one or more Och-Ziff funds sufficient to purchase the Preferred Units in the subsequent
closing, and certain other conditions.

The Preferred Units are a new class of non-voting preferred equity interests in the Operating Group Entities and have
an aggregate liquidation preference of $1,000, plus accrued and unpaid distributions. Subject to certain exceptions,
unless distributions on the Preferred Units are declared and paid in cash for the then current distribution period and all
preceding periods after the initial closing, the Operating Group Entities may not declare or pay distributions on or
repurchase any of their equity securities that rank equal with or junior to the Preferred Units. The Company used the
proceeds from the Preferred Units issued in October 2016, as well as cash on hand, to pay the $412.1 million in
penalties and disgorgement in October 2016 related to the settlements with the SEC and the DOJ discussed in Note
15. The Company expects to use the proceeds from the second closing of the Preferred Units in January 2017 for
working capital and general corporate purposes.
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Pursuant to the terms of the Preferred Units, distributions on the Preferred Units are payable on the liquidation
preference amount on a cumulative basis at an initial distribution rate of 0% per annum until February 19, 2020 (the

“Step Up Date”), after which the distribution rate will increase in stages thereafter to a maximum of 10% per annum on
and after the
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eighth anniversary of the Step Up Date. In addition, following the occurrence of a change of control event, the
Operating Group Entities will redeem the Preferred Units at a redemption price equal to the liquidation preference
plus all accumulated but unpaid distributions (collectively, the “liquidation value”). For so long as the Operating Group
Entities do not redeem all of the outstanding Preferred Units, the distribution rate will increase by 7% per annum,
beginning on the 31st day following such change in control. Pursuant to the terms of the Preferred Units, the
Operating Group Entities will not be required to effect such redemption until the earlier of (i) 91 days after the
maturity date of the Revolving Credit Facility and (ii) the payment in full of all loans and other obligations and the
termination of all commitments thereunder.

The Operating Group Entities may, at their option, redeem the Preferred Units at a price equal to: (i) 105% of the
liquidation value until the day immediately prior to the Step Up Date; (ii) 103% of the liquidation value thereafter
until the day immediately prior to the first anniversary of the Step Up Date; (iii) 101% of the liquidation value
thereafter until the day immediately prior to the second anniversary of the Step Up Date; and (iv) thereafter at a price
equal to the liquidation value. In addition, from and after March 31, 2020, if the amounts that were distributed to
partners of the Operating Group Entities in respect of their equity interests in the Operating Group Entities (other than
amounts distributed in respect of tax distributions or certain other distributions) or utilized for repurchase of units by
such entities (or which were available but not used for such purposes) for the immediately preceding fiscal year were
in excess of $100 million in the aggregate, then an amount equal to 20% of such excess shall be utilized to redeem
Preferred Units on a pro rata basis for an amount equal to the liquidation value.

Furthermore, if the average closing price of the Company’s Class A Shares exceeds $15.00 per share for the previous
20 trading days from and after the initial closing date, the Operating Group Entities have agreed to use their
reasonable best efforts to redeem all of the outstanding Preferred Units as promptly as practicable. If such event
occurs prior to February 19, 2020, the Company has agreed to use its reasonable best efforts to obtain consents from
its lenders in order to redeem the Preferred Units as promptly as practicable.

Although the Preferred Units do not have voting rights, the consent of the holders’ committee, which initially consists
of Daniel S. Och as sole member, is required to effect (i) any amendment to or waiver of the terms of the Preferred
Units or (ii) any amendment to the limited partnership agreement of an Operating Group Entity that would have an
adverse effect on any holder of the Preferred Units. Under the terms of the Preferred Units, each Operating Group
Entity is prohibited from issuing any equity securities of such Operating Group Entity (or any debt or other securities
convertible into equity securities of such Operating Group Entity) the terms of which expressly provide that such
securities shall rank equally with, or senior to, the Preferred Units, without the prior written consent of the holders’
committee.

Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the Company agreed to reimburse Daniel S. Och and his related entities for their
reasonable out-of-pocket legal fees and expenses incurred in connection with the negotiation and execution of the
transactions contemplated thereby. These fees totaled $537 thousand, are included within other assets in the
Company’s consolidated balance sheets, and were netted against the proceeds of the sale of Preferred Units in October
2016.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

This discussion contains forward-looking statements and involves numerous risks and uncertainties, including, but not
limited to, those described in “Part II—Item 1A. Risk Factors™ of this report. Actual results may differ materially from
those contained in any forward-looking statements. This MD&A should be read in conjunction with the consolidated
financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this quarterly report. An investment in our Class A Shares
is not an investment in any of our funds.

Overview

FCPA Settlements

On September 29, 2016, we reached settlements with the DOJ and the SEC, resolving their investigations into our
former private investment business in Africa and a 2007 investment by the Libyan Investment Authority in certain of
our funds.

As part of the settlements, we entered into a Deferred Prosecution Agreement with the DOJ, and our subsidiary OZ
Africa agreed to plead guilty to one count of conspiracy to violate the FCPA. We also agreed to settle an
administrative proceeding with the SEC involving violations of the FCPA and the Investment Advisers Act. We paid a
total of $412.1 million in penalties and disgorgement. This amount was paid in October 2016 using cash on hand and
proceeds from the sale of Preferred Units discussed below.

Preferred Units Offering

As discussed in Note 17 to our consolidated financial statements, on September 29, 2016, we entered into the
Purchase Agreement with the EMD Purchasers. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the EMD Purchasers agreed to
purchase up to $400.0 million of Preferred Units. On October 5, 2016, we sold $250.0 million of the Preferred Units
to the EMD Purchasers. Up to an additional $150.0 million of Preferred Units are expected to be sold to the EMD
Purchasers in January 2017, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions. We used the proceeds from the Preferred
Units issued in October 2016, as well as cash on hand, to pay the $412.1 million in penalties and disgorgement related
to the settlements with the SEC and the DOJ discussed above. We expect to use the proceeds from the second sale of
the Preferred Units in January 2017 for working capital and general corporate purposes. See Note 17 for details
regarding the terms of the Preferred Units.

Deconsolidation on Adoption of ASU 2015-02

As a result of the adoption of ASU 2015-02, we deconsolidated the majority of our previously consolidated funds.
This resulted in a substantial decrease in assets of consolidated Och-Ziff funds, liabilities of consolidated Och-Ziff
funds, redeemable noncontrolling interests, appropriated retained deficit and shareholders’ equity attributable to
non-controlling interests in our consolidated balance sheet. Additionally, the deconsolidation has caused a significant
decrease in the amount of income of consolidated Och-Ziff funds, expenses of consolidated Och-Ziff funds, and net
gains of consolidated Och-Ziff funds in our consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss). Management fees
and incentive income from the previously consolidated funds are also no longer eliminated in consolidation.

We adopted ASU 2015-02 using the modified retrospective method of transition, which resulted in an effective date of
adoption of January 1, 2016, and a cumulative effect adjustment to opening equity to reflect the impacts of adoption.
We did not restate prior-period results. The impact to our opening retained earnings was driven by the cumulative
effect of a change in incentive income recognition for the funds no longer consolidated as further discussed below.
The net impact on our results is that incentive income from these funds will now be recognized when such amounts
are no longer subject to clawback. Prior to deconsolidation, incentive income from these previously consolidated
funds was recognized by allocating a portion of the net income of these funds to us rather than to the fund investors
(noncontrolling interests) based on the contractual terms of the relevant fund agreements. This resulted in incentive
income being recognized that was subject to clawback in the event of future losses in the respective funds.

The adoption of ASU 2015-02 and the resulting deconsolidation of the majority of the previously consolidated funds
had no impact on our Economic Income or other non-GAAP measures discussed throughout this MD&A.
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Overview of Our Financial Results

For the third quarter of 2016, we reported GAAP net income allocated to Class A Shareholders of $14.3 million,
compared to net income of $17.4 million for the third quarter of 2015, and net loss of $133.6 million for the first nine
months of 2016, compared to net income of $48.0 million for the first nine months of 2015. The decrease for the
quarter to date period was driven by lower management fees and incentive income, partially offset by a decrease in
operating expenses and income taxes. The decrease for the year to date period was primarily driven by the FCPA
settlements liability of $412.1 million accrued in the first nine months of 2016. In addition, lower management fees
and incentive income and higher non-compensation expenses, partially offset by lower income taxes and lower
compensation and benefits, also contributed to the year-over-year decrease.

For the third quarter of 2016, we reported Economic Income for the Company of $57.4 million, compared to

$111.5 million for the third quarter of 2015, and a net loss on an Economic Income basis of $216.7 million for the first
nine months of 2016, compared to net income of $382.8 million for the first nine months of 2015. The decrease for the
quarter to date period was driven by lower management fees and incentive income, partially offset by lower
non-compensation expenses. The decrease for the year to date period was primarily driven by the FCPA settlements
liability of $412.1 million accrued in the first nine months of 2016. In addition, lower management fees and incentive
income, as well as higher operating expenses also contributed to the year-over-year decrease. Economic Income for
the Company is a non-GAAP measure. For additional information regarding non-GAAP measures, as well as for a
discussion of the drivers of the year-over-year change in Economic Income, please see “—FEconomic Income Analysis.’
Overview of Assets Under Management and Fund Performance

Assets under management totaled $39.3 billion as of September 30, 2016. Longer-dated assets under management,
which are those subject to initial commitment periods of three years or longer, were $16.4 billion, or 42%, of our total
assets under management as of September 30, 2016. Assets under management in our dedicated credit, real estate and
other strategy-specific funds were $15.9 billion, comprising 41% of assets under management as of September 30,
2016.

Assets under management in our multi-strategy products totaled $23.4 billion as of September 30, 2016. OZ Master
Fund, our largest multi-strategy fund, generated a gross return of 2.7% and a net return of 1.1% year-to-date through
September 30, 2016. On a gross basis, performance-related depreciation in long/short equity special situations was
more than offset by strong positive performance in merger arbitrage, convertible and derivative arbitrage and
credit-related strategies. Assets under management for the fund were $19.8 billion as of September 30, 2016. Please
see “—Assets Under Management and Fund Performance—Multi-Strategy Funds” for additional information regarding the
returns of the OZ Master Fund.

Assets under management in our dedicated credit products totaled $12.5 billion as of September 30, 2016. Assets

under management in our opportunistic credit funds were $5.3 billion as of September 30, 2016. OZ Credit

Opportunities Master Fund, our global opportunistic credit fund, generated a gross return of 13.1% and a net return of
11.4% year-to-date through September 30, 2016. On a gross basis, performance was driven by the fund’s U.S.

portfolio. Assets under management for the fund were $1.7 billion as of September 30, 2016. Assets under

management in Institutional Credit Strategies, our asset management platform that invests in performing credits, were
$7.3 billion as of September 30, 2016.

Assets under management in our real estate funds totaled $2.1 billion as of September 30, 2016. Since inception,
Och-Ziff Real Estate Fund II, which finished its investment period in 2014, has generated a net internal rate of return
(“IRR”) of 21.8% through September 30, 2016 and a gross multiple of invested capital (“MOIC”) of 1.8x.

Market Environment

Our ability to successfully generate consistent, positive, absolute returns is dependent on our ability to execute each
fund’s investment strategy or strategies. Each strategy may be materially affected by conditions in the global markets.
Financial markets rallied sharply at the beginning of the third quarter of 2016 after the period of uncertainty leading

up to and following the outcome of the U.K. referendum on E.U. membership at the end of the second quarter. In

general, global financial markets rose during the third quarter of 2016, with the MSCI World Index generating

positive performance. Regional equity market performance was also positive during the third quarter of 2016, with

major indices in the U.S., Europe and Asia all posting gains.

’
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In the U.S., equity markets rallied sharply to begin the third quarter, with the S&P 500 closing at a new record high in
July and the yield on the 10-year U.S. Treasury reaching an all-time low early in the month. July saw U.S.
macroeconomic data and second quarter corporate earnings were generally better than expected. August was far
calmer than July, which was reflected in the low realized volatility during the month. U.S. equity markets remained
heavily influenced by interest rates in August. While the S&P 500 barely moved during August, the sell-off in the
10-year U.S. Treasury drove notable sector dispersion, as yield-sensitive sectors, such as Utilities and
Telecommunications, underperformed and Financials outperformed. September proved to be another volatile month
for U.S. equity markets, in terms of both macroeconomic news and price action, but by month-end the S&P 500 and
the yield on the 10-year U.S. Treasury were effectively unchanged.

In Europe, financial markets rallied sharply in July, largely brushing off the period of macroeconomic volatility
following the outcome of the U.K. referendum. August and September proved to be much more volatile months in
Europe, with major indices in the region experiencing sharp swings. The post-U.K. referendum investing environment
in Europe is expected to be fraught with political risks and uncertainty over the next 12 months, particularly with the
anticipated referendum in Italy and the general elections in Germany and France.

Similar to the U.S. and Europe, equity markets in Asia rose sharply in July as concerns surrounding the U.K.
referendum were ultimately shrugged off amidst improving global economic data and the generally dovish policy
outlook. In August, the economic environment in China was comparably stable, as we observed steady consumer data
and a rebound in industrial activity in the region. Consequently, equity markets in China continued to rally sharply in
August. Markets in Japan also remained strong in August, attributable in part to the ETF buying program implemented
by the Bank of Japan in late July. In September, the Bank of Japan announced that it would target rates while keeping
its negative interest rate policy (NIRP) unchanged - a notable shift in policy and a significant macroeconomic
development in the region.

Assets Under Management and Fund Performance

Our financial results are primarily driven by the combination of our assets under management and the investment
performance of our funds. Both of these factors directly affect the revenues we earn from management fees and
incentive income. Growth in assets under management due to capital placed with us by investors in our funds and
positive investment performance of our funds drive growth in our revenues and earnings. Conversely, poor investment
performance slows our growth by decreasing our assets under management and increasing the potential for
redemptions from our funds, which would have a negative effect on our revenues and earnings.

We typically accept capital from new and existing investors in our funds on a monthly basis on the first day of each
month. Investors in our funds (other than investors in our real estate funds, certain opportunistic credit funds, our
Institutional Credit Strategies products and certain other alternative investment vehicles we manage and other than
with respect to capital invested in Special Investments) typically have the right to redeem their interests in a fund
following an initial lock-up period of one to three years. Following the expiration of these lock-up periods, subject to
certain limitations, investors may redeem capital generally on a quarterly or annual basis upon giving 30 to 90 days’
prior written notice. However, upon the payment of a redemption fee to the applicable fund and upon giving 30 days’
prior written notice, certain investors may redeem capital during the lock-up period. The lock-up requirements for our
funds may generally be waived or modified at the sole discretion of each fund’s general partner or board of directors,
as applicable.

With respect to investors with quarterly redemption rights, requests for redemptions submitted during a quarter
generally are paid on the first day of the following quarter. Accordingly, quarterly redemptions generally will have no
impact on management fees during the quarter in which they are submitted. Instead, these redemptions will decrease
assets under management as of the first day of the following quarter, which reduces management fees for that quarter.
With respect to investors with annual redemption rights, redemptions paid prior to the end of a quarter impact assets
under management in the quarter in which they are paid, and therefore impact management fees for that quarter.

In a declining market, during periods when the hedge fund industry generally experiences outflows, or in response to
specific events that occur at the Company, we could experience increased redemptions and a consequent reduction in
our assets under management. Recently, our assets under management have declined and we believe this trend will
likely continue to some extent for some period of time in light of the recently settled FCPA matter, as well as the
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current redemption trend in the hedge fund industry.
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Information with respect to our assets under management throughout this report, including the tables set forth below,
includes investments by us, our executive managing directors, employees and certain other related parties. Prior to our
IPO, we did not charge management fees or earn incentive income on these investments. Following our IPO, we
began charging management fees and earning incentive income on new investments made in our funds by our
executive managing directors and certain other related parties, including the reinvestment by our executive managing
directors of their after-tax proceeds from the 2007 Offerings. However, in January 2015, we began to waive
management fees and incentive income on new investments by our executive managing directors and certain other
related parties. As of September 30, 2016, approximately 7% of our assets under management represented investments
by us, our executive managing directors, employees and certain other related parties in our funds. As of that date,
approximately 51% of these affiliated assets under management are not charged management fees and are not subject
to an incentive income calculation. Additionally, to the extent that an Och-Ziff fund is an investor in another Och-Ziff
fund, we waive or rebate a corresponding portion of the management fees charged to the fund.

As further discussed below in “—Understanding Our Results—Revenues,” we generally calculate management fees based on
assets under management as of the beginning of each quarter. The assets under management in the tables below are
presented net of management fees and incentive income as of the end of the period. Accordingly, the assets under
management presented in the tables below are not the amounts used to calculate management fees for the respective
periods.
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Summary of Changes in Assets Under Management

The tables below present the changes to our assets under management for the respective periods based on the type of

funds or investment vehicles we manage.
Three Months Ended September 30, 2016

June 30, Inflows / Distributions Appreciation / September 30,

2016 (Outflows) i{(;;ﬁirﬁons (Depreciation) 2016

(dollars in thousands)

Multi-strategy funds $26,094,394 $(3,452,066) $— $ 735,076 $23,377,404
Credit
Opportunistic credit funds 5,192,756 (11,375 ) (206,973 ) 301,937 5,276,345
Institutional Credit Strategies 7,245,508 15,432 — 4,871 7,265,811
Real estate funds 2,213,821 8,494 (76,620 ) (838 ) 2,144,857
Other 1,233,959 20,895 (50,284 ) 34,794 1,239,364
Total $41,980,438 $(3,418,620) $(333,877 ) $ 1,075,840 $39,303,781
Three Months Ended September 30, 2015
June 30, Inflows / })g:;;?utlons Appreciation / September
2015 (Outflows) . (Depreciation) 30, 2015
Reductions

(dollars in thousands)

Multi-strategy funds $32,990,458 $(1,583,355) $— $(1,926,127 ) $29,480,976
Credit
Opportunistic credit funds 5,084,611 7,860 (99,100 ) (136,027 ) 4,857,344
Institutional Credit Strategies 6,567,980 489,567 — 2,571 7,060,118
Real estate funds 2,003,552 13,246 (72,363 ) (3,678 ) 1,940,757
Other 1,323,313 (3,475 ) — (81,092 ) 1,238,746
Total $47,969,914 $(1,076,157) $(171,463 ) $(2,144,353 ) $44,577,941
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016
December 31 ,Inflows / })g:;;?utlons Appreciation/ September 30,
2015 (Outflows) Reductions (Depreciation) 2016
(dollars in thousands)
Multi-strategy funds $29,510,248 $(6,213,273) $— $ 80,429 $23,377,404
Credit
Opportunistic credit funds 5,383,629 (54,727 ) (495,373 ) 442,816 5,276,345
Institutional Credit Strategies 7,241,680 29,608 — (5,477 ) 7,265,811
Real estate funds 2,048,559 239,489 (137,985 ) (5,206 ) 2,144,857
Other 1,310,745 (553 ) (50,284 ) (20,544 ) 1,239,364
Total $45,494,861 $(5,999,456) $(683,642 ) $ 492,018 $39,303,781
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Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015

December 31 Inflows / })g:;;?utlons Appreciation / September
2014 (Outflows) Reductions (Depreciation) 30, 2015
(dollars in thousands)
Multi-strategy funds $34,100,390 $(4,184,040) $— $ (435,374 ) $29,480,976
Credit
Opportunistic credit funds 5,098,600 424,314 (636,290 ) (29,280 ) 4,857,344
Institutional Credit Strategies 5,166,734 1,884,714 — 8,670 7,060,118
Real estate funds 2,022,399 77,247 (155,304 ) (3,585 ) 1,940,757
Other 1,146,292 87,657 (1 ) 4,798 1,238,746
Total $47,534,415 $(1,710,108) $(791,595 ) $ (454,771 ) $44,577,941

In the nine months ended September 30, 2016, our funds experienced performance-related appreciation of $492.0
million and net outflows of $6.0 billion, which was comprised of $732.6 million of gross inflows and $6.7 billion of
gross outflows due to redemptions. We also had $683.6 million in distributions and other reductions, which were
primarily related to investors in our closed-end opportunistic credit and real estate funds. Excluding CLOs, pensions
and fund-of-funds were the largest sources of our gross inflows, while fund-of-funds, pensions and private banks were
our largest sources of gross outflows during the first nine months of 2016. While we expect fourth quarter
redemptions to remain somewhat elevated due to the FCPA settlements, there are several other factors that we believe
will likely influence redemptions beyond just the settlements. The hedge fund industry overall is in the midst of a
redemption cycle and there is also seasonality that can cause year-end redemptions to be higher as fund investors
rebalance their investment portfolio allocations.

In the nine months ended September 30, 2015, our funds experienced performance-related depreciation of $454.8
million and net outflows of $1.7 billion, which was comprised of $4.0 billion of gross inflows and $5.7 billion of
gross outflows due to redemptions. Distributions and other reductions were $791.6 million, which was driven by
$639.2 million in distributions to investors in our closed-end opportunistic credit and real estate funds, and a $152.4
million reduction in the OZ European Credit Opportunities Fund as a result of the expiration of the fund's investment
period. Our gross inflows included $2.0 billion within Institutional Credit Strategies primarily related to three CLOs
that closed during the first nine months of 2015. Excluding CLOs, private banks were the largest source of our gross
inflows during the first nine months of 2015, while pension funds were the largest source of our gross outflows.
Weighted-Average Assets Under Management and Average Management Fee Rate

The table below presents our weighted-average assets under management and the average management fee rate.
Weighted-average assets under management exclude the impact of third quarter investment performance for the
periods presented, as these amounts do not impact management fees calculated for the periods presented. The average
management fee rate takes into account the effect of non-fee paying assets under management, as well as our
opportunistic credit funds, Institutional Credit Strategies products, real estate funds and the other alternative
investment vehicles we manage, which generally pay lower management fees than our multi-strategy products,
consistent with the market convention for these asset classes. Please see the respective sections below for average
management fee rates by fund type.

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015

(dollars in thousands)
Weighted-average assets under management $38,794,212  $46,650,675  $41,640,771  $46,780,723
Average management fee rate 1.23 % 1.38 % 1.27 % 1.41 %
The decline in our average management fee rate for the periods presented occurred primarily because of a change in
the mix of products that comprise our assets under management. Specifically, the rate decline was driven primarily by
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lower assets under management in our multi-strategy funds as a percentage of our total assets under management. Our
average management fee will vary from period to period based on the mix of products that comprise our assets under
management.
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Effective October 1, 2016, we reduced the management fee rate for existing fund investors in virtually all of our
multi-strategy assets under management. We began the fourth quarter with an average management fee rate of
approximately 1.01% of our total assets under management, which is also reflective of the change in mix of products
that comprise our assets under management due to redemptions from our multi-strategy funds during the third quarter
of 2016. As a result, we expect management fees to decline in the near-term. We made this change to our management
fee rates to further strengthen the relationships we have with our clients, with whom we have built a strong partnership
over many years. We also want to ensure that we remain competitive on management fees, which have been gradually
trending down for the hedge fund industry. We did not adjust our incentive income rate, which remains unchanged at
20%.

Fund Performance Information

The tables below present performance information for the funds we manage. All of our funds are managed by the
Och-Ziff Funds segment with the exception of our real estate funds, which are managed by the real estate management
business included in Other Operations.

The performance information presented in this report is not indicative of the performance of our Class A Shares and is
not necessarily indicative of the future results of any particular fund, including the accrued unrecognized amounts of
incentive income. An investment in our Class A Shares is not an investment in any of our funds. There can be no
assurance that any of our existing or future funds will achieve similar results. The timing and amount of incentive
income generated from our funds are inherently uncertain. Incentive income is a function of investment performance
and realizations of investments, which vary period-to-period based on market conditions and other factors. We cannot
predict when, or if, any realization of investments will occur. Incentive income recognized for any particular period is
not a reliable indicator of incentive income that may be earned in subsequent periods.

The return information presented in this report represents, where applicable, the composite performance of all feeder
funds that comprise each of the master funds presented. Gross return information is generally calculated using the
total return of all feeder funds, net of all fees and expenses except management fees and incentive income of such
feeder funds and master funds and the returns of each feeder fund include the reinvestment of all dividends and other
income. Net return information is generally calculated as the gross returns less management fees and incentive income
(except incentive income on unrealized gains attributable to Special Investments in certain funds that could reduce
returns on these investments at the time of realization). Return information also includes realized and unrealized gains
and losses attributable to Special Investments and initial public offering investments that are not allocated to all
investors in the feeder funds. Investors that were not allocated Special Investments and initial public offering
investments may experience materially different returns.

Multi-Strategy Funds

The table below presents assets under management and investment performance for our multi-strategy funds. Assets
under management are generally based on the net asset value of these products. Management fees generally range
from 1.00% to 2.50% of assets under management. For the three months ended September 30, 2016, our
multi-strategy funds had an average management fee rate of 1.61%. We expect this rate to decline in the fourth quarter
of 2016 due to the management fee rate reductions for existing investors in our multi-strategy funds. See
“—Weighted-Average Assets Under Management and Average Management Fee Rate” above for additional information.
We generally crystallize incentive income from the majority of our multi-strategy funds on an annual basis. Incentive
income is generally equal to 20% of the realized and unrealized profits attributable to each investor. A portion of the
assets under management in each of the OZ Master Fund and our other multi-strategy funds is subject to initial
commitment periods of three years, and certain of these assets are subject to hurdle rates (generally equal to the
3-month T-bill or LIBOR rate). However, once the investment performance has exceeded the hurdle rate for a portion
of these assets, we may receive a preferential “catch-up” allocation, resulting in a potential recognition by us of a full
20% of the net profits attributable to investors in these assets. See “—Understanding Our Results—Incentive Income” for
additional information.
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Returns for the Nine Months  Annualized

Assets Under Ended September 30, Returgs Since
Inception
Management as of Through
September 30, 2016 2015 September 30,
2016
2016 2015 Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net
Fund (dollars in thousands)
OZ Master Fund® $19,777,558 $24,307,461 2.7 % 1.1 % -0.7 % -2.1 % 169% D 11.8% D
OZ Asia Master Fund 1,018,175 1,135,619 2.1 % -34 % 46 % 2.8 % 93 % 53 %
OZ Europe Master Fund 467,741 886,764 25 % 1.2 % 59 % 37 % 11.7% 1.7 %
OZ Enhanced Master Fund 824,597 1,116,080 4.0 % 23 % -2.7 % -4.1 % 109% 7.0 %

Och-Ziff European Multi-Strategy
UCITS Fund 149,286 373,139 35 % -49 % 6.7 % 41 % 44 % 1.6 %

Other funds 1,140,047 1,661913 n/m n/m n/m n/m n/m n/m
$23,377,404 $29,480,976

n/m not meaningful
The annualized returns since inception are those of the Och-Ziff Multi-Strategy Composite, which represents the
composite performance of all accounts that were managed in accordance with our broad multi-strategy mandate
that were not subject to portfolio investment restrictions or other factors that limited our investment discretion
since inception on April 1, 1994. Performance is calculated using the total return of all such accounts net of all
investment fees and expenses of such accounts, except incentive income on unrealized gains attributable to Special
Investments that could reduce returns in these investments at the time of realization, and the returns include the
reinvestment of all dividends and other income. The performance calculation for the OZ Master Fund excludes
(l)realized and unrealized gains and losses attributable to currency hedging specific to certain investors investing in
OZ Master Fund in currencies other than the U.S. Dollar. For the period from April 1, 1994 through December 31,
1997, the returns are gross of certain overhead expenses that were reimbursed by the accounts. Such
reimbursement arrangements were terminated at the inception of the OZ Master Fund on January 1, 1998. The size
of the accounts comprising the composite during the time period shown vary materially. Such differences impacted
our investment decisions and the diversity of the investment strategies followed. Furthermore, the composition of
the investment strategies we follow is subject to our discretion, has varied materially since inception and is
expected to vary materially in the future. As of September 30, 2016, the gross and net annualized returns since the
OZ Master Fund’s inception on January 1, 1998 were 12.9% and 8.7%, respectively.
The $6.1 billion, or 21%, year-over-year decrease in assets under management in our multi-strategy funds was
primarily due to capital net outflows of $6.7 billion, primarily from the OZ Master Fund. Partially offsetting the
decrease was $644.9 million of performance-related appreciation. The largest sources of gross outflows from our
multi-strategy funds were attributable to fund-of-funds, pensions and private banks. As discussed above, while we
expect fourth quarter redemptions to remain somewhat elevated due to the FCPA settlements, there are several other
factors that we believe will likely influence redemptions beyond just the settlements. The hedge fund industry overall
is in the midst of a redemption cycle and there is also seasonality that can cause year-end redemptions to be higher as
fund investors rebalance their investment portfolio allocations.
For the first nine months of 2016, the OZ Master Fund generated a gross return of 2.7% and a net return of 1.1%. On a
gross basis, performance-related depreciation in long/short equity special situations was more than offset by strong
positive performance in merger arbitrage, convertible and derivative arbitrage and credit-related strategies.
Despite a challenging start to 2016, OZ Master Fund saw the positive momentum that began in the second quarter
carry into the third quarter. In particular, we saw share prices continue to react sensibly to fundamental news and
events, a dynamic that contributed to improved performance in OZ Master Fund’s long/short equity special situations
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strategy during the third quarter. While market dynamics could shift again, the environment appears to be more
accommodating to fundamental investing.

OZ Master Fund’s merger arbitrage, convertible and derivative arbitrage, corporate credit and structured credit
strategies have each generated strong year-to-date gains through September 30, 2016. In merger arbitrage, certain
transactions in which OZ Master Fund participated closed during the third quarter, contributing to the strategy’s
year-to-date gross return of +1.3%. Convertible and derivative arbitrage generated a gross return of +0.5% during the
third quarter, driven by gains in convertible arbitrage positions, commodity-related volatility, commodity spreads and
index volatility spread trades. Year-to-date, convertible and derivative arbitrage has generated a gross return of +1.3%.
In OZ Master Fund’s credit-related strategies, widening credit spreads and certain event-driven situations added +0.4%
to the gross return within corporate credit during the third quarter, while in structured credit, a +0.9% gross return
during the quarter was attributable to the realization of recoveries in certain of our idiosyncratic situations.
Year-to-date, the corporate credit and structured credit strategies are each up +1.2% on a gross basis. Long/short
equity special situations generated a gross return of +1.9% during the quarter, recovering some of its year-to-date
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losses, with gains being driven largely by favorable, idiosyncratic catalysts and developments in a number of
positions, rather than by market factors. Year-to-date, performance in long/short equity special situations was -2.3%.
We continue to actively monitor OZ Master Fund’s capital allocations across investment strategies and geographies.
Long/short equity special situations strategy has remained the largest allocation in OZ Master Fund this year. This
allocation is not reflective of a strong directional view of the current market. We believe this is an environment in
which disciplined, bottom-up investment selection is the best approach to generating returns.
For the first nine months of 2015, the OZ Master Fund generated a gross return of -0.7% and net return of -2.1%,
driven primarily by performance in credit-related strategies and long/short equity special situations.
Credit

Assets Under

Management as of

September 30,

2016 2015

(dollars in thousands)
Opportunistic credit funds ~ $5,276,345 $4,857,344
Institutional Credit Strategies 7,265,811 7,060,118

$12,542,156 $11,917,462
Opportunistic Credit Funds
Our opportunistic credit funds seek to generate risk-adjusted returns by capturing value in mispriced investments
across disrupted, dislocated and distressed corporate, structured and private credit markets globally.
Certain of our opportunistic credit funds are open-end and allow for contributions and redemptions (subject to initial
lock-up and notice periods) on a periodic basis similar to our multi-strategy funds. Our remaining opportunistic credit
funds are closed-end, whereby investors make a commitment that is funded over an investment period. Upon the
expiration of an investment period, the investments are then sold or realized over a period of time, and distributions
are made to the investors in the fund.
Assets under management for our opportunistic credit funds are generally based on the net asset value of those funds
plus any unfunded commitments. Management fees for our opportunistic credit funds generally range from 0.50% to
1.75% of the net asset value of these funds. See “—Understanding Our Results—Incentive Income” for additional
information, including the recognition of incentive income for funds that we consolidate. For the three months ended
September 30, 2016, our opportunistic credit funds had an average management fee rate of 0.88%.
The table below presents assets under management and investment performance information for certain of our
opportunistic credit funds. Incentive income related to these funds is generally equal to 20% of realized and unrealized
profits attributable to each investor, and a portion of these assets under management is subject to hurdle rates
(generally 5% to 8%). However, once the investment performance has exceeded the hurdle rate, we may receive a
preferential “catch-up” allocation, resulting in a potential recognition by us of a full 20% of the net profits attributable to
investors in these funds. The measurement periods for these assets under management generally range from one to
five years.
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Assets Under Returns for the Nine Months Annuallzgd

Management as of Ended September 30 Returns Since

September 30, ’ Inception
Through

2016 2015 2016 2015 September 30,
2016

Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net

Fund (dollars in thousands)
OZ Credit Opportunities Master Fund $1,728,712 $1,527,555 13.1% 11.4% -1.8 % -2.5 % 16.9% 12.5%
Customized Credit Focused Platform 2,630,186 1,775,852 15.6% 11.8% 0.8 % 04 % 19.4% 14.6%
Closed-end opportunistic credit funds 458,102 1,013,205 See below for return‘m.f ormat}on onour
closed-end opportunistic credit funds.
Other funds 459,345 540,732 nm n/m n/m n/m n/m n/m
$5,276,345 $4,857,344

n/m not meaningful
The $419.0 million year-over-year increase in our opportunistic credit funds was due to capital net inflows of
$642.1 million, primarily into the Customized Credit Focused Platform, and $363.2 million of performance-related
appreciation, partially offset by distributions and other reductions of $586.3 million related to our closed-end
opportunistic credit funds. For the first nine months of 2016, the OZ Credit Opportunities Master Fund, our global
opportunistic credit fund, generated a gross return of 13.1% and a net return of 11.4%. On a gross basis, performance
was driven by the fund’s U.S. portfolio.
The table below presents assets under management, investment performance and other information for our closed-end
opportunistic credit funds. Incentive income related to these funds is generally equal to 20% of the cumulative
realized profits attributable to each investor over the life of the fund, subject to hurdle rates (generally 5% to 6%), and
is recognized at or near the end of the life of the fund when it is no longer subject to clawback. However, once the
investment performance has exceeded the hurdle rate, we may receive a preferential “catch-up” allocation, resulting in a
potential recognition by us of a full 20% of the net profits attributable to investors in these funds. The investment
periods for these funds may generally be extended for an additional one to two years.

Assets Under

Management as of Inception to Date as of September 30, 2016

September 30,
IRR
Total
2016 2015 Total . Invested  Gross®Net®) Gross A
Commltmeng o MOIC®
apital®)
Fund (Investment Period) (dollars in thousands)

OZ European Credit Opportunities Fund
(2012-2015)®

OZ Structured Products Domestic Fund
II (2011-2014)®

OZ Structured Products Offshore Fund II
(2011-2014)®

OZ Structured Products Offshore Fund I
(2010-2013)®

OZ Structured Products Domestic Fund 1
(2010-2013)®

$110,418 $283,881 $459,600 $305.487 16.6% 12.5% 1.5x
156,860 307,138 326,850 326,850 187% 14.4% 1.8 x
158,404 274,577 304,531 304,531 158% 119% 1.6 x
11,573 25,365 155,098 155,098 24.0% 19.2% 2.1 x

7,901 15,534 99,986 99,986 22.9% 18.3% 2.0 x
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Other funds 12,946 106,710 298,250 268,250 n/m n/m n/m
$458,102 $1,013,205 $1,644,315 $1,460,202

n/m not meaningful
(1)Represents funded capital commitments net of recallable distributions to investors.
Gross IRR for our closed-end opportunistic credit funds represents the estimated, unaudited, annualized return
based on the timing of cash inflows and outflows for the fund as of September 30, 2016, including the fair value of
(2)unrealized investments as of such date, together with any appreciation or depreciation from related hedging
activity. Gross IRR does not include the effects of management fees or incentive income, which would reduce the
return, and includes the reinvestment of all fund income.
Net IRR is calculated as described in footnote (2), but is reduced by all management fees, as well as paid incentive
and accrued incentive income that will be payable upon the distribution of each fund’s capital in accordance with
the terms of the relevant fund. Accrued incentive income may be higher or lower at such time. The net IRR
represents a composite rate of return for a fund and does not reflect the net IRR specific to any individual investor.

3)
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Gross MOIC for our closed-end opportunistic credit funds is calculated by dividing the sum of the net asset value
(4)of the fund, accrued incentive income, life-to-date incentive income and management fees paid and any
non-recallable distributions made from the fund by the invested capital.

( 5)These funds have concluded their investment periods, and therefore we expect assets under management for these
funds to decrease as investments are sold and the related proceeds are distributed to the investors in these funds.

Institutional Credit Strategies
Institutional Credit Strategies is our asset management platform that invests in performing credits, including leveraged
loans, high-yield bonds, private credit/bespoke financing and investment grade credit via CLOs and other customized
solutions for clients. For the three months ended September 30, 2016, our Institutional Credit Strategies products had
an average management fee rate of 0.39%.

Assets Under

Management as of

September 30,

Initial Deal

Closing Date . 2016 2015
Size

(dollars in thousands)
CLOs:
OZLMI1  July 19, 2012 $510,700 $497,908 $506,324
OZLMII November 1,2012 560,100 513,343 517,966
OZLMIII February 20,2013 653,250 612,283 614,150
OZLM IV  June 27,2013 600,000 541,515 543,673
OZLM V  December 17,2013 501,250 469,042 471,084
OZLM VI April 16,2014 621,250 597,638 593,404
OZLM VII June 26, 2014 824,750 796,600 796,767
OZLM VIII September 9, 2014 622,250 596,991 596,580
OZLM IX December 22,2014 510,208 495,255 495,900
OZLM XI March 12, 2015 510,500 491,540 491,450
OZLM XII May 28, 2015 565,650 547,914 546,435
OZLM XIII August 6, 2015 511,600 496,370 493,012
OZLM XIV December 21, 2015 507,420 497,179 —

7,498,928 7,153,578 6,666,745
Other funds n/a n/a 112,233 393,373

$7,498,928 $7,265,811 $7,060,118
Assets under management for our CLOs are generally based on the par value of the collateral and cash held in the
CLOs. However, assets under management are reduced for any investments in our CLOs held by our other funds in
order to avoid double counting these assets. Management fees for the CLOs are generally 0.50% of assets under
management. Incentive income from our CLOs is generally equal to 20% of the excess cash flows due to the holders
of the subordinated notes issued by the CLOs, subject to a 12% hurdle rate. See “—Understanding Our Results—Incentive
Income” for additional information. Because of the hurdle rate and structure of our CLOs, we do not expect to earn a
meaningful amount of incentive income from these entities, and therefore no return information is presented for these
vehicles.
The year-over-year increase in assets under management was driven primarily by the launch of an additional CLO.
Real Estate Funds
Our real estate funds generally make investments in commercial and residential real estate, including real property,
multi-property portfolios, real estate-related joint ventures, real estate operating companies and other real
estate-related assets.
Assets under management for our real estate funds are generally based on the amount of capital committed by our
fund investors during the investment period and the amount of actual capital invested for periods following the
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investment period. However, assets under management are reduced for unfunded commitments by our executive
managing directors that will be
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funded through transfers from other funds in order to avoid double counting these assets. Management fees for our
real estate funds generally range from 0.75% to 1.50% of assets under management. For the three months ended
September 30, 2016, our real estate funds had an average management fee rate of 0.97%.

The tables below present assets under management, investment performance and other information for our real estate
funds. Incentive income related to these funds is equal to 20% of the cumulative realized profits attributable to each
investor over the life of the fund, subject to hurdle rates (generally 6% to 10%). However, once the investment
performance has exceeded the hurdle rate, we may receive a preferential “catch-up” allocation, resulting in a potential
recognition by us of a full 20% of the net profits attributable to investors in these funds.

Assets Under
Management as of

September 30,

2016 2015
Fund (dollars in thousands)
Och-Ziff Real Estate Fund I $16,554  $35,664
Och-Ziff Real Estate Fund II 307,108 349,860
Och-Ziff Real Estate Fund III 1,455,032 1,447,096
Och-Ziff Real Estate Credit Fund I 285,522 —
Other funds 80,641 108,137

$2,144,857 $1,940,757
Inception to Date as of September 30, 2016

Total Investments

Total Invested  Total Gross Net Gross
CommitmenfSapital®  Value®  IRR® IRR®) MOIC®
gz;liignvestment (dollars in thousands)
Och-Ziff Real
Estate Fund $408,081 $385,351 $796,888 252% 15.6% 2.1x
1M (2005-2010)
Och-Ziff Real
Estate Fund 839,508 735,695 1,327,828 33.8% 21.8% 1.8x
1M (2011-2014)
Och-Ziff Real
Estate Fund 1,500,000 415,154 480,495 n/m n/m n/m
I® (2014-2019)
Och-Ziff Real
Estate Credit Fund 323,225 76,969 81,033 n/m n/m n/m
1® (2015-2019)
Other funds 215,348 65,095 111,011 n/m n/m n/m

$3,286,162 $1,678,264 $2,797,255
Unrealized Investments as of
September 30, 2016
Invested Total
Capital  Value

Gross
MOIC®

(dollars in

Fund (Investment Period) thousands)

Realized/Partially Realized

Investments()
Invested Total Gross Gross
Capital ~ Value IRR® MOIC®

$372,720 $790,662 26.5% 2.1x
552,240 1,106,207 39.6% 2.0x
— — n/m n/m
22,419 26,483 n/m n/m
39,848 92,436 n/m n/m

$987,227 $2,015,788
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Och-Ziff Real Estate Fund I (2005-2010)(" $12,631 $6,226 0.5x
Och-Ziff Real Estate Fund II (2011-2014)(" 183,455 221,621 1.2x
Och-Ziff Real Estate Fund III (2014-2019)® 415,154 480,495 n/m
Och-Ziff Real Estate Credit Fund I (2015-2019)® 54,550 54,550 n/m
Other funds 25,247 18,575 n/m

$691,037 $781,467

n/m not meaningful

ey
(@)
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An investment is considered partially realized when the total amount of proceeds received, including dividends,
interest or other distributions of income and return of capital, represents at least 50% of invested capital.
Invested capital represents total aggregate contributions made for investments by the fund.
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Total value represents the sum of realized distributions and the fair value of unrealized and partially realized
investments as of September 30, 2016. Total value will be impacted (either positively or negatively) by future
economic and other factors. Accordingly, the total value ultimately realized will likely be higher or lower than the
amounts presented as of September 30, 2016.
Gross IRR for our real estate funds represents the estimated, unaudited, annualized return based on the timing of
cash inflows and outflows for the aggregated investments as of September 30, 2016, including the fair value of
(4)unrealized and partially realized investments as of such date, together with any unrealized appreciation or
depreciation from related hedging activity. Gross IRR is not adjusted for estimated management fees, incentive
income or other fees or expenses to be paid by the fund, which would reduce the return.
Net IRR is calculated as described in footnote (4), but is reduced by all management fees and other fund-level fees
and expenses not adjusted for in the calculation of gross IRR. Net IRR is further reduced by paid incentive and
(5)accrued incentive income that will be payable upon the distribution of each fund’s capital in accordance with the
terms of the relevant fund. Accrued incentive income may be higher or lower at such time. The net IRR represents
a composite rate of return for a fund and does not reflect the net IRR specific to any individual investor.
Gross MOIC for our real estate funds is calculated by dividing the value of a fund’s investments by the invested
capital, prior to adjustments for incentive income, management fees or other expenses to be paid by the fund.
These funds have concluded their investment periods, and therefore we expect assets under management for these
funds to decrease as investments are sold and the related proceeds are distributed to the investors in these funds.
(S)This fund recently launched and has only invested a small portion of its committed capital; therefore, IRR and
MOIC information is not presented, as it is not meaningful.
The $204.1 million year-over-year increase in assets under management in our real estate funds was driven primarily
by additional commitments to Och-Ziff Real Estate Credit Fund I, partially offset by distributions primarily related to
Och-Ziff Real Estate Fund II.
Other
Our other assets under management are comprised of funds that are generally strategy-specific, including our equity,
Africa and energy funds. Management fees for these funds range from 0.75% to 2.25% of assets under management,
generally based on the amount of capital committed to these platforms by our fund investors. For the three months
ended September 30, 2016, our other funds had an average management fee rate of 0.97%. Incentive income for our
equity funds is generally 20% of realized and unrealized annual profits attributable to each investor. Incentive income
related to the Africa and energy funds is generally 20% of cumulative realized profits attributable to each investor, and
is subject to hurdle rates (generally 8%). Incentive income for the Africa and energy funds is generally not recognized
as revenue until at or near the end of the life of the fund when it is no longer subject to clawback. See “—Understanding
Our Results—Incentive Income” for additional information.
Longer-Term Assets Under Management
As of September 30, 2016, approximately 42% of our assets under management were subject to initial commitment
periods of three years or longer. We earn incentive income on these assets based on the cumulative investment
performance generated over this commitment period. The table below presents the amount of these assets under
management, as well as the gross amount of incentive income accrued at the fund level but for which the commitment
period has not concluded. These amounts have not yet been recognized in our revenues, as we recognize incentive
income at the end of the commitment period when amounts are no longer subject to clawback. Further, these amounts
may ultimately not be recognized as revenue by us in the event of future losses in the respective funds. See
“—Understanding Our Results—Incentive Income” for additional information.
September 30, 2016
Longer-Term Accrued
Assets Unrecognized
Under Incentive
Management Income

3)

(6)
)

(dollars in thousands)
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Multi-strategy funds $2,623,669 $ 23,029

Credit

Opportunistic credit funds 4,147,836 155,823

Institutional Credit Strategies 7,223,923  —

Real estate funds 2,144,857 121,079

Other 289,667 337
$16,429,952 $ 300,268
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We recognize incentive income on our longer-term assets under management in our multi-strategy funds and open-end
opportunistic credit funds at the end of their respective commitment periods, which are generally three to five years.
We expect the commitment period with respect to approximately 13% and 10% of the longer-term assets under
management in our multi-strategy and open-end opportunistic credit funds, respectively, to mature during the fourth
quarter of 2016. Incentive income related to assets under management in our closed-end opportunistic credit funds and
our real estate funds is generally recognized at or near the end of the life of each fund. These funds generally begin to
make distributions after the conclusion of their respective investment period, as presented in the tables above.
However, these investment periods may generally be extended for an additional one to two years.

Understanding Our Results

Revenues

Our operations have been financed primarily by cash flows generated by our business. Our principal sources of
revenues are management fees and incentive income. For any given period, our revenues are influenced by the amount
of our assets under management, the investment performance of our funds and the timing of when we recognize
incentive income for certain assets under management as discussed below.

The ability of investors to contribute capital to and redeem capital from our funds causes our assets under
management to fluctuate from period to period. Fluctuations in assets under management also result from our funds’
investment performance. Both of these factors directly impact the revenues we earn from management fees and
incentive income. For example, a $1 billion increase or decrease in assets under management subject to a 2%
management fee would generally increase or decrease annual management fees by $20 million. If net profits
attributable to a fee-paying fund investor were $10 million in a given year, we generally would earn incentive income
equal to $2 million, assuming a 20% incentive income rate, a one-year commitment period, no hurdle rate and no
high-water marks from prior years.

For any given quarter, our revenues are influenced by the combination of assets under management and the
investment performance of our funds. For the first three quarters of each year, our revenues are primarily comprised of
the management fees we have earned for each respective quarter. In addition, we may recognize incentive income for
assets under management for which the measurement period expired in that quarter, such as assets subject to
three-year commitment periods, or incentive income related to fund investor redemptions, and these amounts may be
significant. In the fourth quarter, our revenues are primarily comprised of the management fees we have earned for the
quarter, as well as incentive income related to the full-year investment performance generated on assets under
management that are subject to one-year commitment periods, or for other assets under management for which the
commitment period expired in that quarter.

Management Fees. Management fees are generally calculated and paid to us on a quarterly basis in advance, based on
the amount of assets under management at the beginning of the quarter. Management fees are prorated for capital
inflows and redemptions during the quarter. Accordingly, changes in our management fee revenues from quarter to
quarter are driven by changes in the quarterly opening balances of assets under management, the relative magnitude
and timing of inflows and redemptions during the respective quarter, as well as the impact of differing management
fee rates charged on those inflows and redemptions. See “—Weighted-Average Assets Under Management and Average
Management Fee Rate” for information on our average management fee rate.

Incentive Income. We earn incentive income based on the cumulative performance of our funds over a commitment
period. Incentive income is typically equal to 20% of the net realized and unrealized profits attributable to each fund
investor in our multi-strategy funds, open-end opportunistic credit funds and certain other funds, but it excludes
unrealized gains and losses attributable to Special Investments. For our closed-end opportunistic credit funds, real
estate funds and certain other funds, incentive income is typically equal to 20% of the realized profits attributable to
each fund investor. For our CLOs within Institutional Credit Strategies, incentive income is typically 20% of the
excess cash flows available to the holders of the subordinated notes. Our ability to earn incentive income from some
of our funds may be impacted by hurdle rates as further discussed below.

For funds that we do not consolidate, incentive income is recognized at the end of the applicable commitment period
when the amounts are contractually payable, or “crystallized.” Additionally, all of our multi-strategy funds and open-end
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opportunistic credit funds are subject to a perpetual loss carry forward, or a perpetual “high-water mark,” meaning we
would not be able to earn incentive income with respect to positive investment performance we generate for a fund
investor in any year following negative investment performance until that loss is recouped, at which point a fund
investor’s investment surpasses the high-water mark. We earn incentive income on any net profits in excess of the
high-water mark.

For funds that we consolidate, incentive income is recognized by allocating a portion of the net income of the
consolidated Och-Ziff funds to us rather than to the fund investors (noncontrolling interests). Incentive income
allocated to us is not reflected as incentive income in our consolidated revenues, as these amounts are eliminated in
consolidation. The allocation of incentive income to us is based on the contractual terms of the relevant fund
agreements. As a result, we may recognize earnings related to our incentive income allocation from the consolidated
Och-Ziff funds prior to the end of their respective commitment periods, and therefore we may recognize earnings that
are subject to clawback to the extent a consolidated fund generates subsequent losses. For Economic Income purposes,
we defer recognition of these earnings until they are no longer subject to clawback.

The commitment period for most of our assets under management is for a period of one year on a calendar-year basis,
and therefore we generally crystallize incentive income annually on December 31. We may also recognize incentive
income related to fund investor redemptions at other times during the year. Additionally, we may recognize a material
amount of incentive income during the year related to assets subject to three-year commitment periods for which such
period has expired (including the rollover of a portion of these assets into one-year commitment periods upon the
conclusion of the initial three-year period), as well as assets in certain of our opportunistic credit funds, real estate
funds and certain other funds we manage, which typically have commitment periods of three years or longer. We may
also recognize incentive income for tax distributions related to these assets. Tax distributions are amounts distributed
to us to cover tax liabilities related to incentive income that has been accrued at the fund level but will not be
recognized by us until the end of the relevant commitment period (if at all).

In addition to assets under management subject to one-year commitment periods, approximately $16.4 billion, or 42%,
of our assets under management as of September 30, 2016 were subject to initial commitment periods of three years or
longer. These assets under management include assets subject to three-year commitment periods in the OZ Master
Fund and certain other multi-strategy funds, as well as assets in our opportunistic credit funds, Institutional Credit
Strategies products, real estate funds and other alternative investment vehicles we manage. Incentive income related to
these assets is based on the cumulative investment performance over a specified commitment period (in the case of
CLOs within Institutional Credit Strategies, based on the excess cash flows available to the holders of the
subordinated notes), and, to the extent a fund is not consolidated, is not earned until it is no longer subject to
repayment to the respective fund. Our ability to earn incentive income on these longer-term assets is also subject to
hurdle rates whereby we do not earn any incentive income until the investment returns exceed an agreed upon
benchmark. However, for a portion of these assets subject to hurdle rates, once the investment performance has
exceeded the hurdle rate, we may receive a preferential “catch-up” allocation, resulting in a potential recognition by us
of a full 20% of the net profits attributable to investors in these assets.

Income of Consolidated Och-Ziff Funds. Revenues recorded as income of consolidated Och-Ziff funds consist of
interest income, dividend income and other miscellaneous items.

Expenses

Compensation and Benefits. Compensation and benefits consist of salaries, benefits, payroll taxes, and discretionary
and guaranteed cash bonus expenses. On an annual basis, compensation and benefits comprise a significant portion of
total expenses, with discretionary cash bonuses generally comprising a significant portion of total compensation and
benefits. These cash bonuses are based on total annual revenues, which are significantly influenced by the amount of
incentive income we earn in the year. Annual discretionary cash bonuses are generally determined and expensed in the
fourth quarter of each year. Compensation and benefits also includes equity-based compensation expense, which is
primarily in the form of RSUs granted to our independent board members, employees and executive managing
directors, as well as Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units granted to executive managing directors subsequent to the
2007 Offerings.
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We also issue Och-Ziff Operating Group D Units to executive managing directors. The Och-Ziff Operating Group D
Units are not considered equity under GAAP and no equity-based compensation expense is recognized related to these
units when they are granted. Distributions made to holders of these units are recognized within compensation and
benefits in the
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consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss), and are done on a pro rata basis with the Och-Ziff Operating
Group A Units (held by our executive managing directors) and the Och-Ziff Operating Group B Units (held by our
intermediate holding companies). An Och-Ziff Operating Group D Unit converts into an Och-Ziff Operating Group A
Unit to the extent the Company determines that it has become economically equivalent to an Och-Ziff Operating
Group A Unit, at which point it is considered a grant of equity-based compensation for GAAP purposes. Upon the
conversion of Och-Ziff Operating Group D Units into Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units, we recognize a one-time
charge for the grant-date fair value of the vested units and begin to amortize the grant-date fair value of the unvested
units over the vesting period. As additional Och-Ziff Operating Group D Units are converted into Och-Ziff Operating
Group A Units in the future, we may see increasing non-cash equity-based compensation expense related to these
units.

We also have profit-sharing arrangements whereby certain employees or executive managing directors are entitled to a
share of incentive income distributed by certain funds. This incentive income is typically paid to us, and a portion is
paid to the participant, as investments held by these funds are realized. We defer the recognition of any portion of this
incentive income to the extent it is subject to clawback and relates to a fund that is not consolidated. See “—Incentive
Income” above. To the extent that the payments to the employees or executive managing directors are probable and
reasonably estimable, we accrue these payments as compensation expense for GAAP purposes, which may occur prior
to the recognition of the related incentive income.

In August 2012, we adopted the Och-Ziff Capital Management Group LLC 2012 Partner Incentive Plan (the “PIP”),
under which certain of our executive managing directors at the time of the IPO may be eligible to receive
discretionary cash awards and discretionary grants of Och-Ziff Operating Group D Units over a five-year period that
commenced in 2013. Each year, an aggregate of up to 2,770,749 Och-Ziff Operating Group D Units may be granted
under the PIP to the participating executive managing directors. Aggregate discretionary cash awards for each year
under the PIP will be capped at 10% of our incentive income earned during such year, up to a maximum of $39.6
million. In addition to awards under the PIP, we may also issue additional performance-related Och-Ziff Operating
Group D Units or make discretionary performance cash payments to our executive managing directors.
Reorganization Expenses. As part of the Reorganization, interests in the Och-Ziff Operating Group held by our
executive managing directors and the Ziffs were reclassified as Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units, resulting in
significant non-cash Reorganization expenses. Substantially all of those Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units were
expensed on a straight-line basis over a five-year vesting period following the 2007 Offerings, which concluded in
November 2012. However, certain of these units had vesting periods through 2015.

Interest Expense. Amounts included within interest expense relate primarily to indebtedness outstanding under the
4.50% Senior Notes issued in November 2014 (the “Senior Notes”). We also have indebtedness outstanding under a
secured multiple draw term loan agreement entered into in February 2014 to finance installment payments made
toward the purchase of a new corporate aircraft that was delivered to us in February 2015 (the “Aircraft Loan”). Interest
expense related to the Aircraft Loan was capitalized and, therefore, not included in interest expense prior to aircraft
delivery. Following aircraft delivery in 2015, interest on the Aircraft Loan is fixed at 3.22% per annum. In April 2016,
we borrowed $120.0 million pursuant to our revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) at a rate per
annum of LIBOR plus 1.00% to 2.00%, or a base rate plus 0% to 1.00%. See “—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Debt
Obligations” for additional information.

General, Administrative and Other. General, administrative and other expenses are related to recurring placement and
related service fees, occupancy and equipment, professional services, information processing and communications,
insurance, business development, changes in our tax receivable agreement liability and other miscellaneous expenses.
In addition, the $412.1 million FCPA settlements liability accrued for in the first nine months of 2016 is also included
in this line item.

Expenses of Consolidated Och-Ziff Funds. Expenses recorded as expenses of consolidated Och-Ziff funds consist of
interest expense and other miscellaneous expenses.
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Other Income (Loss)

Net Gains on Investments in Och-Ziff Funds and Joint Ventures. Net gains on investments in Och-Ziff funds and joint
ventures primarily consist of net gains and losses on investments in our funds made by us and net gains and losses on
investments in joint ventures established to expand certain of our private investments platforms.

Net Gains of Consolidated Och-Ziff Funds. Net gains of consolidated Och-Ziff funds consist of net realized and
unrealized gains and losses on investments held by the consolidated Och-Ziff funds.

Income Taxes

Income taxes consist of our provision for federal, state and local income taxes in the United States and foreign income
taxes, including provisions for deferred income taxes resulting from temporary differences between the tax and GAAP
basis. The computation of the provision requires certain estimates and significant judgment, including, but not limited
to, the expected taxable income for the year, projections of the proportion of income earned and taxed in foreign
jurisdictions, permanent differences between the tax and GAAP basis and the likelihood of being able to fully utilize
deferred income tax assets existing as of the end of the period.

The Registrant and the Och-Ziff Operating Group entities are partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Due
to our legal structure, only a portion of the income we earn is subject to corporate-level income taxes in the United
States and foreign jurisdictions. The amount of incentive income we earn in a given year, the resultant flow of
revenues and expenses through our legal entity structure, the effect that changes in our Class A Share price may have
on the ultimate deduction we are able to take related to the settlement of RSUs, and any changes in future enacted
income tax rates may have a significant impact on our income tax provision and effective income tax rate.

Net Income (Loss) Allocated to Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling interests represent ownership interests in our subsidiaries held by parties other than us and are
primarily made up of Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units and fund investors’ interests in the consolidated Och-Ziff
funds. Increases or decreases in net income (loss) allocated to the Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units are driven by the
earnings of the Och-Ziff Operating Group. Increases or decreases in the net income allocated to fund investors’
interests in consolidated Och-Ziff funds are driven by the earnings of those funds as allocated under the contractual
terms of the relevant fund agreements.

Our interest in the Och-Ziff Operating Group is expected to continue to increase over time as additional Class A
Shares are issued upon the exchange of Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units and settlement of RSUs. These increases
will be offset upon the conversion of Och-Ziff Operating Group D Units, which are not considered equity for GAAP
purposes, into Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units.

Additionally, we consolidate certain of our credit funds, wherein investors are able to redeem their interests after an
initial lock-up period of up to three years. Allocations of earnings to these interests are reflected within net income
allocated to redeemable noncontrolling interests in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss).
Results of Operations

As previously discussed, the deconsolidation of the majority of our funds upon the adoption of ASU 2015-02 on
January 1, 2016, caused a significant decrease in the amount of income of consolidated Och-Ziff funds, expenses of
consolidated Och-Ziff funds, and net gains of consolidated Och-Ziff funds in our consolidated statements of
comprehensive income (loss). Management fees and incentive income from the previously consolidated funds are also
no longer eliminated in consolidation. The net impact to our results is that incentive income from these funds will now
be recognized when such amounts are no longer subject to clawback. Prior to deconsolidation, incentive income from
these previously consolidated funds was recognized by allocating a portion of the net income of these funds to us
rather than to the fund investors (noncontrolling interests) based on the contractual terms of the relevant fund
agreements. This resulted in incentive income being recognized that was subject to clawback in the event of future
losses in the respective funds.
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See “—Economic Income Analysis” for a discussion of our results on an Economic Income basis, which excludes the
effects of the consolidated funds.

Revenues
Three Months Nine Months Ended
Ended September
30, September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015
(dollars in thousands)
Management fees $128,513 $162,778 $428,822 $496,207
Incentive income 18,754 35,615 57477 121,262
Other revenues 380 579 1,544 1,548
Income of consolidated Och-Ziff funds 458 126,931 1,262 361,136
Total Revenues $148,105 $325,903 $489,105 $980,153

Total revenues for the quarter-to-date period decreased by $177.8 million, primarily due to the following:

A $126.5 million decrease in income of consolidated Och-Ziff funds, primarily as a result of the deconsolidation of
the majority of our funds during the first quarter of 2016.

A $34.3 million decrease in management fees, driven primarily by lower assets under management in our
multi-strategy funds. This decline in our multi-strategy funds impacted the mix of products that comprise our assets
under management, resulting in a lower year-over-year average management fee rate. See “Assets Under Management
and Fund Performance—Weighted-Average Assets Under Management and Average Management Fee Rate” above for
information regarding our average management fee rate. Also affecting the year-over-year variance are management
fees for certain previously consolidated funds that were eliminated in consolidation in the prior-year period. See
“Economic Income Analysis” for a discussion of our management fees that excludes the effects of eliminations in
consolidation.

A $16.9 million decrease in incentive income, primarily due to the following:

Multi-strategy funds. A $33.3 million decrease in incentive income from our multi-strategy funds was due to: (i) a
$14.5 million decrease related to fund investor redemptions; (ii) an $11.0 million decrease related to assets subject to
a one-year measurement period; and (iii) a $7.8 million decrease related to longer-term assets under management.
Opportunistic credit funds. A $5.6 million increase in incentive income from our opportunistic credit funds, primarily
due to realizations from our closed-end opportunistic credit funds.

Real estate funds. A $10.2 million increase in incentive income from our real estate funds, primarily due to a
realization event in one of our real estate co-investment vehicles.

Total revenues for the year-to-date period decreased by $491.0 million, primarily due to the following:

A $359.9 million decrease in income of consolidated Och-Ziff funds, primarily as a result of the deconsolidation of
the majority of our funds during the first quarter of 2016.

A $67.4 million decrease in management fees, driven primarily by lower assets under management in our
multi-strategy funds. This decline in our multi-strategy funds impacted the mix of products that comprise our assets
under management, resulting in a lower year-over-year average management fee rate. See “Assets Under Management
and Fund Performance—Weighted-Average Assets Under Management and Average Management Fee Rate” above for
information regarding our average management fee rate. Also affecting the year-over-year variance are management
fees for certain previously consolidated funds that were eliminated in consolidation in the prior-year period. See
“Economic Income Analysis” for a discussion of our management fees that excludes the effects of eliminations in
consolidation.
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A $63.8 million decrease in incentive income, primarily due to the following:

Multi-strategy funds. A $77.3 million decrease in incentive income from our multi-strategy funds was due to: (i) a
$29.9 million decrease related to fund investor redemptions; (ii) a $21.7 million decrease related to assets subject to a
one-year measurement period; (iii) a $15.5 million decrease related to lower tax distributions taken to cover tax
liabilities on incentive income that has been accrued on certain longer-term assets under management, but that will not
be realized until the end of the relevant commitment period; and (iv) a $10.2 million decrease related to longer-term
assets under management.

Opportunistic credit funds. Incentive income from our opportunistic credit funds remained relatively flat period over
period.

Real estate funds. A $13.5 million increase in incentive income from our real estate funds due a realization event in
one of our real estate co-investment vehicles, as well as an increase in incentive income from Och-Ziff Real Estate
Fund I. Amounts earned from Och-Ziff Real Estate Fund I were eliminated in consolidation in the prior year period.
This fund was deconsolidated on January 1, 2016 upon the adoption of ASU 2015-02.

Expenses

Three Months Nine Months Ended

Ended September

30, September 30,

2016 2015 2016 2015

(dollars in thousands)
Compensation and benefits $57,758 $70,602 $169,762 $211,895
Reorganization expenses — 4,018 — 12,052
Interest expense 6,129 5,383 17,452 16,033
General, administrative and other 44,306 65,484 584,331 127,332
Expenses of consolidated Och-Ziff funds 17 82,576 316 220,847
Total Expenses $108,210 $228,063 $771,861 $588,159

Total expenses for the quarter-to-date period decreased by $119.9 million, primarily due to the following:

An $82.6 million decrease in expenses of consolidated Och-Ziff funds, primarily as a result of the deconsolidation of
the majority of our funds during the first quarter of 2016.

A $21.2 million decrease in general, administrative and other expenses driven primarily by the following: (i) $12.4
million decrease in change in tax receivable agreement liability expense due to updated estimated future income tax
savings at the state and local level resulting from an enacted change in tax law (see income tax discussion below); (ii)
2 $5.2 million decrease in professional fees; (iii) a $3.7 million decrease in recurring placement and related service
fees due to lower assets under management subject to these arrangements; (iv) a $2.2 million decrease in the
estimated FCPA settlements liability; and (v) an offsetting $4.4 million loss in the current year period related to one of
our corporate aircraft that was reclassified as held for sale during the third quarter of 2016 (see Note 8 of our
consolidated financial statements).

A $12.8 million decrease in compensation and benefits expenses, primarily driven by the following: (i) a $9.2 million
decrease in equity-based compensation expense due to a lower average grant date fair value and a lower number of
RSUs being amortized; (ii) a $2.3 million decrease in allocations to Och-Ziff Operating Group D Units due to lower
profitability of the Och-Ziff Operating Group; and (iii) a $1.6 million decrease in salaries and benefits, primarily due
to a lower number of employees in the current year period. Our global headcount was 548 as of September 30, 2016,
as compared to 657 as of September 30, 2015.

Total expenses for the year-to-date period increased by $183.7 million, primarily due to the following:

A $457.0 million increase in general, administrative and other expenses, primarily driven by: (i) the $412.1 million
FCPA settlements liability accrued over the first nine months of 2016; (ii) a $35.9 million increase in change in tax
receivable agreement liability expense due to updated estimated future income tax savings at the state and local level
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(see income tax discussion below); (iii) a $9.8 million increase in professional fees primarily due to increased
expenses associated with the FCPA investigation; (iv) a $4.4 million loss in the current year period related to one of
our corporate aircraft that was reclassified as held for sale during the third quarter of 2016 (see Note 8 of our
consolidated financial statements); and (v) an offsetting $6.1 million decrease in recurring placement and related
service fees due to lower assets under management subject to these arrangements.
A $220.5 million offsetting decrease in expenses of consolidated Och-Ziff funds, primarily as a result of the
deconsolidation of the majority of our funds during the first quarter of 2016.
A $42.1 million offsetting decrease in compensation and benefits expenses, driven by the following: (i) a $30.3
million decrease in equity-based compensation expense due to a lower average grant date fair value and a lower
humber of RSUs being amortized; and (ii) an $11.8 million decrease in allocations to Och-Ziff Operating Group D
Units due to lower profitability of the Och-Ziff Operating Group.
Other Income (Loss)
Three Months Nine Months
Ended September Ended
30, September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015
(dollars in thousands)
Net gains (losses) on investments in Och-Ziff funds and joint ventures $803 $(146 ) $1,302 $43
Net gains (losses) of consolidated Och-Ziff funds 821 (20,627 ) 2,182 21,859
Total Other Income (Loss) $1,624 $(20,773) $3,484 $21,902
Total other income for the quarter-to-date and year-to-date periods increased by $22.4 million and decreased by
$18.4 million, respectively, primarily due to the deconsolidation of the majority of our funds during the first quarter of
2016.
Income Taxes
Three Months ~ Nine Months
Ended Ended September
September 30, 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015
(dollars in thousands)
Income taxes $9,986 $12,422 $39,436 $119,607
Income tax expense for the quarter-to-date period decreased by $2.4 million, primarily due to lower management fees
and incentive income generated during the 2016 comparative period. Income tax expenses for the year-to-date period
decreased by $80.2 million, primarily due to higher deferred tax expense in the prior year, resulting from an enacted
change in tax law that changed the methodology used for local income tax apportionment, which resulted in a
revaluation of our deferred income tax assets.
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Net Income (Loss) Allocated to Noncontrolling Interests
The following table presents the components of the net income (loss) allocated to noncontrolling interests and to
redeemable noncontrolling interests:

Three Months Nine Months Ended
Ended September

30 September 30,

2016 2015 2016 2015

(dollars in thousands)
Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units $16,313 $43,505 $(187,338) $175,239

Consolidated Och-Ziff funds — 35,266 262 94,723
Other 257 200 209 384
Total $16,570 $78,971 $(186,867) $270,346

Redeemable noncontrolling interests $678  $(31,743) $1,801 $(24,105)

Net income allocated to noncontrolling interests for the quarter-to-date period decreased by $62.4 million, primarily
due to the following:

A $35.3 million decrease in the net income allocated to the consolidated Och-Ziff funds due to the deconsolidation of
the majority of our funds during the first quarter of 2016.

A $27.2 million decrease in the net income allocated to the Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units, primarily due to lower
management fees and incentive income, partially offset by lower operating expenses.

Net (loss) income allocated to noncontrolling interests for the year-to-date period decreased by $457.2 million,
primarily due to the following:

A $362.6 million decrease in the net (loss) income allocated to the Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units, primarily
driven by the $412.1 million FCPA settlements liability accrual recorded in the first nine months of 2016. In addition,
lower management fees and incentive income and higher non-compensation expenses, partially offset by lower
compensation and benefits, also contributed to the decrease.

A $94.5 million decrease in the net income allocated to the consolidated Och-Ziff funds due to the deconsolidation of
the majority of our funds during the first quarter of 2016.

Net Income (Loss) Allocated to Class A Shareholders

Three Months Nine Months Ended
Ended September

30 September 30,

2016 2015 2016 2015

(dollars in thousands)
Net income (loss) allocated to Class A Shareholders $14,285 $17,417 $(133,642) $48,048
Net income allocated to Class A Shareholders for the quarter-to-date period decreased by $3.1 million, primarily
driven by the lower management fees and incentive income, partially offset by a decrease in operating expenses and
income taxes in the third quarter of 2016.
Net (loss) income allocated to Class A Shareholders for the year-to-date period decreased by $181.7 million, primarily
driven by the $412.1 million FCPA settlements liability accrual recorded in the first nine months of 2016. In addition,
lower management fees and incentive income and higher non-compensation expenses, partially offset by lower
income taxes and lower compensation and benefits, also contributed to the year-over-year decrease.
Economic Income Analysis
In addition to analyzing our results on a GAAP basis, management also reviews our results on an “Economic Income”
basis. Economic Income excludes the adjustments described below that are required for presentation of our results on
a GAAP
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basis, but that management does not consider when evaluating operating performance in any given period.
Management uses Economic Income as the basis on which it evaluates our financial performance and makes resource
allocation and other operating decisions. Management considers it important that investors review the same operating
information that it uses.
Economic Income is a measure of pre-tax operating performance that excludes the following from our results on a
GAAP basis:
Income allocations to our executive managing directors on their direct interests in the Och-Ziff Operating
. Group. Management reviews operating performance at the Och-Ziff Operating Group level, where our
operations are performed, prior to making any income allocations.
Reorganization expenses related to the 2007 Offerings, equity-based compensation expenses and depreciation and
amortization expenses, as management does not consider these non-cash expenses to be reflective of operating
performance. However, the fair value of RSUs that are settled in cash to employees or executive managing directors is
included as an expense at the time of settlement.
Changes in the tax receivable agreement liability and net gains on investments in Och-Ziff funds, as management does
not consider these items to be reflective of operating performance.
Amounts related to the consolidated Och-Ziff funds, including the related eliminations of management fees and
incentive income, as management reviews the total amount of management fees and incentive income earned in
relation to total assets under management and fund performance. We also defer the recognition of incentive income
allocations from the consolidated Och-Ziff funds until all clawback contingencies are resolved, consistent with the
revenue recognition policy for the funds we do not consolidate.
In addition, expenses related to compensation and profit-sharing arrangements based on fund investment performance
are recognized at the end of the relevant commitment period, as management reviews the total compensation expense
related to these arrangements in relation to any incentive income earned by the relevant fund.
As a result of the adjustments described above, as well as an adjustment to present management fees net of recurring
placement and related service fees (rather than considering these fees an expense), management fees, incentive
income, compensation and benefits, non-compensation expenses and net income (loss) allocated to noncontrolling
interests as presented on an Economic Income basis are also non-GAAP measures. No adjustments to the GAAP basis
have been made for other revenues and net gains (losses) on joint ventures. For reconciliations of our non-GAAP
measures to the respective GAAP measures, please see “—FEconomic Income Reconciliations™ at the end of this MD&A.
Our non-GAAP financial measures should not be considered as alternatives to our GAAP net income allocated to
Class A Shareholders or cash flow from operations, or as indicative of liquidity or the cash available to fund
operations. Our non-GAAP measures may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies.
We currently have two operating segments: the Och-Ziff Funds segment and our real estate business. The Och-Ziff
Funds segment, which provides asset management services to our multi-strategy funds, dedicated credit funds and
other alternative investment vehicles, is currently our only reportable operating segment under GAAP. Our real estate
business, which provides asset management services to our real estate funds, is included within Other Operations as it
does not meet the threshold of a reportable operating segment under GAAP.
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Economic Income Revenues (Non-GAAP)
Three Months Ended September Three Months Ended September

30, 2016 30, 2015

Och-Ziff Other Total Och-Ziff Other Total
Funds Operations Compan Funds Operations Compan
Segment P pany Segment P pany

(dollars in thousands)
Economic Income Basis

Management fees $114,521 $ 5,184  $119,705 $157,346 $ 5,357 $162,703
Incentive income 16,202 2,552 18,754 36,907 2,046 38,953
Other revenues 378 2 380 572 7 579

Total Economic Income Revenues $131,101 $ 7,738 $138,839 $194,825 $ 7,410  $202,235
Economic Income revenues for the quarter-to-date period decreased by $63.4 million, primarily due to the following:
A $43.0 million decrease in management fees, driven primarily by lower assets under management in our
multi-strategy funds. This decline in our multi-strategy funds impacted the mix of products that comprise our assets
under management, resulting in a lower year-over-year average management fee rate. See “Assets Under Management
and Fund Performance—Weighted-Average Assets Under Management and Average Management Fee Rate” above for
information regarding our average management fee rate.
A $20.2 million decrease in incentive income, primarily due to the following:
Multi-strategy funds. A $33.3 million decrease in incentive income from our multi-strategy funds was due to: (i) a
$14.5 million decrease related to fund investor redemptions; (ii) an $11.0 million decrease related to assets subject to
a one-year measurement period; and (iii) a $7.8 million decrease related to longer-term assets under management.
Opportunistic credit funds. A $5.6 million increase in incentive income from our opportunistic credit funds, primarily
due to realizations from our closed-end opportunistic credit funds.
Real estate funds. An $8.2 million increase in incentive income from our real estate funds, primarily due to a
realization event in one of our real estate co-investment vehicles.

Nine Months Ended September Nine Months Ended September

30, 2016 30, 2015

Och-Ziff Other Total Och-Ziff Other Total
Funds Operations Compan Funds Operations Compan
Segment P pany Segment P pany

(dollars in thousands)
Economic Income Basis

Management fees $381,904 $ 15,556 $397,460 $478,597 $ 14,958 $493,555
Incentive income 50,105 7,372 57,477 129,972 5,801 135,773
Other revenues 1,533 11 1,544 1,523 25 1,548

Total Economic Income Revenues $433,542 $ 22,939 $456,481 $610,092 $ 20,784 $630,876

Economic Income revenues for the year-to-date period decreased by $174.4 million, primarily due to the following:

A $96.1 million decrease in management fees, driven primarily by lower assets under management in our
multi-strategy funds. This decline in our multi-strategy funds impacted the mix of products that comprise our assets
under management, resulting in a lower year-over-year average management fee rate. See “Assets Under Management
and Fund Performance—Weighted-Average Assets Under Management and Average Management Fee Rate” above for
information regarding our average management fee rate.

A $78.3 million decrease in incentive income, primarily due to the following:

Multi-strategy funds. A $77.3 million decrease in incentive income from our multi-strategy funds was due to: (i) a
$29.9 million decrease related to fund investor redemptions; (ii) a $21.7 million decrease related to
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assets subject to one-year measurement period; (iii) a $15.5 million decrease related to lower tax distributions taken to
cover tax liabilities on incentive income that has been accrued on certain longer-term assets under management, but
that will not be realized until the end of the relevant commitment period; and (iv) a $10.2 million decrease related to
longer-term assets under management.

Opportunistic credit funds. A $7.4 million decrease in incentive income from our opportunistic credit funds, driven
primarily by lower tax distributions on certain longer-term assets under management.

Real estate funds. A $7.7 million increase in incentive income from our real estate funds due to a realization event in
one of our real estate co-investment vehicles.

Economic Income Expenses (Non-GAAP)

Three Months Ended Three Months Ended
September 30, 2016 September 30, 2015
Och-Ziff Other Total Och-Ziff Other Total
Funds d

. unds .
Segment Operations Company Segment Operations Company

(dollars in thousands)
Economic Income Basis
Compensation and benefits $33,506 $ 2,438  $35,944 $33,749 $ 2,176  $35,925
Non-compensation expenses 44,877 605 45,482 54,299 466 54,765
Total Economic Income Expenses $78,383 $ 3,043 $81,426 $88,048 $ 2,642  $90,690
Economic Income expenses for the quarter-to-date period decreased by $9.3 million, primarily due to the following:
A $9.3 million decrease in non-compensation expenses, primarily driven by the following: (i) a $5.2 million decrease
in professional services; (ii) a $2.2 million decrease in estimated FCPA settlements liability accrual; and (iii) a $1.2
million decrease in business development costs, as well as reductions across a number of other expense categories.
The ratio of non-compensation expense, excluding the FCPA settlements liability accrual, to management fees was
40% for the third quarter of 2016, compared to 34% for the third quarter of 2015.
Compensation and benefit expenses remained relatively flat period over period due to a $1.6 million decrease in
salaries and benefits resulting from a lower number of employees in the current year period and an offsetting increase
of $1.7 million in bonus expense. The ratio of salaries and benefits to management fees was 23% for the third quarter
of 2016, compared to 18% for the third quarter of 2015.

Nine Months Ended September Nine Months Ended September

30, 2016 30, 2015
Och-Ziff Other Total Och-Ziff Other Total
Funds

Segment
(dollars in thousands)

Operations Company Szgmsent Operations Company

Economic Income Basis

Compensation and benefits $98,604 $ 7,092  $105,696 $95,820 $ 6,524  $102,344
Non-compensation expenses 564,750 2,715 567,465 144,328 1,441 145,769

Total Economic Income Expenses $663,354 $ 9,807 $673,161 $240,148 $ 7,965 $248,113

Economic Income expenses for the year-to-date period increased by $425.0 million, primarily due to the following:
A $421.7 million increase in non-compensation expenses, driven by the $412.1 million FCPA settlements liability
accrued in 2016, as well as a $9.8 million increase in professional fees primarily due to increased legal expenses
relating to the investigation. The ratio of non-compensation expense, excluding the FCPA settlements liability
accrual, to management fees was 39% for the first nine months of 2016, compared to 30% for the first nine months of
2015.

A $3.4 million increase in compensation and benefit expenses driven by the following: (i) a $1.7 million increase in
salaries and benefits due to a higher average number of employees in the current year period; and (ii) a $1.6 million
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increase in bonus. The ratio of salaries and benefits to management fees was 22% for the first nine months of 2016,
compared to 17% for the first nine months of 2015.
We expect our operating expenses to trend downward in 2017 as the result of recent reductions in our headcount, as
well as lower expenses related to our cost saving initiatives and the winding down of legal expenses related to the
FCPA investigation.
Other Economic Income Items (Non-GAAP)

Three Months Ended Three Months Ended

September 30, 2016 September 30, 2015

OCh_%ﬁler Total OCh_%ﬁler Total

FUlIldSO erations Compan Fundso erations Compan

SegmeIR pany SegmerR pany

(dollars in thousands)
Economic Income Basis

Net loss allocated to noncontrolling interests $(7) $ —3$ @7 ) $3) % —$ 3 )
Nine Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2016 September 30, 2015

OCh_Zlgther Total OCh_Zlgther Total

Funds . unds .
Segmegtperatlons Company Segmer%peratlons Company

(dollars in thousands)
Economic Income Basis
Net loss allocated to noncontrolling interests $(12) $ —$3d2 ) $310)$ —$ (10 )
Net loss allocated to noncontrolling interests represents amounts that were reduced from Economic Income and
allocated to residual interests in certain businesses not owned by us.
Economic Income (Non-GAAP)
Three Months

Ended September Nine Months Ended
30 September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015

(dollars in thousands)
Economic Income:
Och-Ziff Funds segment $52,725 $106,780 $(229,800) $369,954
Other Operations 4,695 4,768 13,132 12,819
Total Company $57,420 $111,548 $(216,668) $382,773
Economic Income for the quarter-to-date period decreased by $54.1 million, primarily due to lower management fees
and incentive income, partially offset by lower non-compensation expenses.
Economic Income for the year-to-date period decreased by $599.4 million, primarily due to the $412.1 million FCPA
settlements liability accrual recorded in the first nine months of 2016. In addition, lower management fees and
incentive income, as well as higher operating expenses also contributed to the year-over-year decrease.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
In September 2016, we entered into the Purchase Agreement with the EMD Purchasers, including Daniel S. Och, to
issue up to $400.0 million of Preferred Units. Pursuant to the agreement, in October 2016, we completed a $250.0
million issuance and sale of Preferred Units to the EMD Purchasers and expect to issue and sell to the EMD
Purchasers up to an additional $150.0 million of Preferred Units in January 2017, subject to the satisfaction of certain
conditions. We used the proceeds from the Preferred Units issued in October 2016, as well as cash on hand, to pay the
$412.1 million of penalties and
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disgorgement related to the FCPA investigation settlements discussed in Note 15 to our consolidated financial
statements included in this report. We expect to use the proceeds from the second sale of the Preferred Units in
January 2017 for working capital and general corporate purposes. See Note 17 to our consolidated financial statements
for details regarding the terms of the Preferred Units.

The working capital needs of our business have historically been met, and we anticipate will continue to be met,
through cash generated from management fees and incentive income earned by the Och-Ziff Operating Group from
our funds, as well as other sources of liquidity noted above and below.

Over the next 12 months, we expect that our primary liquidity needs will be to:

Pay our operating expenses, primarily consisting of compensation and benefits, as well as any related tax withholding
obligations, and non-compensation expenses.

Pay interest on our debt obligations.

Provide capital to facilitate the growth of our business.

Pay income taxes.

Make cash distributions in accordance with our distribution policy as discussed below under “—Dividends and
Distributions.”

In September 2016, we amended our tax receivable agreement to provide that no amounts will be due or payable
under the agreement with respect to the 2015 and 2016 taxable years. See Note 15 to our consolidated financial
statements for additional information.

Historically, management fees have been more than sufficient to cover all of our “fixed” operating expenses, which we
define as salaries and benefits and our non-compensation costs incurred in the ordinary course of business. While we
recently reduced our management fee rates for existing investors in virtually all of our multi-strategy assets under
management, we continue to believe that management fees will be sufficient to cover our fixed operating expenses.
See “—Weighted-Average Assets Under Management and Average Management Fee Rate” above for additional
information on these management fee rate reductions.

We cannot predict the amount of incentive income, if any, which we may earn in any given year. Accordingly, we do
not rely on incentive income to meet our fixed operating expenses. Total annual revenues, which are heavily
influenced by the amount of annual incentive income we earn, historically have been sufficient to fund all of our other
working capital needs, including annual discretionary cash bonuses. These cash bonuses, which historically have
comprised our largest cash operating expense, are variable such that in any year where total annual revenues are
greater or less than the prior year, cash bonuses may be adjusted accordingly. Our ability to scale our largest cash
operating expense to our total annual revenues helps us manage our cash flow and liquidity position from year to year.
Executive managing directors participating in the PIP may be eligible to receive discretionary annual cash awards
each year for a five-year period that commenced in 2013, if we earn incentive income in the relevant year. The
maximum aggregate amount of cash that may be awarded for each year under the PIP to the participating executive
managing directors, collectively, will be capped at 10% of our incentive income earned during that year, up to a
maximum aggregate amount of $39.6 million. Whether any cash is awarded under the PIP in a particular year, and the
amount of such awards, will be determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board in its sole discretion, based
on recommendations from Mr. Och for that year.

Based on our past results, management’s experience and our current level of assets under management, we believe that
our existing cash resources, together with the cash generated from management fees, will be sufficient to meet our
anticipated fixed operating expenses and other working capital needs for at least the next 12 months. As we have done
historically, we will determine the amount of discretionary cash bonuses, including discretionary annual cash awards
under the PIP described above, during the fourth quarter of each year, based on our total annual revenues. We intend
to fund this amount through fourth quarter management fees and incentive income crystallized on December 31,
which represents the majority of the incentive income we typically earn each year. Although we cannot predict the
amount, if any, of incentive income we may earn, we are able to regularly
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monitor expected management fees and we believe that we will be able to adjust our expense infrastructure, including
discretionary cash bonuses, as needed to meet the requirements of our business and in order to maintain positive
operating cash flows. Nevertheless, if we generate insufficient cash flows from operations to meet our short-term
liquidity needs, we may have to borrow funds or sell assets, subject to existing contractual arrangements.

We may use cash on hand to repay all or a portion of our Senior Notes, the Aircraft Loan and any current or future
drawings under the Revolving Credit Facility prior to their respective maturity dates, which would reduce amounts
available to distribute to our Class A Shareholders. For any amounts unpaid as of the maturity date, we will be
required to repay the remaining balance by using cash on hand, refinancing the remaining balance by issuing new
notes or entering into new credit facilities, which could result in higher borrowing costs, or by raising cash by issuing
equity or other securities, which would dilute existing shareholders. No assurance can be given that we will be able to
issue new notes, enter into new credit facilities or issue equity or other securities in the future on attractive terms or at
all. Any new notes or new credit facilities that we may be able to issue or enter into may have covenants that impose
additional limitations on us, including with respect to making distributions, entering into business transactions or other
matters, and may result in increased interest expense. If we are unable to meet our debt obligations on terms that are
favorable to us, our business may be adversely impacted. See “—Debt Obligations” for more information.

For our other longer-term liquidity requirements, we expect to continue to fund our fixed operating expenses through
management fees and to fund discretionary cash bonuses and the repayment of our debt obligations through a
combination of management fees and incentive income. We may also decide to meet these requirements by borrowing
funds under our Revolving Credit Facility or by issuing additional debt, equity or other securities.

Over the long term, we believe we will be able to grow our assets under management and generate positive investment
performance in our funds, which we expect will allow us to grow our management fees and incentive income in
amounts sufficient to cover our long-term liquidity requirements.

To maintain maximum flexibility to meet demands and opportunities both in the short and long term, and subject to
existing contractual arrangements, we may want to retain cash, issue additional equity or borrow additional funds to:
Support the future growth in our business.

Create new or enhance existing products and investment platforms.

Repay borrowings.

Pursue new investment opportunities.

Develop new distribution channels.

Cover potential costs incurred in connection with the legal and regulatory matters described in the notes to our
consolidated financial statements included in this report.

Market conditions and other factors may make it more difficult or costly to raise or borrow additional funds.
Excessive costs or other significant market barriers may limit or prevent us from maximizing our growth potential and
flexibility.

Debt Obligations

Senior Notes

On November 20, 2014, we issued $400.0 million of 4.50% Senior Notes due November 20, 2019, unless earlier
redeemed or repurchased. The Senior Notes were issued at a price equal to 99.417% of the aggregate principal amount
and bear interest at a rate per annum of 4.50% payable semiannually in arrears. The Senior Notes are unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations of the issuer, Och-Ziff Finance, and are fully and unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and
severally, on an unsecured and unsubordinated basis by the Och-Ziff Operating Group entities.

Please see Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements included in this report for a description of the redemption
provisions and restrictions under the Senior Notes.
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Revolving Credit Facility

On November 20, 2014, we entered into the $150.0 million, five-year unsecured Revolving Credit Facility, which was
subsequently amended on December 29, 2015, the proceeds of which may be used for working capital, general
corporate purposes or other liquidity needs. The facility matures on November 20, 2019. The borrower under the
Revolving Credit Facility is OZ Management and the facility is guaranteed by OZ Advisors I, OZ Advisors II and
Och-Ziff Finance. We are able to increase the maximum amount of credit available under the facility to $225.0
million if certain conditions are satisfied. As of September 30, 2016, we had $120.0 million of outstanding borrowings
under the facility.

We are subject to a fee of 0.10% to 0.25% per annum on undrawn commitments during the term of the Revolving
Credit Facility. Outstanding borrowings will bear interest at a rate per annum of LIBOR plus 1.00% to 2.00%, or a
base rate plus zero to 1.00%. The commitment fees and the spreads over LIBOR or the base rate are based on OZ
Management’s credit rating throughout the term of the facility. The interest rate on the drawn portion of the
commitment as of September 30, 2016 was LIBOR plus 1.75%, and the undrawn commitment fee was 0.20%.

Please see Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements included in this report for a description of the financial
covenants and restrictions under the Revolving Credit Facility.

Aircraft Loan

On February 14, 2014, we entered into the Aircraft Loan to finance installment payments towards the purchase of a
new corporate aircraft that was delivered to us in February 2015. The Aircraft Loan is guaranteed by OZ Management,
OZ Advisors I and OZ Advisors II. As of September 30, 2016, $47.8 million was outstanding under the Aircraft Loan.
Outstanding borrowings bear interest at a rate of 3.22% per annum, and the balance is payable in equal monthly
installments of principal and interest over the term of the facility beginning on the aircraft delivery date, with a
balloon payment of $30.8 million due upon maturity on February 4, 2022. There are no financial covenants associated
with the Aircraft Loan. The Aircraft Loan includes other customary terms and conditions, including customary events
of default and covenants.

Tax Receivable Agreement

We have made, and may in the future be required to make, payments under the tax receivable agreement that we
entered into with our executive managing directors and the Ziffs. The purchase by the Och-Ziff Operating Group of
Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units from our executive managing directors and the Ziffs with proceeds from the 2007
Offerings, and subsequent taxable exchanges by them of Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units for our Class A Shares on
a one-for-one basis (or, at our option, a cash equivalent), resulted, and, in the case of future exchanges, are anticipated
to result, in an increase in the tax basis of the assets of the Och-Ziff Operating Group that would not otherwise have
been available. We anticipate that any such tax basis adjustment resulting from an exchange will be allocated
principally to certain intangible assets of the Och-Ziff Operating Group, and we will derive our tax benefits
principally through amortization of these intangibles over a 15-year period from the date of the 2007 Offerings or the
date of any subsequent exchange. Consequently, these tax basis adjustments will increase, for tax purposes, our
depreciation and amortization expenses and will therefore reduce the amount of tax that Och-Ziff Corp and any other
corporate taxpaying entities that hold Och-Ziff Operating Group B Units in connection with an exchange, if any,
would otherwise be required to pay in the future. Accordingly, pursuant to the tax receivable agreement, such
corporate taxpaying entities (including Och-Ziff Capital Management Group LLC if it is treated as a corporate
taxpayer) have agreed to pay our executive managing directors and the Ziffs 85% of the amount of cash savings, if
any, in federal, state and local income taxes in the United States that these entities actually realize related to their units
as a result of such increases in tax basis.

In connection with the departure of certain former executive managing directors since the 2007 Offerings, the right to
receive payments under the tax receivable agreement by those former executive managing directors was contributed to
the Och-Ziff Operating Group. As a result, we expect to pay to the other executive managing directors and the Ziffs
approximately 78% (from 85% at the time of the 2007 Offerings) of the amount of cash savings, if any, in federal,
state and local income taxes in the United States that we actually realize as a result of such increases in tax basis. To
the extent that we do not realize any cash savings, we would not be required to make corresponding payments under
the tax receivable agreement.
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Payments under the tax receivable agreement are anticipated to increase the tax basis adjustment of intangible assets
resulting from a prior exchange, with such increase being amortized over the remainder of the amortization period
applicable to the original basis adjustment of such intangible assets resulting from such prior exchange. It is
anticipated that this will result in increasing annual amortization deductions in the taxable years of and after such
increases to the original basis adjustments, and potentially will give rise to increasing tax savings with respect to such
years and correspondingly increasing payments under the tax receivable agreement.

Assuming no material changes in the relevant tax law and that we generate sufficient taxable income to realize the full
tax benefit of the increased amortization resulting from the increase in tax basis of our assets, we will be obligated to
make payments, except as noted otherwise, to our executive managing directors and the Ziffs as a result of the cash
savings to our intermediate holding companies from the purchase of Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units from our
executive managing directors and the Ziffs with proceeds from the 2007 Offerings and the exchange of Och-Ziff
Operating Group A Units for Class A Shares. Future cash savings and related payments to our executive managing
directors under the tax receivable agreement in respect of subsequent exchanges would be in addition to these
amounts. The obligation to make payments under the tax receivable agreement is an obligation of Och-Ziff Corp, and
any other corporate taxpaying entities that hold Och-Ziff Operating Group B Units, and not of the Och-Ziff Operating
Group entities. We may need to incur debt to finance payments under the tax receivable agreement to the extent the
entities within the Och-Ziff Operating Group do not distribute cash to our intermediate corporate tax paying entities in
an amount sufficient to meet our obligations under the tax receivable agreement.

The actual increase in tax basis of the Och-Ziff Operating Group assets resulting from an exchange or from payments
under the tax receivable agreement, as well as the amortization thereof and the timing and amount of payments under
the tax receivable agreement, will vary based upon a number of factors, including the following:

The amount and timing of the income of Och-Ziff Corp will impact the payments to be made under the tax receivable
agreement. To the extent that Och-Ziff Corp does not have sufficient taxable income to utilize the amortization
deductions available as a result of the increased tax basis in the Och-Ziff Operating Group assets, payments required
under the tax receivable agreement would be reduced.

The price of our Class A Shares at the time of any exchange will determine the actual increase in tax basis of the
Och-Ziff Operating Group assets resulting from such exchange; payments under the tax receivable agreement
resulting from future exchanges, if any, will be dependent in part upon such actual increase in tax basis.

The composition of the Och-Ziff Operating Group’s assets at the time of any exchange will determine the extent to
which Och-Ziff Corp may benefit from amortizing its increased tax basis in such assets and thus will impact the
amount of future payments under the tax receivable agreement resulting from any future exchanges.

The extent to which future exchanges are taxable will impact the extent to which Och-Ziff Corp will receive an
increase in tax basis of the Och-Ziff Operating Group assets as a result of such exchanges, and thus will impact
the benefit derived by Och-Ziff Corp and the resulting payments, if any, to be made under the tax receivable
agreement.

The tax rates in effect at the time any potential tax savings are realized, which would affect the amount of any
future payments under the tax receivable agreement.

Depending upon the outcome of these factors, payments that we may be obligated to make to our executive managing
directors and the Ziffs under the tax receivable agreement in respect of exchanges could be substantial. In light of the
numerous factors affecting our obligation to make payments under the tax receivable agreement, the timing and
amounts of any such actual payments are not reasonably ascertainable.

In September 2016, we amended the tax receivable agreement to provide that no amounts will be due or payable under
the agreement with respect to the 2015 and 2016 taxable years. As a result, we released approximately $91.0 million
of previously accrued tax receivable agreement liability.
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Dividends and Distributions

We intend to distribute to our Class A Shareholders substantially all of their pro rata share of our annual Economic
Income (as described above under “—Economic Income Analysis”) in excess of amounts determined by us to be necessary
or appropriate to provide for the conduct of our business, to pay income taxes, to pay any amounts owed under the tax
receivable agreement, to make appropriate investments in our business and our funds, to make payments on any of our
other obligations, to fund the repurchase of Class A Shares or interests in the Och-Ziff Operating Group, as well as to
fund distributions on the Preferred Units starting in 2020.

Pursuant to the terms of the Preferred Units, distributions will be payable on the liquidation preference amount on a
cumulative basis at an initial distribution rate of 0% per annum until February 19, 2020 (the “Step Up Date”), after
which the distribution rate will increase in stages thereafter to a maximum of 10% per annum on and after the eighth
anniversary of the Step Up Date. Subject to certain exceptions, unless distributions on the Preferred Units are declared
and paid in cash for the then current distribution period and all preceding periods after the initial closing of the
Preferred Units, the Operating Group Entities may not declare or pay distributions on or repurchase any of their equity
securities that rank equal with or junior to the Preferred Units.

When we pay dividends on our Class A Shares, we also intend to make distributions to our executive managing
directors on their interests in the Och-Ziff Operating Group, subject to the terms of the limited partnership agreements
of the Och-Ziff Operating Group entities.

The declaration and payment of future distributions will be at the sole discretion of our Board of Directors, which may
change our distribution policy or reduce or eliminate our distributions at any time in its discretion. Our Board of
Directors will take into account such factors as it may deem relevant, including general economic and business
conditions; our strategic plans and prospects; our business and investment opportunities; our financial condition and
operating results; working capital requirements and anticipated cash needs; contractual restrictions and obligations,
including payment obligations pursuant to the tax receivable agreement and restrictions pursuant to our term loan;
legal, tax and regulatory restrictions; other restrictions and limitations on the payment of distributions by us to our
Class A Shareholders or by our subsidiaries to us; and such other factors as our Board of Directors may deem relevant.
The declaration and payment of any distribution may be subject to legal, contractual or other restrictions. For
example, as a Delaware limited liability company, Och-Ziff Capital Management Group LLC is not permitted to make
distributions if and to the extent that after giving effect to such distributions, its liabilities would exceed the fair value
of its assets. Our cash needs and payment obligations may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter, and we may
have material unexpected expenses in any period. This may cause amounts available for distribution to significantly
fluctuate from quarter to quarter or may reduce or eliminate such amounts.

Additionally, RSUs outstanding accrue dividend equivalents equal to the dividend amounts paid on our Class A
Shares. To date, these dividend equivalents have been awarded in the form of additional RSUs, which accrue
additional dividend equivalents. The dividend equivalents will only be paid if the related RSUs vest and will be settled
at the same time as the underlying RSUs. Our Board of Directors has the right to determine whether the RSUs and any
related dividend equivalents will be settled in Class A Shares or in cash. We currently withhold shares to satisfy the
tax withholding obligations related to vested RSUs and dividend equivalents held by our employees, which results in
the use of cash from operations or borrowings to satisfy these tax-withholding payments.

In accordance with the Och-Ziff Operating Group entities’ limited partnership agreements, we may cause the
applicable Och-Ziff Operating Group entities to distribute cash to the intermediate holding companies and our
executive managing directors in an amount at least equal to the presumed maximum tax liabilities arising from their
direct ownership in these entities. The presumed maximum tax liabilities are based upon the presumed maximum
income allocable to any such unit holder at the maximum combined U.S. federal, New York State and New York City
tax rates. Holders of our Class A Shares may not always receive distributions at a time when our intermediate holding
companies and our executive managing directors are receiving distributions on their interests, as distributions to our
intermediate holding companies may be used to settle tax liabilities, if any, or other obligations. Such tax distributions
will take into account the disproportionate income allocation (but not a disproportionate cash allocation) to the unit
holders with respect to “built-in gain assets,” if any, at the time of the 2007
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Offerings. Consequently, Och-Ziff Operating Group tax distributions may be greater than if such assets had a tax basis
equal to their value at the time of the 2007 Offerings.

Our cash distribution policy has certain risks and limitations, particularly with respect to our liquidity. Although we
expect to pay distributions according to our policy, we may not make distributions according to our policy, or at all, if,
among other things, we do not have the cash necessary to pay the distribution. Moreover, if the Och-Ziff Operating
Group’s cash flows from operations are insufficient to enable it to make required minimum tax distributions discussed
above, the Och-Ziff Operating Group may have to borrow funds or sell assets, and thus our liquidity and financial
condition could be materially adversely affected. Furthermore, by paying cash distributions rather than investing that
cash in our businesses, we might risk slowing the pace of our growth, or not having a sufficient amount of cash to
fund our obligations, operations, new investments or unanticipated capital expenditures, should the need arise. In such
event, we may not be able to execute our business and growth strategy to the extent intended.

Our Funds’ Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our funds have access to liquidity from our prime brokers and other counterparties. Additionally, our funds may have
committed facilities in addition to regular financing from our counterparties. These sources of liquidity provide our
funds with additional financing resources, allowing them to take advantage of opportunities in the global marketplace.
Our funds’ current liquidity position could be adversely impacted by any substantial, unanticipated investor
redemptions from our funds that are made within a short time period. As discussed above in “—Assets Under
Management and Fund Performance,” capital contributions from investors in our multi-strategy and open-end
opportunistic credit funds generally are subject to initial lock-up periods of one to three years. Following the
expiration of these lock-up periods, subject to certain limitations, investors may redeem capital generally on a
quarterly or annual basis upon giving 30 to 90 days’ prior written notice. These lock-ups and redemption notice periods
help us to manage our liquidity position. However, upon the payment of a redemption fee to the applicable fund and
upon giving 30 days’ prior written notice, certain investors may redeem capital during the lock-up period. Investors in
our other funds are generally not allowed to redeem until the end of the life of the fund.

We also follow a rigorous risk management process and regularly monitor the liquidity of our funds’ portfolios in
relation to economic and market factors and the timing of potential investor redemptions. As a result of this process,
we may determine to reduce exposure or increase the liquidity of our funds’ portfolios at any time, whether in response
to global economic and market conditions, redemption requests or otherwise. For these reasons, we believe we will be
well prepared to address market conditions and redemption requests, as well as any other events, with limited impact
on our funds’ liquidity position. Nevertheless, significant redemptions made during a single quarter could adversely
affect our funds’ liquidity position, as we may meet redemptions by using our funds’ available cash or selling assets
(possibly at a loss). Such actions would result in lower assets under management, which would reduce the amount of
management fees and incentive income we may earn. Our funds could also meet redemption requests by increasing
leverage, provided we are able to obtain financing on reasonable terms, if at all. We believe our funds have sufficient
liquidity to meet any anticipated redemptions for the foreseeable future.

Cash Flows Analysis

Operating Activities. Net cash from operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 was
$89.2 million and $412.2 million, respectively. Our net cash flows from operating activities are generally comprised
of current-year management fees, the collection of incentive income earned during the fourth quarter of the previous
year, less cash operating expenses. Additionally, net cash from operating activities also includes the investment
activities of the funds we consolidate. These investment-related cash flows are of the consolidated funds and do not
directly impact the cash flows related to our Class A Shareholders.

The decrease in net cash from operating activities was primarily due to lower earnings in the first nine months of 2016
compared to the first nine months of 2015, as well as lower incentive income earned in 2015 compared to 2014,
partially offset by lower discretionary bonuses in 2015 compared to 2014. The majority of our incentive income is
generally collected and the related bonus payments are paid out during the first quarter of the following year. Partially
offsetting these decreases were lower cash outflows in 2016 related to the investment activities of the consolidated
funds, which was the result of the deconsolidation of the majority of our funds upon the adoption of ASU 2015-02 on
January 1, 2016.
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In October 2016, we paid $412.1 million of penalties and disgorgement related to the FCPA settlements with the SEC
and the DOJ. The payments were made using proceeds from the sale of Preferred Units, as well as cash on hand. For
additional information on Preferred Units, see Note 17 to our consolidated financial statements included in this report.
Investing Activities. Net cash used in investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 was
$30.2 million and $38.6 million, respectively. Investing cash flows in 2016 primarily related to the purchases and
maturities of U.S. government obligations to manage excess liquidity. Investing cash flows in 2015 primarily related
to leasehold improvements in our New York headquarters. Investment-related cash flows of the consolidated Och-Ziff
funds are classified within operating activities.
Financing Activities. Net cash from financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 was
$117.4 million and $(312.9) million, respectively. Our net cash from financing activities are generally comprised of
dividends paid to our Class A Shareholders and borrowings and repayments related to our debt obligations.
Contributions from noncontrolling interests, which relate to fund investor contributions into the consolidated funds,
and distributions to noncontrolling interests, which relate to fund investor redemptions and distributions to our
executive managing directors on their Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units, are also included in net cash from financing
activities.
On April 29, 2016, we borrowed $120.0 million pursuant to our Revolving Credit Facility.
We paid dividends to our Class A Shareholders of $146.3 million and paid distributions to our executive managing
directors on the Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units of $304.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2015.
We did not pay any dividends or distributions on our Class A Shares or Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units in the first
nine months of 2016.
In October 2016, we sold $250.0 million of Preferred Units to certain executive managing directors. We expect to sell
up to an additional $150.0 million of Preferred Units in January 2017. See Note 17 to our consolidated financial
statements included in this report for additional information.
Contractual Obligations
The following are the only material changes to the contractual obligations as presented in our Annual Report:
During the second quarter of 2016, we borrowed $120.0 million pursuant to our Revolving Credit Facility, as
discussed above.
In September 2016, we amended the tax receivable agreement to provide that no amounts will be due or
. payable under the agreement with respect to the 2015 and 2016 taxable years. As a result, we released
approximately $91.0 million of previously accrued tax receivable agreement liability.
Notes and loans payable of consolidated CLOs are no longer on our balance sheet as a result of the deconsolidation of
the majority of our funds upon the adoption of ASU 2015-02 on January 1, 2016, as discussed in Note 3 to our
consolidated financial statements included in this report.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of September 30, 2016, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Critical accounting policies are those that require us to make significant judgments, estimates or assumptions that
affect amounts reported in our financial statements or the notes thereto. We base our judgments, estimates and
assumptions on current facts, historical experience and various other factors that we believe to be reasonable and
prudent. Actual results may differ materially from these estimates. See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements
included in our Annual Report for a description of our accounting policies. Set forth below is a summary of what we
believe to be our most critical accounting policies and estimates.
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Fair Value of Investments

The valuation of investments held by our funds is the most critical estimate made by management impacting our
results. Pursuant to specialized accounting for investment companies under GAAP, investments held by the Och-Ziff
funds are carried at their estimated fair values. The valuation of investments held by our funds has a significant impact
on our results, as our management fees and incentive income are generally determined based on the fair value of these
investments.

GAAP prioritizes the level of market price observability used in measuring assets and liabilities at fair value. Market
price observability is impacted by a number of factors, including the type of assets and liabilities and the specific
characteristics of the assets and liabilities. Assets and liabilities with readily available, actively quoted prices (Level I)
or for which fair value can be measured from actively quoted prices (Level II) generally will have a higher degree of
market price observability and lesser degree of judgment used in measuring fair value than those measured using
pricing inputs that are unobservable in the market (Level III). See Note 5 to our consolidated financial statements
included in this report for additional information regarding fair value measurements.

As of September 30, 2016, the absolute values of our funds’ invested assets and liabilities (excluding the notes and
loans payable of our CLOs) were classified within the fair value hierarchy as follows: approximately 48% within
Level I; approximately 30% within Level II; and approximately 22% within Level III. As of December 31, 2015, the
absolute values of our funds’ invested assets and liabilities (excluding the notes and loans payable of our CLOs) were
classified within the fair value hierarchy as follows: approximately 48% within Level I; approximately 27% within
Level II; and approximately 25% within Level III. The percentage of our funds’ assets and liabilities within the fair
value hierarchy will fluctuate based on the investments made at any given time and such fluctuations could be
significant. A portion of our funds’ Level III assets relate to Special Investments or other investments on which we do
not earn any incentive income until such investments are sold or otherwise realized. Upon the sale or realization event
of these assets, any realized profits are included in the calculation of incentive income for such year. Accordingly, the
estimated fair value of our funds’ Level III assets may not have any relation to the amount of incentive income actually
earned with respect to such assets.

Valuation of Investments. Fair value represents the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability (an exit price) in an orderly transaction between market participants as of the measurement date. The fair
value of our funds’ investments is based on observable market prices when available. Such values are generally based
on the last sales price. We, as the investment manager of the Och-Ziff funds, determine the fair value of investments
that are not actively traded on a recognized securities exchange or otherwise lack a readily ascertainable market value.
The methods and procedures to value these investments may include, but are not limited to: (i) performing
comparisons with prices of comparable or similar securities; (ii) obtaining valuation-related information from the
issuers; (iii) calculating the present value of future cash flows; (iv) assessing other analytical data and information
relating to the investment that is an indication of value; (v) obtaining information provided by third parties; and

(vi) evaluating financial information provided by the management of these investments. See Note 5 to our
consolidated financial statements included in this report for additional information.

Significant judgment and estimation goes into the assumptions that drive our valuation methodologies and procedures
for assets that are not actively traded on a recognized securities exchange or otherwise lack a readily ascertainable
market value. The actual amounts ultimately realized could differ materially from the values estimated based on the
use of these methodologies. Realizations at values significantly lower than the values at which investments have been
reflected could result in losses at the fund level and a decline in future management fees and incentive income. Such
situations may also negatively impact fund investor perception of our valuation policies and procedures, which could
result in redemptions and difficulties in raising additional capital.

We have established an internal control infrastructure over the valuation of financial instruments that includes ongoing
oversight by our Financial Controls Group and Valuation Committee, as well as periodic audits by our Internal Audit
Group. These management control functions are segregated from the trading and investing functions. See Note 5 to
our consolidated financial statements included in this report for additional information regarding our valuation
procedures and related oversight and controls.
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Impact of Fair Value Measurement on Our Results. A 10% change in the estimate of fair value of the investments held
by our funds would generally have a 10% change in management fees in the period subsequent to the change in fair
value, as
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management fees are charged based on the assets under management at the beginning of the period. For our real estate
funds and certain other funds, there would be no impact as management fees are generally charged based on
committed capital during the original investment period and invested capital thereafter. The impact of a 10% change
in unrealized gains and losses of the investments held by our funds would generally have an immediate 10% impact
on the amount of profit on which we earn our 20% incentive income if the change continues at the end of the
commitment period, at which time incentive income is recognized, and assuming no hurdle rates and no high-water
marks from any prior-year losses. For certain opportunistic credit, real estate and certain other funds, there would be
no impact, as incentive income is recognized based on realized profits and when no longer subject to clawback.

For additional information regarding the impact that the fair value measurement of assets under management has on
our results, please see ‘“Part [—Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.”

Variable Interest Entities

The determination of whether or not to consolidate a variable interest entity under GAAP requires a significant
amount of judgment concerning the degree of control over an entity by its holders of variable interests. To make these
judgments, management has conducted an analysis, on a case-by-case basis, of the relationship of the holders of
variable interests to each other, the design of the entity, the expected operations of the entity, which holder of variable
interests within a related party group is most “closely associated” to the entity and which holder of variable interests is
the primary beneficiary required to consolidate the entity. Upon the occurrence of certain events, such as redemptions
by unaffiliated investors in any fund or modifications to fund organizational documents and investment management
agreements, management reviews and reconsiders its previous conclusion regarding the status of an entity as a
variable interest entity. Additionally, management continually reconsiders whether we should consolidate a variable
interest entity.

Income Taxes

We use the asset and liability method of accounting for deferred income taxes. Under this method, deferred income
tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. A valuation allowance is
established when management believes it is more likely than not that a deferred income tax asset will not be realized.
Substantially all of our deferred income tax assets relate to the goodwill and other intangible assets deductible for tax
purposes by Och-Ziff Corp that arose in connection with the purchase of Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units from our
executive managing directors and the Ziffs with proceeds from the 2007 Offerings, subsequent exchanges of Och-Ziff
Operating Group A Units for Class A Shares and subsequent payments to our executive managing directors and the
Ziffs made under the tax receivable agreement, in addition to any related net operating loss carryforward. In
accordance with relevant provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, we expect to take these goodwill and other
intangible deductions over the 15-year period following the 2007 Offerings, as well as an additional 20-year loss
carryforward period available to us in any year a net operating loss is generated as a result. Our analysis of whether we
expect to have sufficient future taxable income to realize these deductions is based solely on estimates over this
period.

Och-Ziff Corp generated taxable income of $74.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, before
taking into account deductions related to the amortization of the goodwill and other intangible assets. We determined
that we would need to generate taxable income of at least $1.6 billion over the remaining seven-year weighted-average
amortization period, as well as an additional 20-year loss carryforward period available to us if a net operating loss is
generated, in order to fully realize the deferred income tax assets. Using the estimates and assumptions discussed
below, we expect to generate sufficient taxable income over the remaining amortization and loss carryforward periods
available to us in order to fully realize these deferred income tax assets.

To generate $1.6 billion in taxable income over the remaining amortization and loss carryforward periods available to
us, we estimated that, based on assets under management of $36.9 billion as of October 1, 2016, we would need to
generate a minimum compound annual growth rate in assets under management of less than 1% over the period for
which the taxable income estimate relates to fully realize the deferred income tax assets, assuming no
performance-related growth, and therefore no incentive income. The assumed nature and amount of this estimated
growth rate are not based on historical results or current
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expectations of future growth; however, the other assumptions underlying the taxable income estimate, such as
general maintenance of current expense ratios and cost allocation percentages among the Och-Ziff Operating Group
entities, which impact the amount of taxable income flowing through our legal structure, are based on our near-term
operating budget. If our actual growth rate in assets under management falls below this minimum threshold for any
extended time during the period for which these estimates relate and we do not otherwise experience offsetting growth
rates in other periods, we may not generate taxable income sufficient to realize the deferred income tax assets and may
need to record a valuation allowance.

Management regularly reviews the model used to generate the estimates, including the underlying assumptions. If it
determines that a valuation allowance is required for any reason, the amount would be determined based on the
relevant circumstances at that time. To the extent we record a valuation allowance against our deferred income tax
assets related to the goodwill and other intangible assets, we would record a corresponding decrease in the liability to
our executive managing directors and the Ziffs under the tax receivable agreement equal to approximately 78% of
such amount; therefore, our net income allocated to Class A Shareholders would only be impacted by 22% of any
valuation allowance recorded against the deferred income tax assets.

Actual taxable income may differ from the estimate described above, which was prepared solely for determining
whether we currently expect to have sufficient future taxable income to realize the deferred income tax assets.
Furthermore, actual or estimated future taxable income may be materially impacted by significant changes in assets
under management, whether as a result of fund investment performance or fund investor contributions or redemptions,
significant changes to the assumptions underlying our estimates, future changes in income tax law, state income tax
apportionment or other factors.

As of September 30, 2016, we had $143.7 million of net operating losses available to offset future taxable income for
federal income tax purposes that will expire between 2030 and 2036, and $101.9 million of net operating losses
available to offset future taxable income for state income tax purposes and $93.9 million for local income tax purposes
that will expire between 2035 and 2036. Based on the analysis set forth above, as of September 30, 2016, we have
determined that it is not necessary to record a valuation allowance with respect to our deferred income tax assets
related to the goodwill and other intangible assets deductible for tax purposes, and any related net operating loss
carryforward. However, we have determined that we may not realize certain foreign income tax credits. Accordingly,
a valuation allowance of $7.8 million has been established for these credits.

Impact of Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements on Recent and Future Trends

Accounting Standards Updates (“ASU”’) 2015-02, Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis. ASU 2015-02
significantly changed the consolidation analysis required under GAAP, and resulted in the deconsolidation of the
majority of the previously consolidated Och-Ziff funds, including all of the CLOs. The deconsolidation of the
majority of the previously consolidated funds resulted in a substantial decrease in assets of consolidated Och-Ziff
funds, liabilities of consolidated Och-Ziff funds, redeemable noncontrolling interests, appropriated retained deficit and
shareholders’ equity attributable to noncontrolling interests in our consolidated balance sheet. Additionally, the
deconsolidation has caused a significant decrease in the amount of income of consolidated Och-Ziff funds, expenses
of consolidated Och-Ziff funds, and net gains (losses) of consolidated Och-Ziff funds in our consolidated statement of
comprehensive income (loss). Management fees and incentive income from the previously consolidated funds are also
no longer eliminated in consolidation.

The net impact to our results is that incentive income from the previously consolidated funds will now be recognized
when such amounts are no longer subject to clawback. Prior to deconsolidation, incentive income from these
previously consolidated funds was recognized by allocating a portion of the net income of these funds to us rather than
to the fund investors (noncontrolling interests) based on the contractual terms of the relevant fund agreements. This
resulted in incentive income being recognized that was subject to clawback in the event of future losses in the
respective funds.

The adoption of ASU 2015-02 did not have any effect on Economic Income. See Notes 2 and 3 to our consolidated
financial statements included in this report for additional information.

None of the other changes to GAAP that went into effect during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 are
expected to have an impact on our future trends.
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Expected Impact of Future Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncements on Future Trends
The Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) has issued various ASUs that could have an impact on our
future trends. For additional details regarding these ASUSs, including allowable methods of adoption (e.g., full
retrospective or modified retrospective), see Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements included in this report.
Below is a summary of ASUs that may have an impact on our future trends upon adoption.
ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. ASU 2014-09 supersedes the revenue recognition
requirements in ASC 605—Revenue Recognition and most industry-specific guidance throughout the Codification. The
requirements of ASU 2014-09 were initially effective for us beginning in the first quarter of 2017; however, the FASB
in April 2015 approved a deferral of the effective date to the first quarter of 2018. We are currently evaluating the
impact that this update will have on our future trends.
ASU 2016-02, Leases. ASU 2016-02 significantly changes accounting for lease arrangements, in particular from the
perspective of the lessee. Upon adoption of the ASU, where we are the lessee, we will likely be required to recognize
certain lease arrangements on our balance sheet for the first time, but will continue to recognize associated expenses
on our statement of comprehensive income in a manner similar to existing accounting principles. The requirements of
ASU 2016-02 are effective for us beginning in the first quarter of 2019. We are currently evaluating the impact that
this update will have on our future trends.
ASU 2016-09, Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting. ASU 2016-09 will change how
companies account for certain aspects of share-based payments to employees. The requirements of ASU 2016-09 are
effective for us beginning in the first quarter of 2017 with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the
impact that this update will have on our future trends.
The other changes to GAAP that have been issued but that have not yet been adopted are not expected to have an
impact on our future trends.
Economic Income Reconciliations
The tables below present the reconciliations of Economic Income and its components to the respective GAAP
measures for the periods presented in this MD&A.
Economic Income
Three Months Ended
September 30, 2016

Och-Ziff
Funds Other Total

Segment Operations Company

(dollars in thousands)

Net income allocated to Class A Shareholders—GAAP $13,160 $ 1,125 $14,285
Net income allocated to the Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units 16,313 — 16,313
Equity-based compensation, net of RSUs settled in cash 17,709 589 18,298
Income taxes 9,887 99 9,986
Allocations to Och-Ziff Operating Group D Units 950 — 950

Adjustment for expenses related to compensation and profit-sharing arrangements

based on fund investment performance o 2,741 2,741

Changes in tax receivable agreement liability (11,819 ) — (11,819 )
Depreciation, amortization and loss on asset held for sale 7,776 189 7,965
Other adjustments (1,251 ) (48 ) (1,299 )
Economic Income—Non-GAAP $52,725 $ 4,695 $57,420
76
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Net income allocated to Class A Shareholders—GAAP

Net income allocated to the Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units

Equity-based compensation, net of RSUs settled in cash

Income taxes

Adjustment for incentive income allocations from consolidated funds subject to
clawback

Allocations to Och-Ziff Operating Group D Units

Adjustment for expenses related to compensation and profit-sharing arrangements
based on fund investment performance

Reorganization expenses

Changes in tax receivable agreement liability

Depreciation, amortization and loss on asset held for sale

Other adjustments

Economic Income—Non-GAAP

Net (loss) income allocated to Class A Shareholders—GAAP

Net (loss) income allocated to the Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units
Equity-based compensation, net of RSUs settled in cash

Income taxes

Allocations to Och-Ziff Operating Group D Units

Adjustment for expenses related to compensation and profit-sharing arrangements

based on fund investment performance

Changes in tax receivable agreement liability
Depreciation, amortization and loss on asset held for sale
Other adjustments

Economic Income—Non-GAAP

77
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Three Months Ended
30, 2015

Och-Ziff

Funds Other
Segment

(dollars in thousands)

$12,640 $4,777
43,505

26,983 564
12,422 —

642 (4,026 )
3,109 138

— 3,813
4,018 —

533 —

2,797 189

131 (687 )

$106,780 $ 4,768

2016

Och-Zift Other

Funds .
Operations

Segment

(dollars in thousands)

$(138,649) $ 5,007
(187,338 ) —
54,364 1,947
39,337 99
2,850 —
5,430
(11,990 ) —
14,385 562
(2,759 ) 87

$(229,800) $ 13,132

September

Total

Operations Company

$17,417
43,505
27,547
12,422

(3,384 )
3,247
3,813

4,018

533

2,986

(556 )
$111,548

Nine Months Ended September 30,

Total
Company

$(133,642)
(187,338 )
56,311
39,436
2,850

5,430

(11,990 )
14,947

2,672 )
$(216,668)
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Net income allocated to Class A Shareholders—GAAP
Net income allocated to the Och-Ziff Operating Group A Units
Equity-based compensation, net of RSUs settled in cash

Income taxes

Adjustment for incentive income allocations from consolidated funds subject to

clawback

Allocations to Och-Ziff Operating Group D Units

Adjustment for expenses related to compensation and profit-sharing arrangements

based on fund investment performance

Reorganization expenses

Changes in tax receivable agreement liability

Depreciation, amortization and loss on asset held for sale

Other adjustments
Economic Income—Non-GAAP
Economic Income Revenues

Management fees—GAAP
Adjustment to management fees(!)

Management Fees—Economic Income

Basis—Non-GAAP

Incentive income—GAAP
Adjustment to incentive income(®

Incentive Income—Economic Income

Basis—Non-GAAP
Other revenues

Total Revenues—Economic Income

Basis—Non-GAAP

78

Three Months Ended September
30, 2016

Nine Months Ended September
30, 2015

Och-Ziff
Funds Other Total

Segment Operations Company

(dollars in thousands)
$4,774 $43,274 $48,048

175,239 — 175,239
84,257 2,333 86,590
119,607 — 119,607
(184 ) (40,478 ) (40,662 )
13,995 701 14,696
— 7,407 7,407
12,052 — 12,052
(47,893 ) — (47,893 )
7,575 560 8,135

532 (978 ) (446 )

$369,954 $12,819 $382,773

Three Months Ended September
30, 2015

Other Total

Och-Ziff Och-Ziff
Funds Other Total Funds
Segment

(dollars in thousands)

Operations Company Segment Operations Company

$123,329 $ 5,184  $128,513 $157,421 $ 5357 $162,778

(8,808 ) — (8,808
114,521 5,184 119,705

16,202 2,552 18,754

16,202 2,552 18,754
378 2 380

) (75 ) — (75 )

157,346 5,357 162,703

35,615 — 35,615
1,292 2,046 3,338

36,907 2,046 38,953
572 7 579

$131,101 $ 7,738  $138,839 $194,825 $ 7,410 $202,235
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Nine Months Ended September = Nine Months Ended September

30, 2016 30, 2015
Och-Ziff Och-Ziff
Funds Other Total Funds Other Total

Segment Operations Company Segment Operations Company

(dollars in thousands)
Management fees—GAAP $413,266 $ 15,556 $428,822 $481,249 $ 14,958 $496,207
Adjustment to management fees(!) (31,362 ) — (31,362 ) (2,652 ) — (2,652 )

Management Fees—Economic Income
Basis— Non-GAAP 381,904 15,556 397,460 478,597 14,958 493,555

Incentive income—GAAP 50,105 7,372 57,477 121,262 — 121,262
Adjustment to incentive income(® — — — 8,710 5,801 14,511
Incentive Income—Economic Income

Basis—_Non-GAAP 50,105 7,372 57,477 129,972 5,801 135,773
Other revenues 1,533 11 1,544 1,523 25 1,548

Total Revenues—Economic Income

Basis—Non-GAAP $433,542 $22,939 $456,481 $610,092 $20,784 $630,876

Adjustment to present management fees net of recurring placement and related service fees, as management
(1)considers these fees a reduction in management fees, not an expense. The impact of eliminations related to the
consolidated Och-Ziff funds is also removed.
(2) Adjustment to exclude the impact of eliminations related to the consolidated Och-Ziff funds.
Economic Income Expenses

Three Months Ended Three Months Ended
September 30, 2016 September 30, 2015
Och-Ziff Other Total Och-Ziff Other Total
Funds

. unds .
Segment Operations Company Segment Operations Company

(dollars in thousands)
Compensation and benefits—GAAP $51,990 $5,768 $57,758 $63912 $6,600 $70,602
Adjustment to compensation and benefits(!) (18,484 ) (3,330 ) (21,814 ) (30,163 ) (4,514 ) (34,677 )

Compensatlon and Benefits—Economic Income $33.506 $2.438 $35.944 $33.749 $2.176 $35.925
Basis—Non-GAAP

Interest expense and general, administrative and
other expenses—GAAP

Adjustment to interest expense and general,
administrative and other expenses®
Non-Compensation Expenses—Economic Income
Basis—Non-GAAP

$49,641 $794 $50,435 $70,212 $655 $70,867
(4,764 ) (189 ) (4,953 ) (15,913 ) (189 ) (16,102 )

$44,877 $ 605 $45,482 $54,299 §$ 466 $54,765
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Nine Months Ended September =~ Nine Months Ended September

30, 2016 30, 2015
Och-Ziff Och-Ziff
Funds Other Total Funds Other Total

Segment Operations Company Segment Operations Company

(dollars in thousands)
Compensation and benefits—GAAP $155,293 $14,469 $169,762 $194,931 $16,964 $211,895
Adjustment to compensation and benefits(}) (56,689 ) (7,377 ) (64,066 ) (99,111 ) (10,440 ) (109,551 )

Compensatlon and Benefits—Economic Income $98.604 $7.092 $105.696 $95.820 $6.524 $102.344
Basis—Non-GAAP

Interest expense and general, administrative and
other expenses—GAAP

Adjustment to interest expense and general,
administrative and other expenses®
Non-Compensation Expenses—Economic Inco
Basis—Non-GAAP m§564’750 $2.715

$598,506 $3,277 $601,783 $141,363 $2,002 $143,365
(33,756 ) (562 ) (34,318 ) 2,965 (561 ) 2,404

$567,465 $144,328 $1,441 $145,769

Adjustment to exclude equity-based compensation, as management does not consider these non-cash expenses to
be reflective of our operating performance. However, the fair value of RSUs that are settled in cash to employees
or executive managing directors is included as an expense at the time of settlement. Further, expenses related to
compensation and profit-sharing arrangements based on fund investment performance are recognized at the end of
the relevant commitment period, as management reviews the total compensation expense related to these
arrangements in relation to any incentive income earned by the relevant fund. Distributions to the Och-Ziff
Operating Group D Units are also excluded, as management reviews operating performance at the Och-Ziff
Operating Group level, where our operations are performed, prior to making any income allocations.

Adjustment to exclude depreciation, amortization and changes in the tax receivable agreement liability, as
management does not consider these items to be reflective of our operating performance. Additionally, recurring
placement and related service fees are excluded, as management considers these fees a reduction in management
fees, not an expense.

Other Economic Income Items

ey

2

Three Months Ended Three Months Ended
September 30, 2016 September 30, 2015
Och-Ziff Other Total Och-Ziff Other Total
Funds

. unds .
Segment Operations Company Segment Operations Company

(dollars in thousands)
Net income allocated to noncontrolling
: $16,454 $ 116 $16,570 $45,962 $33,009 $78,971
interests—GAAP
Adjustment to net income allocated to noncontrolling
interests(!)

Net Loss Allocated to Noncontrolling

(16,461 ) (116 ) (16,577 ) (45,965 ) (33,009 ) (78,974 )

Interests—Economic Income Basis—Non-GAAP $@ )$ — $C ) $3 ) $— $a )
Nine Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September
2016 30, 2015
Och-Ziff  Other Total Och-Ziff  Other Total
Funds Operations Company  Funds Operations Company
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Segment Segment

(dollars in thousands)
Net (loss) income allocated to noncontrolling
interests—GAAP $(187,213) $ 346 $(186,867) $194,563 $75,783  $270,346
Adjustment to net (loss) income allocated to
noncontrolling interests(!
Net Loss Allocated to Noncontrolling

Interests—Economic Income Basis—Non-GAA%’(12

187,201 (346 ) 186,855 (194,573 ) (75,783 ) (270,356 )

) $ — $(12 ) $(10 ) $— $(10 )
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Adjustment to exclude amounts allocated to our executive managing directors on their interests in the Och-Ziff
Operating Group, as management reviews operating performance at the Och-Ziff Operating Group level. We
conduct substantially all of our activities through the Och-Ziff Operating Group. Additionally, the impact of the
consolidated Och-Ziff funds, including the allocation of earnings to investors in those funds, is also removed.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Our predominant exposure to market risk is related to our role as general partner or investment manager for the
Och-Ziff funds, and the sensitivities to movements in the fair value of their investments that may adversely affect our
management fees and incentive income.

Fair value of the financial assets and liabilities of the Och-Ziff funds may fluctuate in response to changes in the value
of investments, foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices and interest rates. The fair value changes in the
assets and liabilities of the Och-Ziff funds affect the management fees and incentive income we may earn from the
funds.

With regards to the consolidated Och-Ziff funds, the net effect of these fair value changes primarily impacts the net
gains of consolidated Och-Ziff funds in our consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss); however, a large
portion of these fair value changes are absorbed by the investors of these funds (noncontrolling interests). We may
also be entitled to a portion of these earnings through our incentive income allocation as general partner of these
funds.

Impact on Management Fees

Management fees for our multi-strategy and opportunistic credit funds are generally based on the net asset value of
those funds. Accordingly, management fees will generally change in proportion to changes in the fair value of
investments held by these funds. Management fees for our real estate funds and certain other funds are generally based
on committed capital during the original investment period and invested capital thereafter; therefore, management fees
are not impacted by changes in the fair value of investments held by those funds.

Impact on Incentive Income

Incentive income for our funds is generally based on a percentage of profits generated by our funds over a
commitment period, which is impacted by global market conditions and other factors. Major factors that influence the
degree of impact include how the investments held by our funds are impacted by changes in the market and the extent
to which any high-water marks impact our ability to earn incentive income. Consequently, incentive income cannot be
readily predicted or estimated.

Market Risk

The amount of our assets under management is generally based on the net asset value of multi-strategy and
opportunistic credit funds (plus unfunded commitments for certain closed-end opportunistic credit funds), and
committed or invested capital for our real estate funds and certain other funds. A 10% change in the fair value of the
net assets held by our funds as of September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, would have resulted in a change of
approximately $2.8 billion and $3.5 billion, respectively, in our assets under management.

A 10% change in the fair value of the net assets held by our funds as of October 1, 2016 (the date management fees
are calculated for the fourth quarter of 2016) would impact management fees charged on that day by

approximately $8.1 million. A 10% change in the fair value of the net assets held by our funds as of January 1, 2016,
would have impacted management fees charged on that day by approximately $11.4 million.

A 10% change in the fair value of the net assets held by our funds as of the end of any year (excluding unrealized
gains and losses in Special Investments or other investments on which we do not earn any incentive income until such
investments are sold or otherwise realized), could significantly affect our incentive income, as incentive income is
generally based on a percentage of annual profits generated by our funds. We do not earn incentive income on
unrealized gains attributable to Special Investments and certain other investments, and therefore a change in the fair
value of those investments would have no effect on incentive income.

ey
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Exchange Rate Risk

Our funds hold investments denominated in non-U.S. dollar currencies, which may be affected by movements in the
rate of exchange between the U.S. dollar and foreign currencies. We estimate that as of September 30, 2016 and
December 31, 2015, a 10% weakening or strengthening of the U.S. dollar against all or any combination of currencies
to which our funds have exposure to exchange rates would not have a material effect on our revenues, net income
allocated to Class A Shareholders or Economic Income.

Interest Rate Risk

Our Senior Notes and Aircraft Loan are fixed-rate borrowings. Our borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility
bear interest at rates indexed to LIBOR. As of September 30, 2016, we had $120.0 million outstanding under the
Revolving Credit Facility. We estimate that as of September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, a 10% increase or
decrease in LIBOR would have no material effect on our annual interest expense, net income allocated to Class A
Shareholders or Economic Income.

Our funds have financing arrangements and hold credit instruments that accrue interest at variable rates. Interest rate
changes may therefore impact the amount of interest payments, future earnings and cash flows. In the event LIBOR,
and rates directly or indirectly indexed to LIBOR, were to increase by 10% over LIBOR as of September 30, 2016 and
December 31, 2015, based on our funds’ debt investments and obligations as of such date, we estimate that the net
effect on our revenues, net income allocated to Class A Shareholders or Economic Income would not have been
material. A tightening of credit and an increase in prevailing interest rates could make it more difficult for us to raise
capital and sustain the growth rate of the funds.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that counterparties or debt issuers may fail to fulfill their obligations or that the collateral value
may become inadequate to cover our exposure. We manage credit risk by monitoring the credit exposure to and the
creditworthiness of counterparties, requiring additional collateral where appropriate.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act, that are
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act
is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and
that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing
and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that any controls and procedures, no
matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control
objectives, and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible
controls and procedures.

As of September 30, 2016, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design
and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based on the foregoing, our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective and were operating at a
reasonable assurance level as of September 30, 2016.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes to our internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the
Exchange Act, that occurred in the third quarter of 2016 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our
disclosure controls or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all error and all fraud. A
control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that
the control system’s objectives will be met. The design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource
constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Further, because of the inherent
limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to
error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. These inherent
limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur
because of simple error or mistake. Controls can also be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by
collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the controls.

The design of any system of controls is based in part on certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and
there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future
conditions. Projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of controls to future periods are subject to risks. Over
time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of compliance
with policies or procedures.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

We are not currently subject to any pending judicial, administrative or arbitration proceedings that we expect to have a
material impact on our consolidated financial statements. We are from time to time involved in litigation and claims
incidental to the conduct of our business. Like other businesses in our industry, we are subject to extensive scrutiny by
regulatory agencies globally that have, or may in the future have, regulatory authority over us and our business
activities. This has resulted in, or may in the future result in, regulatory agency investigations, litigation and
subpoenas, and related sanctions and costs. See “Item 1A. Risk Factors” below and “Item 1A. Risk Factors—Risks Related
to Our Business—Recent regulatory changes in jurisdictions outside the United States could adversely affect our
business” in our Annual Report. See Note 15 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-Q for
additional information.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Please see “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in our Annual Report for a discussion of the risks material to our business.
Additionally, the risk factor below has been updated as a result of recent developments.

Investors in our funds have the right to redeem their investments in our funds on a regular basis and could redeem a
significant amount of assets under management during any given quarterly period, which would result in significantly
decreased revenues.

Subject to any specific redemption provisions applicable to a fund, investors in our multi-strategy hedge funds may
generally redeem their investments in our funds on an annual or quarterly basis following the expiration of a specified
period of time (typically between one and three years), although certain investors generally may redeem capital during
such specified period upon the payment of a redemption fee and upon giving proper notice. In a declining market,
during periods when the hedge fund industry generally experiences outflows, or in response to specific events that
occur at the Company, we could experience increased redemptions and a consequent reduction in our assets under
management. Recently, our assets under management have declined and we believe this trend will likely continue to
some extent for some period of time following the settlement of the FCPA investigation as described in Note 15 to our
consolidated financial statements. Furthermore, investors in our funds may also invest in funds managed by other
alternative asset managers that have restricted or suspended redemptions or may in the future do so. Such investors
may redeem capital from our funds, even if our performance is superior to such other alternative asset managers’
performance if they are restricted or prevented from redeeming capital from those other managers.

The decrease in revenues that would result from significant redemptions in our funds could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. During 2015, we experienced redemptions of
approximately $6.7 billion from our funds, and an additional $6.7 billion during the first nine months of 2016. We
may continue to experience elevated redemption levels if economic and market conditions remain uncertain or worsen
or pressures on the hedge fund industry continue.

Competitive pressures in the asset management business could materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition or results of operations.

The asset management business remains intensely competitive, with competition based on a variety of factors,
including investment performance, the quality of service and level of desired information provided to fund investors,
brand recognition and business reputation. We compete for fund investors, highly qualified talent, including
investment professionals, and for investment opportunities with a number of hedge funds, private equity firms,
specialized funds, traditional asset managers, commercial banks, investment banks and other financial institutions.
Across the hedge fund industry, management fees are experiencing downward pressure. We are also subject to this
pressure and believe it is likely to result in decreased management fees in future periods.
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A number of factors create competitive risks for us:
We compete in an international arena and, to remain competitive, we may need to further expand our business into
new geographic regions or new business areas where our competitors may have a more established presence or greater
experience and expertise.
A number of our competitors have greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources and more personnel than
we do.
Several of our competitors have raised and continue to raise significant amounts of capital, and many of them have or
may pursue investment objectives that are similar to ours, which would create additional competition for investment
opportunities and may reduce the size and duration of pricing inefficiencies that many alternative investment
strategies seek to exploit.
Some of our competitors may have higher risk tolerances or different risk assessments, which could allow them to
consider a wider variety of investments and to bid more aggressively than us for investments that we may want to
make.
Some of our competitors may be subject to less extensive regulation and thus may be better positioned to pursue
certain investment objectives and/or be subject to lower expenses related to compliance and regulatory investigations
than us.
Other industry participants will from time to time seek to recruit our active executive managing directors, investment
professionals and other professional talent away from us.
We may lose fund investors in the future if we do not match or provide more attractive management fees, incentive
income arrangements, structures and terms than those offered by competitors. However, we may experience decreased
revenues if we match or provide more attractive management fees, incentive income arrangements, structures and
terms offered by competitors. In addition, changes in the global capital markets could diminish the attractiveness of
our funds relative to investments in other investment products. This competitive pressure could materially adversely
affect our ability to make successful investments and limit our ability to raise future successful funds, either of which
would materially adversely impact our business, financial condition or results of operations.
If our investment performance, including the level and consistency of returns or other performance criteria, does not
meet the expectations of our fund investors, it will be difficult for our funds to retain or raise capital and for us to
grow our business. Additionally, even if our fund performance is strong, it is possible that we will not be able to
attract additional capital. Further, the allocation of increasing amounts of capital to alternative investment strategies
over the long term by institutional and individual investors may lead to a reduction in profitable investment
opportunities, including by driving prices for investments higher and increasing the difficulty of achieving consistent,
positive, absolute returns.
Competition for fund investors is based on a variety of factors, including:
{nvestment performance.
dnvestor liquidity and willingness to invest.
dnvestor perception of investment managers’ ability, drive, focus and alignment of interest with them.
dnvestor perception of robustness of business infrastructure and financial controls.
ransparency with regard to portfolio composition.
dnvestment and risk management processes.

Quality of service provided to and duration of relationship with

investors.
Business reputation, including the reputation of a firm’s investment professionals.
L evel of fees and incentive income charged for services.
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If we are not able to compete successfully based on these and other factors, our assets under management, earnings
and revenues may be significantly reduced and our business, financial condition or results of operations may be
materially adversely affected. Furthermore, if we are forced to compete with other alternative asset managers on the
basis of fees, we may not be able to maintain our current management fee and incentive income structures, which
drive our revenues and earnings. We have historically competed for fund investors primarily on the investment
performance of our funds and our reputation, and not on the level of our fees or incentive income relative to those of
our competitors. However, as the alternative asset management sector continues to mature and addresses current
market and competitive conditions, there is increasing downward pressure on management fees and there is a risk that
incentive income rates will decline, without regard to the historical performance of a manager. Management fee or
incentive income rate reductions on existing or future funds, particularly without corresponding increases in assets
under management or decreases in our operating costs, could materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition or results of operations.

In addition to the competitive pressures described above, as we diversify by offering new or enhanced products and
investment platforms, the average management fee rate we earn on our assets under management may fall as a result
of a larger proportion of our assets under management being invested in products that earn lower management fee
rates. For example, our average management fee rate has fallen from 1.53% in 2013 to 1.23% in the third quarter of
2016. The decrease is primarily due to lower assets under management in our multi-strategy funds and an increase in
our opportunistic credit funds and our Institutional Credit Strategies products as a percentage of total assets under
management. These credit funds earn lower management fee rates than our multi-strategy funds, consistent with
market convention for these products.

Even if we are able to compete successfully based on the factors noted above, it is possible we could lose assets under
management to our competitors. It is possible that similar circumstances could cause us to experience unusually high
redemptions or a decrease in inflows, even if our investment performance and other business attributes are otherwise
competitive or superior.

We are subject to third-party litigation that could result in significant legal and other liabilities and reputational harm,
which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

We face significant risks in our business that subject us to third-party litigation and legal liability. In general, we will
be exposed to litigation risk in connection with any allegations of misconduct, negligence, dishonesty or bad faith
arising from our management of any fund. We may also be subject to litigation arising from investor dissatisfaction
with the performance of our funds, including certain losses due to the failure of a particular investment strategy or
improper trading activity, if we violate restrictions in our funds’ organizational documents or from allegations that we
improperly exercised control or influence over companies in which our funds have large investments. In addition, we
are exposed to risks of litigation relating to claims that we have not properly addressed conflicts of interest. Any
litigation arising in such circumstances is likely to be protracted, expensive and surrounded by circumstances that
could be materially damaging to our reputation and our business. Moreover, in such cases, we would be obligated to
bear legal, settlement and other costs, which may be in excess of any available insurance coverage. In addition,
although we are indemnified by our funds, our rights to indemnification may be challenged. If we are required to incur
all or a portion of the costs arising out of any litigation or investigation as a result of inadequate insurance proceeds, if
any, or fail to obtain indemnification from our funds, our business, financial condition or results of operations could
be materially adversely affected.

Now that the FCPA investigation has been settled, it is possible that we will be exposed to increased civil litigation
risk arising out of the events investigated by the SEC and DOJ as part of the FCPA matter.

It is possible that we would be made a party to any lawsuit involving any of the fund-related litigation described
above. As with the funds, while we maintain insurance, there can be no assurance that our insurance will prove to be
adequate. If we are required to incur all or a portion of the costs arising out of litigation, our business, financial
condition or results of operations could be materially adversely affected. Furthermore, any such litigation could be
protracted, expensive and highly damaging to our reputation, which could result in a significant decline in our assets
under management and revenues, even if the underlying claims are without merit. In addition, we may participate in
transactions that involve litigation (including the enforcement of property rights) from time to time, and such
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transactions may expose us to reputational risk and increased risk from countersuits.
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Extensive regulation of our business affects our activities and creates the potential for significant liabilities and
penalties. Our reputation, business, financial condition or results of operations could be materially affected by
regulatory issues.

Our business is subject to extensive and complex regulation, including periodic examinations and regulatory
investigations, by governmental and self-regulatory organizations in the jurisdictions in which we operate and trade
around the world. As an investment adviser registered under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended (the
“Advisers Act”) and a company subject to the registration and reporting provisions of the Exchange Act, we are subject
to regulation and oversight by the SEC. As a company with a class of securities listed on the NYSE, we are subject to
the rules and regulations of the NYSE. As a registered commodity pool operator and a registered commodity trading
advisor, we are subject to regulation and oversight by the United States Commodity Futures Trading Commission
(“CFTC”) and the National Futures Association. In addition, we are subject to regulation by the Department of Labor
under the U.S. Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”). In the U.K., our U.K.
sub-adviser is subject to regulation by the U.K. Financial Conduct Authority. Our Asian operations, and our
investment activities around the globe, are subject to a variety of other regulatory regimes that vary country by
country, including the Securities and Futures Commission in Hong Kong, the Securities and Exchange Board of India
and the Dubai Financial Services Authority.

The regulatory bodies with jurisdiction over us have the authority to grant, and in specific circumstances to cancel,
permissions to carry on our business and the authority to conduct investigations and administrative proceedings. Such
investigations and administrative proceedings can result in fines, suspensions of personnel or other sanctions,
including censure, the issuance of cease-and-desist orders or the suspension or expulsion of an investment adviser
from registration or memberships. For example, a failure to comply with the obligations imposed by the Exchange Act
or Advisers Act, including recordkeeping, advertising and operating requirements, disclosure obligations and
prohibitions on fraudulent activities, or a failure to maintain our funds’ exemption from compliance with the
Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “1940 Act”) could result in investigations, sanctions and
reputational damage, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. Our funds
are involved regularly in trading activities that implicate a broad number of U.S. and foreign securities law regimes,
including laws governing trading on inside information, market manipulation, anti-corruption, including the FCPA,
and a broad number of technical trading requirements that implicate fundamental market regulation policies. Even if
an investigation or proceeding does not result in a sanction or the sanction imposed against us or our personnel by a
regulator were small in monetary amount, the adverse publicity relating to the investigation, proceeding or imposition
of these sanctions could harm our reputation and cause us to lose existing investors or to fail to gain new investors.
Furthermore, the legal, technology and other costs associated with regulatory investigations could increase to such a
level that they could have a material impact on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

These global financial services regulators affect us not only with their regulations, but also with their examination,
inspection and enforcement functions as well. We are routinely subject to examination and inspection and, although
we make reasonable efforts to maintain effective compliance programs, there can be no assurances that any such
inquiry would not result in a finding or sanction that would adversely affect our business, financial condition or results
of operations. Likewise, enforcement investigations and administrative inquiries can be sweeping in

nature. Cooperating with these investigations, as is our practice, can be expensive and time-consuming and could
distract us from our business operations. In particular, U.S. regulators routinely investigate potentially serious matters
such as possible insider trading, market manipulation, misleading disclosure, conflicts of interest, fraud, foreign
corruption, including under the FCPA; lesser potential violations, such as books and records inaccuracies, weaknesses
in internal controls; and compliance with general reporting and advertising regulations. For the past several years, we
have cooperated with a number of ongoing regulatory investigations and examinations, both domestically and
internationally, and we expect to be the subject of investigations and examinations in the future. There can be no
assurances that ongoing or future investigations will not adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of
operations. Enforcement actions and administrative proceedings can result in fines, or other sanctions, including
censure, the issuance of a cease-and-desist order, suspension or expulsion of persons or firms from the industry. Such
sanctions can harm our reputation and cause us to lose existing investors or fail to gain new investors, which could
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adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

On September 29, 2016, we reached settlements with the DOJ and the SEC, resolving their investigations into our
former private investment business in Africa and a 2007 investment by the Libyan Investment Authority in certain of
our funds. As part of the settlements, we entered into a Deferred Prosecution Agreement with the DOJ, and our
subsidiary, OZ Africa,
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agreed to plead guilty to one count of conspiracy to violate the anti-bribery provisions of the FCPA. We also agreed to
settle an administrative proceeding with the SEC involving violations of the FCPA and the Investment Advisers Act.
Pursuant to the settlement agreements with the regulators, we agreed to pay $412.1 million in settlement charges and
to implement enhanced internal accounting controls and policies, to separate the chief compliance officer from other
officer positions, and to engage an independent compliance monitor for three years, subject to early termination or
extension. The settlements could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of
operations as described below in “—The FCPA settlements could have a material adverse effect on our ability to raise
capital for our funds.”

In addition, we regularly rely on exemptions or exclusions from various requirements of the Securities Act, the
Exchange Act, the 1940 Act, the Commodity Exchange Act and ERISA in conducting our asset management
activities. These exemptions or exclusions are sometimes highly complex and may, in certain circumstances, depend
on compliance by third parties whom we do not control. If for any reason these exemptions or exclusions were to
become unavailable to us, we could become subject to regulatory action or third-party claims and our business,
financial condition or results of operations could be materially adversely affected. Certain of the requirements
imposed under the 1940 Act, the Advisers Act, ERISA and by non-U.S. regulatory authorities are designed primarily
to ensure the integrity of the financial markets and to protect investors in our funds and are not designed to protect
holders of our Class A Shares. At any time, the regulations applicable to us may be amended or expanded by the
relevant regulatory authorities. If we are unable to correctly interpret and timely comply with any amended or
expanded regulatory requirements, our business, financial condition or results of operations could be adversely
impacted in a material way.

We may also be adversely affected if additional legislation or regulations are enacted, or by changes in the
interpretation or enforcement of existing rules and regulations imposed by the SEC, other U.S. or foreign
governmental regulatory authorities or self-regulatory organizations that supervise the financial markets and their
participants. See “Item 1A. Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Business—Increased regulatory focus in the United States
could result in additional burdens on our business” and “Item 1A. Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Business—Recent
regulatory changes in jurisdictions outside the United States could adversely affect our business” in our Annual Report
for additional information. It is impossible to determine the extent of the impact of any new laws, regulations or
initiatives that may be proposed, or whether any of the proposals will become law. Compliance with additional new
laws or regulations could be difficult and expensive and affect the manner in which we conduct business, and we may
be unable to correctly interpret and timely comply with any amended or expanded regulatory requirements, which
could have adverse impacts on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

The FCPA settlements could have a material adverse effect on our ability to raise capital for our funds.

As described above under “—Extensive regulation of our business affects our activities and creates the potential for
significant liabilities and penalties. Our reputation, business, financial condition or results of operations could be
materially affected by regulatory issues,” we recently settled investigations by the SEC and the DOJ concerning
violations of the FCPA and other laws, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
or results of operations. In addition to the financial cost of the settlements, the investigation and settlements may harm
our reputation and cause us to lose existing investors or fail to gain new investors, which could further adversely
affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. Prior to the settlements, many of our funds raised
capital relying on the exemption from registration provided by Rule 506 of Regulation D under the Securities Act
(“Rule 506”) in connection with a securities offering structured as a private placement. As a consequence of the
settlements, many of our funds are currently disqualified from raising capital using Rule 506 offerings. This could
negatively affect our ability to raise capital for these funds, and our ability to offer and sell fund interests to certain
investors in certain U.S. states may be impaired. The inability of many of our funds to raise capital in Rule 506
offerings may also result in additional expenses. The potential negative impact of the FCPA settlements on our ability
to raise or retain capital for our funds could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

None.

Item 3. Defaults upon Senior Securities
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None.
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Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

None.

Item 5. Other Information

None.

Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit Description

No.
Form of Unit Designation of the Preferences and Relative, Participating, Optional, and Other Special

41 Rights, Powers and Duties of Class A Cumulative Preferred Units (included in Exhibit 10.1 hereto),

’ incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on September 29,

2016.
Unit Designation of the Preferences and Relative, Participating, Optional, and Other Special Rights,

4.2 Powers and Duties of Class A Cumulative Preferred Units of OZ Management LP, incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 4.1 of our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 11, 2016.

Unit Designation of the Preferences and Relative, Participating, Optional, and Other Special Rights,
4.3 Powers and Duties of Class A Cumulative Preferred Units of OZ Advisors LP, incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 4.2 of our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 11, 2016.

Unit Designation of the Preferences and Relative, Participating, Optional, and Other Special Rights,
4.4 Powers and Duties of Class A Cumulative Preferred Units of OZ Advisors II LP, incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 4.3 of our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 11, 2016.

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated September 29, 2016, by and among OZ Management LP, OZ
10.1 Advisors LP, OZ Advisors II LP and the Purchasers party thereto, incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on September 29, 2016.
Amendment to Tax Receivable Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2016, by and among inter alia
Och-Ziff Capital Management Group LLC, Och-Ziff Holding Corp., Och-Ziff Holding LLC, OZ

10.2 Management LP, OZ Advisors LP, and OZ Advisors II LP, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
10.1 of our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on September 29, 2016.
103 Plea Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2016, by and among OZ Africa Management GP, LLC, the

U.S. Department of Justice and the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Eastern District of New York.
Deferred Prosecution Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2016, by and among Och-Ziff Capital
10.4 Management Group LLC, the U.S. Department of Justice and the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Eastern
District of New York.
Order Instituting Administrative and Cease-and-Desist Proceedings [pursuant to Section 21C of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Sections 203(e) and (k) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940],

105 dated as of September 29, 2016, between Och-Ziff Capital Management Group LLC, et. al and the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission.
Certificate of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/Rule 15d-14(a) under the Securities
31.1
Exchange Act of 1934.
Certificate of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/Rule 15d-14(a) under the Securities
31.2
Exchange Act of 1934.
31 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: November 2, 2016
OCH-ZIFF CAPITAL MANAGEMENT GROUP LLC
By: /s/ Joel M. Frank

Joel M. Frank
Chief Financial Officer and Executive Managing Director

90

153



